K-12 PROFESSIONAL'S AND HIGHER EDUCATION ADMINISTRATOR'S PERSPECTIVE OF THE SUCCESSFUL TRANSITION OF STUDENTS WITH LEARNING DISABILITIES TO POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION

A Dissertation

Presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Educational Leadership

Sam Houston State University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

by Jennifer Leigh Graves May, 2021

K-12 PROFESSIONAL'S AND HIGHER EDUCATION ADMINISTRATOR'S PERSPECTIVE OF THE SUCCESSFUL TRANSITION OF STUDENTS WITH LEARNING DISABILITIES TO POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION

by

Jennifer Leigh Graves

APPROVED:

Dr. Peggy Holzweiss Committee Chair

Dr. Lory Haas Committee Member

Dr. Melinda Miller Committee Member

Dr. Stacy L. Edmonson Dean, College of Education

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my family, without whom, none of this would have been possible. To my grandmother, Margie Heaton, who prayed for me day in and day out and made this endeavor possible in so many ways. To my dad, Jim Smith, who instilled in me a love for learning and the drive to achieve greatness. To my mom, Vickie Smith, my constant encouragement when I felt defeated and wanted to give up. To my nephews Matthew and Mason Smith, thank you for being my "why". I pray you benefit from the outcomes of this work. Last, but certainly not least, my amazing husband and best friend, Andy Graves. Thank you for your unwavering support of anything I have ever aspired to do. I know this journey brought you countless days and nights spent alone as I read research and wrote this dissertation, but never once did you complain. Despite all the doubts, tears, and bouts of wanting to give up, WE MADE IT! You all were right! There WAS light at the end of the tunnel, and it's beautiful.

ABSTRACT

Graves, Jennifer Leigh, *K-12 professional's and higher education administrator's perspective of the successful transition of students with learning disabilities to post-secondary education*. Doctor of Education (Developmental Education Administration), May, 2021, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas.

Post-secondary education has been deemed the segue to lifelong opportunities for students graduating from high school including heightened career paths, increased occupational earnings and overall life satisfaction. The implications for successful post-secondary education are intensified for students with learning disabilities (SLD). While the numbers of students with disabilities enrolling in higher education continues to rise, the ability of those students to keep pace with that of their non-disabled peers is declining. Effective transition planning may increase student success and diminish the risk of students falling behind, especially students with learning disabilities. The purpose of this study was to understand, through a qualitative phenomenological design, the perceptions of K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators on the successful transition of students with learning disabilities to college. Sources of data included responses from eight participants, selected via purposive and convenience sampling, to open ended questions which were conducted during semi-structured video conferenced interviews.

Three themes emerged from this study: under prepared, college expectations versus high school experiences, and self-advocacy.

KEY WORDS: Students with learning disabilities, Special education, College readiness, Transition, Post-secondary education, Perspectives

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge those who have supported me along this journey. Thank you to my dissertation chair, Dr. Peggy Holzweiss for your patience, expertise, support, and 'tough love' throughout this journey. I will forever be indebted to you for the invaluable gift of time that you invested in me and my research. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Melinda Miller and Dr. Lory Haas. Dr. Miller, thank you for investing in my education early on when I had the privilege of being in your 2nd grade class. Dr. Haas, thank you for mentoring me all those years ago when I was a new teacher just beginning my educational journey. You both helped shape me into the person and educator I am today.

I am grateful to each of my professors who set a standard for academic excellence and demonstrated it each and every semester: Dr. Patrick Saxon, Dr. Nara Martirosyan, Dr. Suzanna Skidmore & Dr. Forrest Lane. Your knowledge, expertise and advice has been influential in this journey.

I would be remiss if I didn't say a special thank you to Ms. Brenda Rusk. Thank you for always working diligently behind the scenes to ensure that classes were registered for, scholarships were distributed, and dissertations were scheduled. Your encouraging chats over a fresh cup of coffee made the time in this program fly by. You are definitely missed.

I would not be where I am today if it weren't for the direction and advisement of Dr. Genevieve Brown. Thank you for gently, yet persistently, encouraging me to pursue my dreams of being an educator. I would not have chosen this path without your guidance.

Thank you to each of my colleagues in Cohort 6. You are an amazing group of talented educators who have pushed me to see education from a multitude of perspectives over the last three years. You all will always hold a special place in my heart.

I am indebted to the K-12 specials education professionals and Higher Education administrators who volunteered their time to share their experiences with me. Thank you for serving students in the manner you do. Your work does not go unnoticed, and you are appreciated more than you will ever know. It is because of you this research project was able to take place. I hope this serves a catalyst to bring about great changes for our students.

I am forever grateful to have been accepted into and given the opportunity to learn and grow in the Developmental Education Administration program. It has forever changed my life not only as an educator, but as a person.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
DEDICATIONiii
ABSTRACTiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
TABLE OF CONTENTSvii
LIST OF TABLESx
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION
Problem Statement
Statement of Purpose
Significance
Research Questions
Theoretical Framework
Definition of Terms
Delimitations
Limitations
Assumptions
Organization of the Study
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE
Literature Selection Method
Educational Opportunities for Students with a Disability
Schlossberg's Transition Theory
History of Disabilities in the U.S

Transition from High School to College
Profiles of Students with Disabilities
Support for Students with Learning Disabilities Success
Barriers to Students with Learning Disabilities Success
Conclusion 59
CHAPTER III: METHOD
Research Question 62
Research Design
The Role of the Researcher64
Context of the Study
Participants67
Data Collection Procedures
Data Analysis
Trustworthiness
Summary77
CHAPTER IV: FINDINGS78
Methods in Context
Epoché79
Participants81
Interview Responses
Emerging Themes
Summary
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS 115

Overview	115
Discussion of the Findings in Relation to the Research Questions	116
Connection to the Literature	118
Connection to the Framework	121
Recommendations for Practice	124
Implications for Future Research	129
Conclusion	131
REFERENCES	134
APPENDIX A	156
APPENDIX B	165
APPENDIX C	166
VITA	169

LIST OF TABLES

Γable	Page
1	IDEA in K-12 versus Section 504 & ADA in Higher Education
2	Percentage of Students with Disabilities by Disability Category
3	Enrollment in Higher Education by Students with Disabilities, by Type of
	Institution
4	Disabled Students who Reported Having a Disability to their Institution, by
	Disability Type Reported
5	Percentage of Degrees Attained by Disability Status and First Institution
	Attended 45
6	Demographic Information of Participants
7	Emerging Themes

CHAPTER I

Introduction

Post-secondary education has been characterized as being "the gateway to the acquisition of a wide variety of marketable skills for high school graduates" (Dutta, Schiro-Geist, & Kundu, 2009, p. 10). Increases in earning potential, prospective career outcomes and overall improved quality of life have been linked to education beyond high school. The implications of a post-secondary education are even more profound for persons with disabilities (Horn & Berktold, 1999). According to a study done by the National Organization on Disability (1998), students with disabilities who graduate from college are 63% more likely to be employed than their peers who do not attend college. However, only 37% of students with a disability end up transitioning to a community college or vocational school as compared to 60% of their non-disabled peers (Blackorby & Wagner, 1996). Comparatively, students with disabilities enroll in 4-year institutions of higher education at a rate of only 27% as compared to 68% of non-disabled students (Wittenburg, Fishman, Golden, & Allen, 2000). While indicating success comes from perusing post-secondary education, these statistics also represent a gap in the transition from high school to post-secondary education for students with disabilities.

The term "disabled person" has been widely and loosely used for many years.

However, in 1990, President George H.W. Bush signed into law the Americans with

Disabilities Act, giving a more definitive definition to the term. According to the ADA,

an individual with a disability is defined as "a person who has a physical or mental

impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities, a person who has a

history or record of such an impairment, or a person who is perceived by others as having

such an impairment" (US Department of Justice, 2009). Providing additional clarification as well as added protection for persons with a disability is Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. This civil rights law goes deeper to define a physical impairment as "any physiological disorder or condition, cosmetic disfigurement, or anatomical loss" and a mental or psychological disorder as "mental retardation, organic brain syndrome, emotional or mental illness, or specific learning disability." Furthermore, this law prohibits discrimination against persons whose "physical or mental disability substantially limits one or more major life activities, such as…learning" (US Department of Education, 2020).

The pursuit to conclusively define "learning disabled" is ongoing. However, the American National Joint Committee on Learning Disabilities and the Learning Disabilities Association of Canada have embraced similar definitions. Both organizations have outlined that students with learning disabilities (SLD) are cognitively able individuals who possess varying levels of difficulty within certain academic areas such as reasoning, listening, speaking, reading, writing and/or mathematics which directly impact their ability to learn (Harrison, 2003). SLD are rapidly becoming one of the largest sectors of the disabled population within higher education (Kerka, 2000). Lauffer (2000) reports that SLD account for almost 32% of disabled post-secondary students.

Research indicates that students with learning disabilities display differing characteristics than those of their non-disabled peers (Abreu-Ellis, Ellis & Hayes, 2009). Students with a learning disability are conveyed as having higher levels of anxiety, taking less ownership for their own learning, and having fewer learning strategies and study skills (Kovack & Wilgosh, 1999). However, SLD are found to be more optimistic of their

college success than their non-disabled counterparts. Some of the most common learning disabilities affecting college students today are Dyslexia, Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), Dyscalculia, Dysgraphia, and Processing Deficits.

While the numbers of SLD enrolling in higher education continues to rise, the ability of those students to keep pace with their non-disabled peers is declining.

Researchers found that within six years of high school graduation, only 29% of SLD had persisted to completion of college as compared to 42% of their non-disabled peers.

Within eight years, the number rose slightly to 34% of learning-disabled students persisting to graduation compared to 51% of those students not identified as having a learning disability (Newman, et al., 2011). These persistence and graduation rates are a result of the difficulties that impede SLD's progress in the traditional higher education setting (Hadley, 2007; Skinner, 2004). Some of the difficulties reported by SLD are feeling overloaded, inability to prioritize tasks, writing intensive assignments, lack of study skills, deficits in their organizational abilities, ability to effectively take notes, and test taking (Hamblet, 2014).

Problem Statement

Multiple researchers examined SLDs in post-secondary education. Troiano,
Liefeld, and Trachtenberg (2010) focused on the relationship between the use of
academic support centers and success in SLD and determined that students who utilized
the assistance of the academic support centers had higher grade point averages and higher
graduation rates. Harrison (2003) conducted a study assessing policies and practices
needed to create a successful learning environment for students with disabilities. In doing
so, it was found that instructors have to reassess their instructional practices to ensure an

environment that fosters learning and prepares all students, including SLD, to meet the growing demands of the workforce. Multiple studies have been conducted that concentrate on factors that contribute to success in SLD (Dowds & Phelan, 2006; Field, Sarver, and Shaw, 2003; Showers & Kinsman, 2017; Skinner, 2004;).

There are very few studies, however, that focus on the perceptions of K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators. There are even less that specifically concentrate on the Office of Disability Services (ODS) and their successful use of transition plans to support SLD in the progression from high school to college. Most studies reveal factors that would aid in supporting students once enrolled in college such as registering with the Student Success Center (Troiano et al., 1999), seeking instructional accommodations (Hadley, 2007), and becoming a self-advocate (Skinner & Lindstrom, 2003). None however seek to define transitioning from the vantage point of K-12 special education professionals and Higher Education administrators on both sides supporting students with disabilities. This is an important lens to consider as a lack of shared ideology or even a lack of knowledge around transition planning between K-12 special education professionals and higher education ODS administrators could be a potential barrier to the successful college transition of students with disabilities. K-12 special education professionals bear the responsibility of facilitating the creation of a transition plan for all special education students. This process is legally mandated to begin when a student turns 16 years of age and is intended to prepare students with disabilities for positive, post high school successes in the areas of education, employment, and independent living (Mazzotti, Test, & Mustian, 2012).

Transition planning for K-12 students with disabilities has never been more important (Landmark & Zhang, 2012). With the increase in enrollment of students with disabilities into postsecondary education, it is even more imperative that all parties involved, including higher education ODS administrators, K-12 special education professionals, families, and students, become increasingly mindful of creating and fostering effective partnerships (Fowler, Getzel & Lombardi, 2018). While higher education ODS administrators do not have a role in developing the transition plan, they do have a role in potentially implementing the accommodations prescribed for a student with disabilities. Mpofu and Wilson (2004) report that students with disabilities exhibit a high drop-out rate during their first post-secondary year due to lack of transitional support services. A study by Dutta et al. (2009) found there to be "a general lack of sensitivity to and awareness of the seriousness of the need for accommodating [post-secondary] students with disabilities" (p. 15).

To ensure success for SLD, it is imperative for K-12 special education professionals to understand the perspective of higher education ODS administrators so students can be adequately prepared to advocate for themselves in the post-secondary environment. It is also necessary for higher education ODS administrators to gain insight into the perspective of the K-12 special education professionals in order to fully understand the importance of providing support and accommodations to students with disabilities at the post-secondary level.

Statement of Purpose

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study is to determine how K-12 special education professionals as well as higher education administrators in the Office of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the transitional success of traditionally aged college SLD from secondary to higher education. The interviews will give all persons an outlet to begin the dialogue of building a common language and shared vision around ways in which all parties can contribute to the successful planning and college transition of students with special learning needs. The method of inquiry will include non-directive video conferenced interviews with K-12 special education professionals who work both directly and indirectly in the transition planning of SLD as well as higher education administrators in the Office of Disability Services who support SLD.

Significance

One of the most pivotal transitions for students with disabilities is the transition from high school to postsecondary education due to the impact of a college education on a person's future (Shaw, Madaus, & Banerjee, 2009). However, this transition is one in which students are the most inadequately prepared for and lack the most support in, which therefore results in a high first-year dropout rate (Dutta et al., 2009). Research indicates that focused, intentional collaboration in preparation for postsecondary education is more apt to bring about successful transition outcomes for students (Test et al., 2009).

Not found in literature is any particular association between K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Office of Disability

Services regarding their perceptions of college transition readiness of the SLD they commonly serve. By determining the perceptions of these two groups, a shared vision and common language could be developed to support a more effective approach to college transition for students with special learning needs. The results of this study could be applied in the K-12 system to build a more robust transition plan and better prepare students, prior to graduation from high school, to navigate college as a student with a learning disability. In addition, this study could be applied at the post-secondary level in making policies as well as helping to inform future practice in the sense of providing better guidance to SLD during their first year and thus seeking to close the college transition gap and, persistence and graduation rates for these students.

It has been shown that a successful transition from K-12 to post-secondary education and use of support services while enrolled will better prepare persons with a disability for the transition from school to work and the establishment of a new life within their community (National Educational Association of Disabled Students, 2012). Even so, only 28.5% of college graduates with a disability were employed in 2018 compared to 75.5% of non-disabled graduates (Bureau of Labor & Statistics, 2019). These statistics can be overcome by implementing strategies from a collaboratively designed K-12 transition plan into the higher education setting and on into the workplace (Allarakhia, 2019). Collaborative transition planning does not just have an implication for disabled students moving from K-12 to post-secondary education; it has lasting effects that continue to manifest long after graduation has occurred.

Research Questions

The following research questions will be used to drive this study:

- 1. How do K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Offices of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the connection between secondary transition planning and higher education student success for students with learning disabilities?
- 2. What do K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Offices of Disability Services at colleges and universities feel would strengthen secondary transition planning to improve postsecondary student success for students with learning disabilities?

Theoretical Framework

Schlossberg's Transition Theory serves as a framework for exploring and understanding the perceptions of transitions (Evans, Forney, Guido, Patton, & Renn, 2010). This theory was established on the necessity to aid adults in understanding transitions and guiding them to the assistance they needed to manage the "ordinary and extraordinary process of living" (Evans, et al., 2010, p. 213). Often classified as an adult development theory, Schlossberg's Transition Theory is also applicable to students transitioning to the collegiate level (Evans et al., 2010). Transition theory is a standard that allows researchers to value the means by which people move from reaction to an event (transition) to implementing the event into their daily routines (adaptation) (Byrd, 2017). Schlossberg categorizes transitions into three types: anticipated, unanticipated, and non-event transitions. If disabled students can better understand the transition they are

experiencing, it will have great effects on how they perceive their current life situation and ultimately how they incorporate it into their daily processes.

Definition of Terms

Accommodations. Tools or methods used to provide students with disabilities equal access to teaching and learning. These processes do not change the learning goal or learning objective of the student.

Admission, Review, & Dismissal (ARD) Committee. A group of K-12 school personnel and the student's parent or guardian, who come together to determine a student's eligibility for special education services and develops an Individualized Education Plan (IEP) for the student.

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). A law enacted in 1990 preventing persons with a disability from being discriminated against in all areas of public life including education.

Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE). An educational right of all students with a disability guaranteed under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) to ensure education programs are tailored to fit the specific need of a child qualifying for special education.

Individualized Education Plan (IEP). An education plan personalized to a student with disabilities that includes their present level of performance, annual goals, specific supports, dates of services, and evaluation procedures.

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). A federal law that ensures all students with a disability are afforded access to free and appropriate education (FAPE) as well as related services.

Modifications. Modifications change the curriculum which alters what a student with a disability is taught or required to do.

Office of Disability Services (ODS). An office on the campus of colleges and universities whose goal is to promote equal access to educational and extra-curricular programs for students with disabilities.

Office of Disability Services (ODS) Personnel. Professional staff in the ODS offices on college and university campuses who are dedicated to serving students with disabilities on their respective campuses.

Post-Secondary. The time period after which a student has completed their high school education.

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. An anti-discrimination civil right of all students with a disability which allows for their needs and educational access to be met at the same level as those students without a disability.

Transition. The move of a student with a disability from high school to the post-secondary realm. Federal law requires planning for this move to begin at age 16.

Transition Plan/Planning. The section of a student's IEP that designates what supports will be provided for students with disabilities to help them reach their post-secondary goals. This process and supports are agreed upon by a student's ARD committee and are required by federal law to begin when the student turns 16 years of age.

Delimitations

The aim of this study is to understand the perceptions of K-12 special education professionals who have worked in the transition planning process of students with learning disabilities as well as higher education administrators in Offices of Disability Services who support SLD in their transition to post-secondary education. K-12 special education professionals in this study must have had direct work in the transition planning process for SLD as either a classroom teacher or a participant on the ARD committee. ARD committee participants could include campus principals, diagnosticians, district level special education personnel, or special education consultants from an education service center. Higher education administrators must have done direct work with a student with learning disabilities as a service professional in the Office of Disability Services at a college or university. All professionals included in this study will be located within East Central Texas and Southeast Texas.

Limitations

The sample population of this study will be limited to the perceptions of K-12 special education professionals to include teachers and ARD committee members in public school systems within East Central and Southeast Texas. ARD committee members can be comprised of campus principals, diagnosticians, district level special education personnel or special education consultants from regional education service centers serving the schools encompassed by this research study. The study will additionally be limited to the perceptions of a sample population of higher education ODS administrators working in the institutions included in this research study within East Central and Southeast Texas. While these professionals will all bring a wealth of

knowledge to the study, by limiting to these individuals, there are certain perspectives that may not be included. Additionally, by limiting the study to these specific regions within Texas, the study has to the potential to not be applicable to other contexts. This study also focuses mainly on SLD which limits understandings of transitions for students with a disability other than a learning disability. Random sampling will not be considered which will present some limits to the study. Personal bias is a constraint in any qualitative study as well as this study. Data collection method will be limited to video interviews which could pose a limitation as participants could not be forthcoming with their responses or could lack in cooperation with the study. Time will be a limitation, especially since member checking will be used which will require participants to be available multiple times for interview and transcript review.

Assumptions

This study will be conducted based on the assumption that all participants have had direct working relationships with SLD in either a K-12 or higher education setting. It will be assumed that participants will be forthcoming and truthful with in their responses.

Organization of the Study

This dissertation will be comprised of five chapters. Chapter I includes the background of the study, statement of the problem, purpose of the study, significance, research questions, theoretical framework, definition of terms, delimitations, limitations, assumptions, and the organization of the study. Chapter II is a literature review of the development of transition planning, laws relating to transition planning and transitioning as well as current research on transition planning for students with disabilities. Chapter III describes the research questions, research design, researcher's role, participants, data

collection procedures, and data analysis. Chapter IV will describe in detail, the results from the interviews conducted. Chapter V will outlay the findings of the research in relation to the research questions, literature, and theoretical framework as well as implications of this study on future research.

CHAPTER II

Review of the Literature

College-bound students with disabilities are rarely prepared for the trials that await them at the postsecondary level (Skinner, 2004). In a study conducted by Murray, Goldstein, Nourse, and Edgar (2000), it was discovered that 80% of students with learning disabilities (SLD) do not graduate within five years of completing high school compared to 56% of their non-disabled peers. SLD now make up the largest percentage of students with an identified disability at 46% (Janiga & Costenbader, 2002). The number of students with a learning disability enrolling in postsecondary education is on the rise (Harrison, 2003). Despite the mandates of federal law, SLD continue to face issues that make learning and the learning environment difficult (Barga, 1996). SLD show difficulty in many areas before and during their postsecondary education including trouble with the increased demands in reading and writing, difficulty with the shift from an engaged learning environment to a direct teach or lecture style environment, and inability to effectively manage their time (Connor, 2013). Research shows that successful people with learning disabilities possess certain sets of success skills, such as selfawareness, perseverance, the ability to set goals, and effective support systems, that lead them to constructive life outcomes (Raskind, Goldberg, Higgins, & Herman, 2002).

This review will synthesize information and research strategies for K-12 and postsecondary students with any identified disability to ensure the student's success. This chapter will address how the literature for this review was identified and the following areas will be more thoroughly discussed: history of disabilities in the US; transition of

disabled student from high school to college; profiles of students with disabilities; support for disabled student success; and barriers to disabled student success.

Literature Selection Method

This review analyzed published research articles reporting on the transition, success and success strategies of students with any identified disability. Articles reviewed were published over a 47-year period (1973-2020). Typically, this time frame would be too extensive; however, with the enactment of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and the mandate for postsecondary institutions to adhere to such, the period selected for review includes the enactment year up to current time.

Articles for this review focused on the following areas: (a) supports for disabled student success in K-12 education, (b) transition of students with disabilities from high school to college, (c) support for disabled student success in higher education, and (d) barriers to disabled student success at all levels of education. The research reviewed encompassed institutions that included public K-12 school systems, four-year public and private universities and two-year colleges.

Most literature regarding the transition of students with disabilities is broad in the sense that it encompasses all disabilities, including learning disabilities, when discussing "students with disabilities." While this study will focus on SLD, much of the literature reviewed was general to the entire population but did include SLD as part of the population.

The research phase began with the Educational Research Information

Clearinghouse (ERIC), Education Source, PsycINFO, PsycARTICLES, and Engine

Orange. Descriptors included disability, transition, student success, and postsecondary

education. Initially, 250+ articles were located, reviewed, and assessed. From articles obtained using this method, 131 were selected for further analysis and included in this review.

Educational Opportunities for Students with a Disability

Approximately 25% of high school students with a disability will enter college upon graduation (Wagner, Newman, Cameto, Garza, & Levine, 2005). Adjusting to college life is difficult for all students; however, this transition is exponentially more demanding for students with disabilities as it brings about the responsibilities of managing their own accommodations in addition to their academic coursework (Getzel & Thoma, 2008). One of the main changes a student with a disability experiences is the manner in which they will receive disability services (Burdge, 2012). Students with a disability must learn the difference between the IDEA services that were put in place and required to be provided for them in high school and the ADA or Section 504 laws they must self-advocate for while in college (Garrison-Wade & Lehmann, 2009).

Studies have been conducted that focused on SLD success at the high school and higher education levels (Field, Sarver & Shaw, 2003; Harris & Robertson, 2001; Showers & Kinsman, 2017), managing the transition from high school to college for students with disabilities (Connor, 2013; Janiga & Costenbader, 2002; Skinner & Lidstrom, 2003), and successful post-secondary learning environments for SLD (Hadley, 2007; Harrison, 2003; Mull, Sitlington & Alper, 2001) while other studies focused on SLD's perceptions of academic success (Dowds & Phelan, 2006; Milsom & Dietz, 2009). However, there is little research that focuses on the perspectives of K-12 faculty or higher education professionals that serve students with a learning disability.

These two perspectives are important to understand as it will allow K-12 educators to better prepare SLD for the transition from high school to college and give higher education professionals the capacity to ease these students into a vastly different learning environment. A knowledge gap exists between K-12 faculty and higher education professionals around the role each other plays in the successful transition of SLD from high school to college. A study of this nature would bring to light these discrepancies and bridge two educational worlds that have historically been on different trajectories intending to accomplish identical goals. Janiga and Costenbader (2002) contended that sharing concerns of the staff at both levels of education (K-12 and higher education) would help to improve the quality of transition by students with disabilities. Bridging the transition gap from the protected, safe secondary environment to the rigorous college setting should be a priority of all transition teams serving disabled students (Janiga & Costenbader, 2002).

This literature review will evaluate the successful transition from secondary to postsecondary of SLD. In doing so, an in-depth analysis of Schlossberg's Transition Theory as it pertains to the transition from secondary to postsecondary education settings will be completed; the history of disabilities in the U.S. and the laws that protect educational opportunities will be reviewed; the transition from high school to higher education and the various supports available will be examined; and the barriers that students with disabilities in both the K-12 and higher education levels will be assessed.

Schlossberg's Transition Theory

Schlossberg's Transition Theory serves as a framework for exploring and understanding the perceptions of transitions (Evans, Forney, Guido, Patton, & Renn, 2010). This theory was established for understanding transitions and guiding people to the assistance they need to manage the "ordinary and extraordinary process of living" (Evans, et al., 2010, p. 213). Often classified as an adult development theory, Schlossberg's Transition Theory is also applicable to students transitioning to the collegiate level (Evans et al., 2010).

Goodman, Schlossberg, and Anderson (2006) define transition as "any event or non-event that results in changed relationships, routines, assumptions, and roles" (p. 33). One's perception can have a key role in Schlossberg's theory, as a transition can only exist if the person experiencing the transition defines it as such (Goodman, et al., 2006). Transitions can have multiple outcomes that are positive, negative, or neutral (Evans, Forney, & Guido, 1998). One may find themselves better off than where they began, worse off, or find no significant difference is evident.

Schlossberg's Transition Theory categorizes transitions into three types: anticipated, unanticipated, and non-event transitions. An anticipated transition, or an event that is predicted to occur, could be graduation from high school for a senior student. An unanticipated transition, or an event that is not predicted or scheduled, could be a car accident involving the same senior student. Non-event transitions are transitions that are expected to occur, but do not (Patton, Renn, Guido, & Quaye, 2016). This could be the senior student expecting to gain acceptance into college only to find out their admission was not granted.

The transitions that occur for high school senior students with disabilities are anticipated transitions. These students, with the guidance of special education faculty and staff, have fulfilled all the requirements to receive their high school diploma, been assisted in filling out applications for their carefully chosen colleges, and have accepted admission to various colleges and universities. Their special education faculty and staff have given them the necessary tools to transition to higher education, and thus begins the journey of navigating their post-secondary education.

The 4 S's of Transition. Known as the 4 S's of Transition, Schlossberg identifies four major sets of factors that influence an individual's ability to cope with transition: situation, self, support, and strategies (Goodman et al., 2006). Resources available to help people cope with transitions may change at any time. This could explain why students facing similar circumstances experience their transitions differently (Goodman et al., 2006). It is essential for faculty and staff to keep this in mind this when working with disabled students.

Situation. Situation encapsulates the broad picture of what is occurring in a transition, why it is happening, and what it means. Schlossberg (1981) identified eight areas that are vital to fully understanding a person's transition. They include: Trigger: what led up to or caused the transition? Timing: Is the transition considered 'on-time' socially and is the transition seen as occurring at a "good" or "bad" time for the individual involved? Control: What does the individual perceive to be within their ability to control? Role Change: Does the individual have to undergo a role change and if so, is it perceived as a "gain" or a "loss"? Duration: How long will the transition take place? Previous experience: How effectively did one cope with a previous transition and how

does that affect the current transition? Concurrent stress: What other sources of anxiety are present? Assessment: What or who is seen as being responsible for the transition and how does this affect the individual experiencing the transition? (Evans et al., 1998).

One of the most prevalent challenges disabled students face is the transition from high school to college. During their high school years, disabled students have a vast support system who regularly advocate for them; while in college, disabled students are expected to self-advocate and request needed supports and accommodations. Early high school transition planning for students with disabilities is most effective in easing the timing, control, and roll change triggers that come from the transition from high school to college (Milsom & Hartley, 2005). Through the Individualized Transition Plan (ITP) put together by a student's ARD committee and support from college and career counselors, SLD can more adequately prepare themselves for the change. Research shows that disabled students who regularly sought counseling prior to their transition from high school to college were more successful and had a more optimistic outlook on college (Ciocco, 2011).

Self. Self refers to the internal abilities a person possesses in order to manage change. Self is divided into two categories (a) personal and demographic characteristics, and (b) psychological resources (Evans et al., 2010).

Personal and demographic characteristics such as socioeconomic status, gender, age, ethnicity, stage of life, and state of health all affect how a person views life. Psychological resources, means that aid in coping, are ego development, life outlook (more specifically optimism and self-efficacy), commitment and values, spirituality, and resiliency (Patton et al., 2016).

With the transition from high school to college comes more independence and the ability to make more choices. This, however, is difficult for students with disabilities who are already struggling to accept the transition from high school to college. Throughout their K-12 education, disabled students have been accustomed to others advocating on their behalf (Coccarelli, 2010). At the higher education level, these students must now advocate for themselves and be able to communicate their needs in order to be successful (Layton & Lock, 2003). Helping disabled students learn self-advocacy skills early in high school can help them manage the change that comes with transitioning to a higher education setting and achieve greater success (Allen, 2010).

Support. Support encompasses the resources which a person in transition can rely and depend upon for assistance. These can be external or social supports that are available. Support during transition is vital and has the ability to influence an individual's ability to adjust to transition. Support can come from a network of friends, family units, intimate relationships, and institutions or communities the individual is involved with. The functions of the support system include affect, affirmation, aid, and providing honest feedback (Evans et al., 2010).

Students with disabilities seek and receive support from multiple individuals including family, friends, high school counselors and teachers. However, many times students do not reach out to their higher education institutions for support for fear of being labeled 'dependent' or experiencing insensitivities due to their disability (Skinner, 1998). By understanding the college supports available to them early on during their high school years, students with disabilities can become familiar with and learn to advocate for timely accommodations. This one step alone can bring about greater college success and

ease the transition stress from high school to college for students with disabilities (Allen, 2010).

Strategies. The last S in The 4 S's of Schlossberg's Transition Theory is strategies. Strategies are the methodologies individuals use to cope with change. The methods fall into three categories: (a) methods that alter the situation, (b) methods that control the meaning of the situation, and (c) methods that help in handling the anxiety that is a result of the situation (Patton et al., 2016). In addition to the methods, there are four coping mechanisms that can be employed by an individual in transition: (a) information seeking, (b) direct action, (c) inhibition of action, or (d) intrapsychic behavior. Those who cope effectively with change will exhibit flexibility and utilize multiple strategies and coping mechanisms during transitions (Evans et al., 2010).

Students with disabilities may have trouble utilizing previously learned coping skills during transitions in life, especially one as dramatic as the move into higher education. They may look to counselors or to their support system for strategies that best fit their transitional needs as a student with a disability (Skinner, 1998). To help make the transition from high school to college easier, it is important for students with disabilities to learn flexibility and have multiple strategies available to them to manage the stress of college transition (Pearlin & Schooler, 1978).

By understanding Schlossberg's Transition theory, we are able to better grasp the difficulties and challenges that students face when transitioning from high school to higher education and, in turn, better direct them to the needed services and supports to aid them in their transition. Because disabled students look to their institutions for guidance on the issues they face around their transition (Hadley, 2011), it is imperative that

educators at both the secondary and higher education levels have an understanding of the history and laws that safeguard students within K-12 and higher education institutions.

History of Disabilities in the U.S.

There are many legal mandates that act as a safeguard for students with disabilities. These mandates vary greatly as K-12 education is compulsory and every student must be served, while higher education is discretionary, and many students will not qualify to receive services (Wolanin & Steele, 2004). These mandates change based upon the phase of a student's life. From birth to high school graduation, or age 21, students fall under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) of 1990 and its subsequent amendments in 1997 and 2004. While students with disabilities are enrolled in public school systems, their educational rights are guaranteed whereby schools must identify students and provide appropriate programs and educational accommodations (Janiga & Costenbader, 2002). K-12 students may also be covered under the Section 504 Rehabilitation Act of 1973 which guarantees students are not denied access to education based solely upon their disability, and they are given equal access to educational opportunities (National Joint Committee on Learning Disabilities, 1999).

When students transition to postsecondary education, they then become safeguarded under Subpart E of Section 504 as well as the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990 (Madaus, 2005). Section 504 was the first regulation applied to higher education for students with disabilities. This mandate required post-secondary institutions to provide access and reasonable accommodations to students with disabilities while safeguarding them from discrimination based upon their disability (Rehabilitation

Act, 1973). This civil rights law was reinforced by the passing of the Americans with Disabilities Act in 1990.

Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act. In 1975, President Gerald Ford signed into law a piece of legislation guaranteeing all students with a disability the right to a free and appropriate public education that would meet their individualized need as a person with a disability, protect their rights as a person with a disability, and protect the students' parental rights (U.S. Department of Education, 2007). Public Law (PL) 94-142 was designed to improve the method in which children with disabilities were identified and educated (U.S. Office of Special Education Programs, 2000). PL 94-192 became known as the Education for All Handicapped Children Act (IDEA, 2004).

In 1990, PL 94-192 went through an amendment process that resulted in a change in name to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act of 1990 or IDEA (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 1990). Furthermore, this revision added mandates that at age 14, a student's Individual Education Plan (IEP) would include an Individual Transition Plan (ITP) to aid high school students in the transition to post-secondary life (University of Kansas, 2020). This law was amended again in 1997 to include access to the general curriculum for all students (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 1997) and reauthorized by Congress in 2004 (Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act, 2004). The latter amendment included the word 'Improvement' and the law would become known as the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (U.S. Office of Special Programs, 2000).

The laws of IDEA apply to students in Kindergarten through graduation from high school. Public schools are required to provide evaluations and services to disabled students during this time. These evaluations and services are documented in a student's IEP and are agreed upon by an IEP team consisting of the student, the parents, school administrators, educators representing general education and special education, and a transition specialist (Kauffman, 2005). The IEP is a formal contract that outlines the services and supports a school is required by law to provide a student with a disability in order for the child to benefit from the educational programming (National Center for Learning Disabilities, 2019). It must be reviewed and updated annually as long as the student remains eligible for special education services.

IDEA recognized the need for decisions regarding transition to be made around the student's interests and preferences (Rowe, 2004). Therefore, the IDEA 2004 stated that,

beginning not later than the first IEP to be in effect when the child is 16 and updated annually thereafter, the IEP must include (1) appropriate measurable postsecondary goals based upon age-appropriate transition assessments related to training, education, employment, and, where appropriate, independent living skills; and (2) the transition services (including courses of study) needed to assist the child in reaching those goals. (IDEA, 2004)

All of these mandates remain intact for students with disabilities. However, once a student graduates, the protections under IDEA are terminated. As students transition into higher education, Section 504 and ADA protections are afforded, however, at a lesser standard than that of IDEA.

Section 504 and Americans with Disabilities Act. In 1973, the first federal civil rights protection for people with a disability was signed into legislation. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 says, "no otherwise qualified handicapped individual in the United States shall solely on the basis of his handicap, be excluded from the participation, be denied the befits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance" (Rehabilitation Act, 1973). Section 504 was based on previous civil rights laws that originally protected women and minorities. Society had placed a longstanding negative stereotype on people with a disability; so much so that even persons with a disability themselves did not realize the hardships they faced in their daily lives was a result of societal prejudice and discrimination (Cone, 1993). Cone (1993) goes on to say that "If I thought about why I couldn't attend a university that was inaccessible, I would have said it was because I couldn't walk, my own personal problem" (p. 1). Prior to the enactment of Section 504, the concern of the effects of a disability rested solely with the person with a disability rather than being a public responsibility. Section 504 radically changed that perception both legally and societally.

Today, Section 504 ensures educational institutions are not discriminating against students due to their disabilities. This law also allows for reasonable accommodations to be provided to disabled students in order to gain equitable access to programs, services, facilities, and activities. The U.S. Department of Education (2007) defines reasonable accommodations as ones in which the school does not have to change the basic structure of the program or succumb to unjustifiable financial exigencies. These accommodations

could include reduced assignments, providing hard copies of class notes, extending time for students to take assessments, equipping computers with speech to text software, or providing students with an alternate place to test.

The addition of Section 504 into the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 accomplished what previous attempts at providing protections for Americans with disabilities could not (Wilcher, 2018). The Rehabilitation Act of 1973 was a turning point in the history of disability rights. Most of the safeguards enacted under Section 504 were eventually expanded to be inclusive of all public service organizations regardless of whether or not they received federal funds by the authorization of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (Mayerson, 1992).

First introduced in 1988 during the 100th congress and prompted by a draft bill organized by the National Council on Disability, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) went through multiple drafts, edits, discussions, and amendments to get to the version in existence today (Mayerson, 1992). The ADA was signed into law in 1990 by President George H.W. Bush and banned the discrimination of people based upon a disability in the areas of employment, public accommodations, public services, transportation and telecommunications (Department of Justice, 2010). The foundational legislation of the ADA protected the rights of citizens regardless of race, color, or creed. Since that time, safeguards have been extended to include women and older Americans. However, with the passage of Section 504 and the Americans with Disabilities Act, this legislation brought about educational protections to individuals with disabilities which had not previously been provided (Gordon & Keiser, 1998).

Today, the ADA ensures that persons who are otherwise qualified for educational opportunities or jobs will not be denied access solely on the basis of an identified disability. What it does not guarantee is that a person with a disability will find success in Stheir educational endeavors or potential job (Gordon & Keiser, 1998). ADA is a civil rights law. Except for accessibility to buildings and modification or accommodations in testing, the ADA provides limited safeguards and minimal assistance to students with disabilities (Wright & Wright, 2017).

Differences between IDEA and Section 504 or ADA. An important facet in the transition from high school to college for a student with a disability is understanding the protections and safeguards that are in place for them. The laws that covered students with disabilities and the provisions afforded to them in K-12 public schools are vastly different compared to those that apply in higher education (Scott, 1991), as shown in Table 1.

Table 1IDEA in K-12 versus Section 504 & ADA in Higher Education

-		
	IDEA (K-12)	Section 504 & ADA (Higher Education)
Who is eligible?	All K-12 students with an identified disability until they graduate from high school or turn 21 (whichever comes first).	All students with a disability, provided they meet admission and enrollment requirement of their institution.
What rights are guaranteed?	Access to free, appropriate public education (FAPE).	Protection from discrimination solely based upon a disability.
How is a disability assessed?	K-12 public school is responsible for identification and evaluation of students.	Students are required to provide documentation of disability to their higher education institution.
How are accommodations made?	K-12 public school develops and follows a student's IEP.	Student must initiate request for accommodations to their institution's disability office.
Who is responsible to provide specialized equipment should it be needed?	K-12 public schools will distribute all necessary devices and aids.	Students are responsible for securing any needed devices or aids.
Is there parental involvement?	Yes, parents are actively involved in the process.	No, students over 18 are considered adults according to the law.
What happens if a school violates a student's rights?	There is an appeal process or legal action may be sought.	There is an appeal process or legal action may be sought.

Note. Adapted from "The Americans with Disabilities Act and Your Rights as a College Student" as presented on studentcaffe in May 2019 and retrieved from http://studentcaffe.com/prepare/students-with-disabilities/ada-your-rights-college-student

Section 504 and the ADA replace the protections of disabled students in K-12 education since IDEA does not apply to students in post-secondary studies. These laws are

primarily anti-discrimination laws rather than explicit education laws that allow for equal access to an education and ensure schools do not discriminate against students based upon their disability (Eckes & Ochoa, 2005).

If students with a disability meet academic or other standards for higher education admission, they must be considered for enrollment (Madaus, 2011), cannot be graded poorly, or treated any differently than that of their non-disabled peers based solely upon their disabling condition (Eckes & Ochoa, 2005). Section 504 also prohibits discrimination in the areas of athletics, exams and assessments, housing, financial aid and counseling (West et al., 1993). Students may, however, seek reasonable accommodations from their institution's Office of Disability Services in order to gain equitable access to their higher education academics and programs (Legal Aid at Work, 2020). This all differs greatly from the guaranteed, legally bound safeguards required for students under IDEA in public K-12 education systems.

Transition from High School to College

One of the most pivotal transitions for students with disabilities is the transition from high school to postsecondary education due to the impact of a college education on a person's future (Shaw, Madaus, & Banerjee, 2009). The number of students with a disability enrolling in postsecondary education is on the rise (Harrison, 2003). In 2003 to 2004, 11.3% of undergraduates reported having a disability (NCES, 2007). Most recently in 2015 to 2016, 19.4% of undergraduate students reported having a disability (NCES, 2019). Although there have been multiple laws put into place to ensure equitable access to a postsecondary education by providing accommodations to students with disabilities,

these students are not graduating at levels commiserate with that of their non-disabled peers (Showers & Kinsman, 2017).

While higher education enrollment for students with disabilities continues to rise, many students do not avail themselves to the disability services institutions provide or even know how to access them (Gil, 2007). One study by Lightner, Kipps-Vaughan, Schulte and Trice (2012) revealed that SLD who did not immediately seek disability services upon their enrollment to a college or university felt there was not sufficient time to go through the process of accessing services. Burdge (2012) cited multiple reasons disabled students did not seek disability services including no longer feeling their disability affected their learning, not wanting to disclose an identified disability, and not having adequate time to pursue services. Peters (2011) suggested students with a learning disability may not have the necessary skills to properly advocate for themselves, thereby impeding their ability to acquire needed services.

One of the main changes a student with a disability experiences is the process by which they receive disability services (Burdge, 2012). Students with a learning disability must understand the difference between the IDEA services they were provided in high school and the ADA or Section 504 laws they must advocate for while in college (Garrison-Wade & Lehmann, 2009). SLD who do not completely grasp the disparities between accommodations at the secondary and postsecondary levels may begin to falter, resulting in substandard academic performance (Adreon & Durocher, 2007; Gil, 2007). Many students with a disability do not realize the need to disclose their disability and request accommodations (Novakovic & Ross, 2015). This is primarily because transition services in K-12 education systems focus on the curriculum students need to move on to

higher education rather than developing the necessary skills required to be successful (Burdge, 2012), such as knowledge of their disability, self-advocacy, and the ability to convey to disability services' staff the accommodations needed to ensure their successful academic performance (Boyd-Bradwell, 2014).

All students advancing from high school to college will face some type of challenge related to their transition. For the first time, students are experiencing an independence from their family which is unlike anything they have ever experienced before (Conley, 2007). When students step into classrooms, the student-teacher relationships, relationships between peers, as well as the expectations for student engagement and class work will all be much different. Outside of the classroom, students are expected to be independent, self-motivated learners who acknowledge when they are struggling and know when and how to seek assistance (National Survey of Student Engagement, 2006). Compound these changes with a learning disability such as attention deficit disorder or dyslexia and a picture develops of the challenges a student with a learning disability may face. On top of acquiring skills to adjust socially and academically, students with a learning disability must understand and be able to adequately communicate about their disability, learn to self-advocate, and learn which accommodations to ask for and ensure they are implemented. Disabled students must learn to use a plethora of strategies, from learning strategies to coping strategies, to be successful in their higher education journey (Conley, 2007).

Successful Transition for all Students. Students who are academically and socially involved early on in their college career experience a smoother transition into college and are more likely to be successful in higher education (Tinto, 1998). Research shows that while the rigor of high school curriculum weighs heavily into the determination of a high school student's successful transition into college (Adelman, 2002), there are many other factors that contribute to this transitional success (Tierney, Corwin, & Colyar, 2005) such as academic advisement, college orientation, and first-year experience courses (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000). Pascarella (2005) found that admission counselors, teachers, and family members also largely contribute to student's successful transition to college. A study by Kim and Schneider (2005) concurs with Pascarella's findings in that parental support helps to facilitate successful transition to college for all students.

Conley (2007) studied 38 high schools that successfully prepared students to transition to college. He focused specifically on competencies that affected a student's performance and he came up with four that students should have to achieve college success including (a) cognitive strategies, (b) content knowledge, (c) self-management skills, and (d) knowledge of postsecondary education. Conley (2007) reported that colleges expect students to be higher level thinkers and have good cognitive skills. He contended that students will find more success if they can,

formulate, investigate, and propose solutions to nonroutine problems; understand and analyze conflicting explanations of phenomena or events; evaluate the credibility and utility of source material and then integrate sources into a paper or project appropriately; think analytically and logically, comparing and contrasting

differing philosophies, methods, and positions to understand an issue or concept; and exercise precision and accuracy as they apply their methods and develop their products. (p. 7)

Conley (2007) built upon this strategy by finding that students who transitioned well and were successful had a good grasp of content knowledge. As such, students were able to take key concepts and organizing principles and make connections to the big ideas being presented. This competency allowed student's learning to be scaffolded and built upon in their postsecondary education thus leading to successful student outcomes.

The third competency Conley (2007) identified was effective self-management skills. In college, students are inundated with information around deadlines and priorities. Students had to know how to organize themselves and schedule their time in order to fulfill all their student responsibilities. This included how to study independently as well as with a group, when to seek assistance from college support services, and even when to drop a course. This competency did not develop quickly, required much practice, and usually came with many rounds of trial and error.

The last competency Conley (2007) revealed was knowledge of postsecondary education. This encompassed choosing an institution, applying for admissions, acquiring financial aid, and then making the transition to college life. All of these required specialized knowledge and skills such as understanding the financial aid system, when to fill out application and documents to meet deadlines, entrance exam timing, and perhaps most important, the ability to recognize the differences between high school and college.

Making the transition from secondary to postsecondary educations is an arduous process. Navigating it successfully requires a solid foundation that must be started earlier

than a student's final year in high school and includes a strong academic background, skills to manage themselves in a more independent setting, a working knowledge of their institution, and a network of support from counselors, teachers, professors, admission officers, academic advisors, friends, family and a student's community (Hoffman, Vargas, & Santos, 2008).

Successful Transition for Students with Learning Disabilities. Secondary to postsecondary transition is difficult for most students, but even more so for those students with a learning disability (Lipka et al., 2020). Couple under preparedness with any type of disability, more specifically a learning disability, and students are at a severe deficit for achieving success in postsecondary education. In order for a student with a learning disability to be successful, it is imperative that strategies are put into place during different phases in the student's life. That is why transition strategies and services are so important. Students, however, cannot stop after their transition. SLD must continue to acquire new strategies to utilize during their enrollment in higher education.

To identify strategies that facilitate the academic success of college students with a learning disability, Skinner (2004) looked at what it takes to be a successful SLD in postsecondary education. Results identified eight major themes that contributed such success. Those strategies were student's knowledge of their disability, evaluations pertaining to their disability, and laws that protects students with disabilities. Then there is the importance of self-advocacy, available accommodations and which ones are appropriate for their needs, structured support systems, self-perseverance, and the importance of goal setting.

In line with Skinner's (2004) study, Dowds and Phelan (2006) identified several common themes as to what students with a learning disability felt contributed to their academic success. Those attributes were competition, curiosity, goal setting, knowledge and use of available resources, perseverance, self-awareness, time management, and support systems. Of all the qualities, participants conveyed self-awareness as the major factor that contributed to their success. Self-awareness allowed students to identify their strengths and weaknesses, and subsequently utilize their strengths to overcome their weaknesses, thus achieving their desired academic outcome.

Three years later, Milsom and Dietz (2009) examined the college transitional success of SLD by generating an all-inclusive list of sources that contributed to such. Some of the highest rated items (i.e., confidence, persistence, self-determination, self-discipline) were not academic skills but personal characteristics that showed a student's drive and determination despite their learning disability. The next set of rated skills were those dealing with self-knowledge and understanding what accommodations were available and pertinent to their individual needs as a student with a learning disability. The third area of the top skills were success skills such as knowledge and willingness to self-advocate. The last of the identified readiness skills were grouped as academic skills. These were attributes such as time-management, study skills, and the knowledge that college is different than high school (Milsom & Dietz, 2009).

In line with Skinner (2004), Dowds and Phelan (2006), and Milsom and Dietz (2009), Conner (2013) identified attributes that SLD felt contributed to their academic success. Connor (2013) concluded that personal attributes such as using student's strengths and managing weaknesses, developing positive academic traits such as focused

study habits, and internal and external motivating forces all contributed to the postsecondary success of SLD.

Showers and Kinsman (2017) tested the relationships between family background and student attributes and how they contributed to the postsecondary success of SLD. The researchers demonstrated that a student's family background had a strong influence on a student's personal attributes, which had a direct correlation to their postsecondary success. Showers and Kinsman (2017) contended that this information is helpful to institutions as they are not able to manipulate factors such as family background or student attributes, but programs can be put in place to better support SLD during their transition from secondary to postsecondary education.

Students with disabilities and their nondisabled peers face similar challenges when transitioning from high school to college (Lipka et al., 2020). However, SLD face additional challenges that come about as a result of having a disability. What most researchers seem to agree upon as a major factor that contributes to the transition success of SLD from high school to college is self-determination (Skinner, 2004; Dowds & Phelan, 2006; Milsom & Dietz, 2009; Conner, 2013; Showers & Kinsman, 2017). Moore and McNaught (2014) define self-determination as "the behavioral characteristics that are made up of decision-making, problem-solving, goal setting and attainment, self-advocacy, self-awareness and self-regulation" (p. 247). While these skills are ones all students should possess to ease the stress of transition from high school to college, it is imperative for SLD to be taught these skills and put them into practice to ensure success during that pivotal time.

Profiles of Students with Disabilities

Types of Disabilities. All students have very different needs as they transition from high school to college. This is no different for students with disabilities. It is even more important to consider a student's type of disability, such as a learning disability, when determining the best individualized accommodations to aid them in their transition and subsequent coursework. This section will address the laws differentiating between supports for K-12 special educations students and higher education disabled students; types of disabilities; graduation rates of student with disabilities; institutional enrollments by students with disabilities; and the educational impact of a student with a disability.

According to the 2000 Census, 50 million Americans, approximately 19% of the population, reported having some type of disability (U.S. Census Bureau, 2000). Of those 19%, approximately 4% reported a visual or auditory impairment; 8% reported a physical condition; 5% reported a learning disability that limited their ability to concentrate, remember or learn; and 3% had a mental or emotional condition (Wolanin & Steele, 2004).

While census data is valuable for reporting disability statistics within the overall general population of the United States, there are limitations of the data when exploring educational opportunities for students with disabilities as disability categories are not consistent between secondary and postsecondary education. For example, in secondary education, a speech impairment/language impairment is a recognized disability category and requires services for students. In postsecondary education, speech impairment is not a recognized disability category and thus would fall under the category of "Other Health

Impairment." Despite the limitations of the census data, the extent to which disabilities exist in the United States can still be accurately depicted.

The IDEA law requires disabled K-12 students under the age of 21 to be served by programs receiving federal funding. These federally supported programs for students with disabilities have seen steady increases in numbers of students served in recent years (Wolanin & Steele, 2004). In 2000, approximately 6 million, or 13% of school students, were served in federally funded programs due to a disability. In 2018, that number climbed to over 7 million or 14% (NCES, 2019). This increase can be attributed to higher incidences of disabilities, more advanced testing and disability identification measures, and greater compliance with federal regulations around services for students with disabilities. Disability categories as well as percentages of students receiving that specific diagnosis are listed in Table 2.

 Table 2

 Percentage of Students with Disabilities by Disability Category

Disability Diagnosis Disability Diagnosis	
Autism	1.5%
Developmental Delay	1%
Emotional Disturbance	1%
Intellectual Disability	1%
Other Health Impairment (asthma, diabetes, heart conditions)	2%
Speech or language impairment	3%
Specific Learning disability (dyslexia, dysgraphia, reading comprehension deficit)	on 5%
Deaf-blindness, hearing impairment, physical impairment, traumatic brainingury, visual impairment	n <1%

Note: Table adapted from National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. (2019). NCES 2019-144: *The condition of education 2019*.

As students transition from K-12 to postsecondary education, IDEA has a requirement that all students with a disability have a transition plan as part of their IEP to help prepare students for higher education, the workforce, or to live independently (IDEA, 2004). While the majority of students with disabilities have been shown to enter the workforce directly after high school, there is still a large number that choose postsecondary education as their next step (USGAO, 2009). In 2000, high school graduates with a disability enrolled in higher education at a lower rate than that of their non-disabled peers at 73% and 84% respectively (Wolanin & Steele, 2004). As noted in Table 3, a report by the National Center for Education Statistics (2018) indicated that in

2013, 64% of high school students served under IDEA enrolled in higher education institutions. This is a 9% decrease from 13 years prior.

Table 3Enrollment in Higher Education by Students with Disabilities, by Type of Institution

Type of institution	Percentage of students enrolled		
4-year institution	18%		
Private or Non-profit 4-year institution	8%		
2-year public or private non-profit institution	30%		
< 2-year public or private non-profit institution	2%		
For profit institution	6%		

While there are many students with disabilities who graduate high school and continue on to college, very few (9% of the disabled student population) reported their disability to their higher education institution (National Postsecondary Student Aid Study, 2000). Of students who did report their disability, those percentages are noted in Table 4 by disability type.

Table 4Disabled Students who Reported Having a Disability to their Institution, by Disability
Type Reported

Disability type reported	Percentage of students reporting disability
Physical Disability	29%
Mental Disability	17%
Other Health Impairment	15%
Hearing Impairment	7%
Attention Deficit Disorder	6%
Visual Impairment	5%
Learning Disability	5%

A person's disability has the potential to significantly impact their daily routines. For persons with a physical disability, this can mean a limited ability to navigate places that those without a disability can freely access. For those with a mental disability, this may make leaving the house a task that requires extra planning and positive self-talk to accomplish. For persons with a learning disability tasks like focusing, reading, writing and remembering become more arduous. While most disabilities seem to have a single limiting factor that is based upon the specific disability, all disabilities, whether physical, mental, or cognitive limit a person's ability to access higher education in the same manner as that of their non-disabled peers.

IDEA (2018) defines a specific learning disability as:

A disorder in one or more of the basic psychological processes involved in understanding or in using language, spoken or written, that may manifest itself in

the imperfect ability to listen, think, speak, read, write, spell, or to do mathematical calculations, including conditions such as perceptual disabilities, brain injury, minimal brain dysfunction, dyslexia, and developmental aphasia.

Since these deficits are primarily evident in the academic world, they have the potential to significantly inhibit a student's academic ability and their performance. Students with a learning disability can have difficulties in reading (Runyan, 1991), written expression (Vogel & Adelman, 1992), and math (Dunn 1995). These difficulties may manifest themselves in a reading comprehension disability, reading fluency disability, dyscalculia (inability to understand math concepts), dyslexia (letter reversals and lack of language comprehension), and dysgraphia (difficulty in forming letters). Other learning disabilities, although their affect is not limited to the academic setting, include Attention Deficit Disorder and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (Jessamy, 2012).

Impact on Education by Disabilities. Students with disabilities continue to seek higher education opportunities and are faced with many challenges. These challenges can be difficult for all students with disabilities but are evident on a greater scale for those students with a learning disability as their disabilities become even more apparent in the academic realm, thus impeding the student's academic capacity and performance (Butler, 2011). Harrison (2004) defines SLD as individuals with disabilities who are intellectually sound individuals yet have varying degrees of academic difficulties in one or more areas of reading, writing, mathematics, listening, speaking, and reasoning. These academic deficits could create struggles with organizational skills, social skills, and formation of perspectives (Harrison, 2004). SLD can also be easily distracted, have subpar time-

management skills, and have difficulty understanding and following directions (Barga, 1996).

SLD also face the challenge of adjusting to college responsibilities. They are moving from high school, where they were more dependent upon others for services regarding their disability, to higher education where they must take an active role in advocating for needed supports (Hadley, 2009). Past research has found that SLD in higher education are not prone to seek out support from their institutions or instructors (Trammell & Hathaway, 2007). Many times, this is because students do not adequately understand their disability and how it affects their academic performance (Brickerhoff, 1996).

If SLD do not adequately adjust to their new setting, many face the risk of dropping out (Adams & Proctor, 2010). Research suggests SLD in higher education graduate at lesser rates than that of their non-disabled peers. In a study conducted by Murray, Goldstein, Nourse, and Edgar (2000), 80% of SLD did not graduate within five years of completing high school compared to 56% of their non-disabled peers. Ten years after graduation, 56% of SLD had not graduated compared to 32% of non-disabled students. Differences also exist between students with and without disabilities in the types of degree that each group attains and where those degree were earned (Table 5).

Table 5Percentage of Degrees Attained by Disability Status and First Institution Attended

	None	Certificate	Associates	Bachelors
Total	48.5	12.3	10.3	28.9
Non-disabled	47.7	12.5	10.0	29.8
Disability	57.7	12.7	14.7	15.0
Public, 4-year				
Non-disabled	39.2	2.6	4.1	54.1
Disability	55.5	8.9	7.6	28.0
Private, 4-year				
Non-disabled	26.2	1.9	2.9	69.1
Disability	33.8	1.0	2.4	62.8
Public, 2-year				
Non-disabled	62.9	10.6	16.0	10.5
Disability	68.1	6.4	21.6	3.9
Other Institutions				
Non-disabled	38.3	49.6	9.8	2.3
Disability	46.4	43.5	9.4	0.7

While this data encompasses students with any type of disability, it should be noted that SLD face additional challenges within the postsecondary education setting that can reduce their rate of degree attainment over a student with a mobility disability or a

speech disability. Of significance is the number of disabled students who attain a bachelor's degree at a private institution. This number could be attributed to smaller professor to student ratios and students being more comfortable in disclosing their disability. Additionally, there tends to be more interactions amongst peers in a smaller campus setting. Numbers of this magnitude can give students with disabilities a confidence boost in knowing that they have equitable opportunities for achieving their degree at a private institution as that of their non-disabled peers.

A research study on the beliefs and attitudes of postsecondary service providers found that 35% believe SLD transitioning from secondary to postsecondary education have been over-accommodated at the secondary level (Wolforth & Harrison, 2008). For SLD who do persist through the transition from high school to college, many still find a need for academic supports and accommodations.

In order to receive accommodations in higher education, SLD must first self-identify as a student with a learning disability with their institution's Office of Disability Services (Hadley, 2007). Most institutions then require students to submit documentation of their learning disability prior to being considered for accommodations or support services. However, many do not specify the requirements for what the documentation must contain, nor the guidelines of what testing must be included for diagnosis of the learning disability (Madaus, Banerjee & Hamblet, 2010). A 2011 report from the National Center for Education Statistics disclosed that 88% of 2- and 4-year colleges in the U.S. had enrolled students with disabilities in 2008-2009. While a multiplicity of disabilities was disclosed by students, the majority of the reported disabilities were learning disabilities This report cited the most widely utilized accommodations in higher

education were note-taking assistance, extended time on exams, or varied assessment formats. The main difference noted between the accommodation's SLD received in high school and their accommodations in higher education was that in college, SLD were required to self-advocate for their accommodations whereas in high school they were provided automatically (NCES, 2011).

A disability, and more specifically a learning disability, has many impacts on a student's postsecondary educational experience. Not only must SLD learn to adjust to new set of rules that comes with their increased independence, they also must learn to navigate the disability services system in order to self-identify as a student with a learning disability. If they find success in these areas and are able to persist through to the classroom, SLD must then self-advocate to receive their approved accommodations from their professors. SLD will face many of the same challenges moving from high school to college as their non-disabled peers. However, SLD face a compounded task due to the complexity of managing higher education and their learning disability simultaneously.

Support for Students with Learning Disabilities Success

The number of students with disabilities enrolling in postsecondary education has increased exponentially over the last three decades (Barnard-Beck, Lechtenbergen & Williams, 2010). With this surge in numbers of students with disabilities entering college, there becomes in increased need for supports and accommodations for these students. These needed supports are dependent upon the individual's unique makeup and characteristics. Research has cited a robust support community as one of the key factors in the success of students with disabilities at the higher education level (Lock & Layton, 2001; Paul, 2000). Literature points to a number of sources that SLD can turn to for

support including their institutions, family, as well as the self-supports they have been learning throughout their life as a student with a learning disability.

Supports Instilled by K-12 Institutions. K-12 systems are bound by the IDEA laws to identify students with potential disabilities, administer assessments to determine eligibility to receive special education services, and provide services up through graduation or the age of 21, whichever comes first (IDEA, 2004). Almost all (98%) of K-12 special education students receive at least one disability-based accommodation and 59% receive at least one modification (Newman & Madaus, 2015). McLaughlin (2012) defines an accommodation as a support that neither changes the content nor reduces the academic achievement expectation for a student with a disability, whereas a modification makes such changes. Accommodations and modifications in the K-12 system are decided upon by an IEP team consisting of a group of educators and the student's parents with minimal involvement by the student (Martin, Portley & Graham, 2010).

Norris and Vasquez (1998) and Smith (1998) categorize accommodations into three broad areas: curricular, pedagogical, and technological. Curricular accommodations group students with disabilities together with the same instructor and provide training to teachers on how to effectively provide instruction to students with a disability in their classrooms such as in K-12 special education inclusion classrooms. Pedagogical accommodations alter how a student with a disability completes their assignments or assessments. For students with a learning disability, these could be accommodations such as use of a learning support center, alternate testing location, extended testing time, oral testing, or note-taking assistance. Technological accommodations are those advances in

technology that students can utilize to access the curriculum or instruction such as books on tape, audio recorders, or magnification devices.

One of the main differences in the supports and accommodations of the K-12 system and postsecondary institutions is the structure of the support system. The supports in the K-12 realm are highly structured due to legal requirements of IDEA and the mandate of having IEPs for students with disabilities (Harris & Robertson, 2001). However, some of the differences are also philosophical in that K-12 special education teachers typically provide an environment that is more nurturing and supportive of students with disabilities than that of the postsecondary realm. Many SLD become accustomed to the freely provided, mandated supports of the K-12 special education system which causes them to experience greater difficulties upon their transition into a more rigorous and less structured postsecondary environment (Coccarelli, 2010). This transition difficulty is a biproduct of the legal requirements of K-12 institutions to identify the need for, decide upon, and provide services to SLD versus the higher education civil rights legislation requiring students to self-advocate for their needed learning accommodations at the postsecondary level.

These studies are important as they provide insight into the required supports K-12 SLD are accustomed to receiving. These studies also help to explain why students who avail themselves to academic supports at the secondary level do not continue to do so in higher education. What these studies fail to address is a solution to help SLD understand the need to self-advocate in order to continue to receive services related to their learning disability at the postsecondary level.

Supports Instilled by Higher Education Institutions. Upon a SLD's high school graduation, their protections under IDEA ends. Higher education institutions are expected to provide SLD equitable opportunities to engage in the higher education experience as their non-disabled peers do (NCES, 2009). However, ensuring that students with disabilities have equal access to programming and are able to fully participate in their higher education experience has been identified as one of the top challenges in the future of postsecondary education and in the transition for these students (National Center on Secondary Education and Transition, 2003). Students with disabilities are required to attain the same admission standards as students without disabilities, as higher education institutions are not required to lower their admission standards; institutions only need to provide accommodations to ensure equitable access for students with disabilities (United States Government Accountability Office, 2010). At the postsecondary level, students with learning disabilities are covered by civil rights legislation under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. This legislation states:

No qualified handicapped student shall, on the basis of handicap, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination under any academic, research, occupational training, housing, health insurance, counseling, financial aid, physical education, athletics, recreation, transportation, other extracurricular, or other postsecondary education aid, benefits, or services to which this subpart applies (§104.43(a)).

Under such legislation colleges must provide academic adjustments or accommodations to student with disabilities to ensure their access both physically and instructionally (Office for Civil Rights, 2007). The legislation goes on the specify that postsecondary

institutions must provide accommodations for student assessments to ensure that students are evaluated based upon their achievement level and not the impact of their disability and "impaired sensory, manual, or speaking skills" (§104.43(c)). This could be provided as a reduced course load or extended testing time for a student with a learning disability (Office of Civil Rights, 2007). Postsecondary institutions must also provide SLD with educational aids or services. This might be in the form of note-taking assistance, recorded texts, ability to use recording devices, speech to text devices, and other adaptive computer technologies (§104.43(d)).

Another provision often provided by a postsecondary institution is the availability of a learning support center. A 2010 study by Troiano, Liefeld, and Trachtenberg was conducted to determine if there was a connection between usage of learning support systems by SLD and college success. More specifically, the study looked at whether two predictors (the amount of time spent in a learning support center and a student's gender) could be a predictor of college graduation. Findings indicated that SLD who consistently attended sessions in a learning support center had higher rates of success (graduation) than those who either did not attend or did not attend regularly. These results support the theory that the degree of learning support is a good predictor of college success (graduation) in students with a learning disability. Moreover, students who attended on a regular basis tended to have higher grade point averages than students who did not attend or attended inconsistently. This study supports the need for supports and accommodations for SLD at the higher education level.

Family Supports. One of the most important factors in a SLD's successful transition from high school to college is family support, especially support of a parent (NCES, 2010; Gardner, Chapman, Donaldson & Jacobson, 1998). The substantial role families fulfill in the lives of college students with disabilities is iterated over and over again in disability studies as students rely on their families for support and services they fail to receive elsewhere (Stodden & Conway, 2002). Parents and family members are an essential part of the vast support system SLD require to succeed in higher education.

Getzel and Thomas (2008) reiterated the imperative role parents played in the lives of students with disabilities "by encouraging, supporting, and understanding them and the issues they face in college" (p. 81). While still underscoring the significant and encouraging role parents played in their student's college life, Dorwick, Anderson, Heyer and Acosta (2005) ascertained that some family members can be too supportive and overbearing which may have a negative impact and discourage students with disabilities from pursuing postsecondary studies. This is understandable as many parents have been involved in supporting their SLD and their educational goals since they entered special education services; yet, no one ever asks parents where they see their student within the next five years (Ankeny, Wilkins & Spain, 2009). This leaves parents devoid of being able to provide the proper level of support as their student transitions from high school to college because plans for doing so were never discussed or implemented.

Parents have an imperative role in the transition process for SLD. They are usually relied upon to maintain a student's past evaluation records, expected to help teach their SLD organizational skills, and give their student opportunities to understand and practice self-reliance and personal advocacy skills. These skills can enrich a student's

progress. Until a SLD gains confidence in their independence, it is usually their parents who they will turn to most for direction and advice (Georgallis, 2015).

Student Self-Supports. In recent years, there has been a move to further develop postsecondary programs and supports for SLD in higher education (Hart, Zimbrich & Parker, 2005). But even before SLD seek out programs and supports from their perspective institution, they must have developed within themselves a set of personal skills to aid their own success. These must be skills such as an understanding of their disability, knowledge of the laws concerning their disability, ability to covey information regarding needed accommodations, and self-advocacy skills (Skinner, 2004).

Adapting to higher education is difficult for all students, but even more so for a student with a learning disability who is not aware how their disability affects them and their educational experience (Milson & Hartley, 2005). In order for SLD to have a good understanding of their disability, they must begin early on in their K-12 setting taking an active role in their transition planning (Connor, 2012; Hughes & Carter, 2011). Bringing awareness of a student's own disability is a necessary and integral part of discussions in IEP meetings (Townsend, 1995). Much effort should be placed on making students aware of their disability and how is impacts their learning (Hildreth, 2013; Pocock et al., 2002). This awareness will not only aid a student with a learning disability in their college life, but it will also assist them past higher education into future employment.

As students are able to understand how their learning disability impacts their educational experience, they must also gain the knowledge around the laws that safeguard them and grant them equitable access to their education (Skinner, 2004). In the K-12 system, it was not necessary for SLD to understand the IDEA laws governing their

education as these pieces of legislation were mandated for all students with disabilities. That is not the case in higher education. SLD at the postsecondary level are subject to being safeguarded by Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, but only if the student has knowledge that they must self-identify as a student with a disability and request accommodations with their institution's Office of Disability Services (Hadley, 2007). Only then does a student have protection and a guarantee of equal access to their education as a student with a learning disability.

Self-advocating requires a behavioral shift on the part of the SLD from an inactive and reliant role to that of an active and more independent one (Hadley, 2009). Self-advocacy skills will allow a SLD to effectively convey to their institution their needed accommodations (Wehmeyer, 1995). Under IDEA, the K-12 institution and a student's parents were the advocates, and it was their responsibility to ensure supports were provided to SLD. In higher education under Section 504 and ADA, the student with a learning disability carries the primary responsibility for advocating for their needed accommodations and education supports (Gordon & Keisler, 2006; Walpole & Chaskes, 2011). Self-advocacy is a difficult shift for many students with a learning disability as most have become familiar with the very structured K-12 special education environment and therefore do not transition well to the less structured and more rigorous higher education setting (Coccarelli, 2010).

Higher education is expected to provide students with disabilities equitable opportunities to a rigorous and engaging postsecondary experience (NCES, 2010). However, intuitions are not required to alter their recruitment efforts or lower their admission standards for students with disabilities (USGAO, 2009). Therefore, it is the

collaborative responsibility of the SLD's K-12 institution to adequately prepare them for transition; the responsibility of the student's postsecondary institution to provide opportunities for accommodations in higher education; the responsibility of the student's family to encourage and support their efforts as they transition to and persist in higher education; and the student's responsibility to be a self-advocate and speak up for their own needs that will aid them in finding success in higher education.

Barriers to Students with Learning Disabilities Success

The National Council on Disability (2004) reported:

...it should come as no surprise that an overwhelming number of [students] with disabilities are under educated, under qualified for today's job market or unemployed, and underprepared for the rigors of postsecondary education (p. 23).

The transition from the secondary to postsecondary setting and the differences between the two systems in terms of supports for SLD creates additional challenges for these students. There are many common barriers that SLD face as they move through the K-12 special education system and into the higher education realm such as negative attitudes from faculty and staff, stereotyping, and inaccessibility (Copfer-Terreberry, 2017). However, there are additional barriers that students face that are unique to the K-12 and postsecondary settings.

Barriers in K-12 Education. Parents of student with disabilities play a key role in ensuring success for SLD in the K-12 special education system. While IDEA safeguards SLD in the K-12 educational environment, research shows that these students and their parents still face hardships when seeking support and services at the primary and secondary levels. One of the main reasons cited is that students with disabilities in

the K-12 education system receive diminished special education services due to lack of funding or inadequate funding (Turnbull & Turnbull, 2000). Many public K-12 school systems battle with managing the rising costs of providing special education supports and services and thus may begin to propose what services they can provide from a financial standpoint versus what they should ethically do to support and enhance a disabled student's educational experience (Leiter & Krauss, 2004).

Another barrier cited in research for SLD in the K-12 system is lack of parent knowledge or ability to sufficiently advocate for their student. Parental advocacy may require parents to develop a stern disposition which is contrary to their daily demeanor and is not always comfortable, but necessary to ensure their student receives services and supports (Allen & Hudd, 1987). Parents, however, may be hesitant to demand the services their student needs for fear of jeopardizing relationships with the school or special education staff (Engel, 1991). Even if parents are able to adapt a more demanding attitude, that may be to no avail if they do not have adequate knowledge of supports that are available to their student or are not aware of their rights to ask for such services (Silverstein, Springer & Russo, 1992). A research study by Plunge and Kratochwill (1995) found that 20% of parents were unaware that K-12 school systems should be providing related services such as counseling and transportation to their student. While many parents are willing to advocate for their student with a learning disability, some are not able as they do not possess the level of knowledge required to confidently demand the necessary services for their student.

Barriers in Higher Education. When a student with learning disabilities transitions from K-12 to higher education, the educational barriers that existed at the secondary level do not go away, they simply change. Higher education brings about a whole new set of challenges for students (Tinto, 1993), but for a student with a learning disability the most common hurdle is their increased responsibility for managing their own needs as a student with a disability (DaDeppo, 2009; Shaw, 2009). Students must move from the more individualized academic support they received in K-12 special education programs to a more generalized, less structured, and less accommodating postsecondary environment (Getzel & Thoma, 2008). Wolforth and Harrison (2008) found that 35% of postsecondary support service providers felt that SLD transitioning into higher education had been over-accommodated at the K-12 level which hindered their ability to self-advocate in the postsecondary environment.

SLD also cited an absence of understanding and empathy from higher education faculty and administrators around their issues and concerns as a barrier to their academic success (Greenbaum et al., 1995). This claim was additionally supported by Janiga and Costenbader (2002) and Wilson et al. (2000). Other researchers found that while higher education facilities have been adequately prepared to accept students with disabilities, the professors within these institutions are not sufficiently prepared to accommodate students with disabilities (Sheppard-Jones, 2002). While Barnard-Brak et al. (2010) partially corroborates students' claim of lack of understand and empathy from faculty, they additionally reported that students' experience in obtaining accommodations were contingent upon the particular faculty member.

Differences in the secondary and postsecondary classrooms and instructional settings also create an additional barrier to success for SLD as they must acquire new academic and social abilities to succeed in higher education (McGuire, 2010). In the secondary setting, SLD automatically received individualized instructional accommodations provided by their classroom teachers (DaDeppo, 2009). In higher education settings, students must not only self-identify with the Office of Disability Services, but they must also then self-advocate with each of their professors to seek out the instructional accommodations they need for each content area (Shaw, 2009). For most SLD, this is a difficult, very foreign, yet necessary process to ensure their academic success (Getzel & Thoma, 2008). Denhart (2008) expressed "the most striking finding of this study was the overwhelming reluctance of [SLD] to request or use accommodations" (p. 493)

Other barriers that SLD often face in the postsecondary setting are challenges around decreased instructional time, lecture style teaching, higher academic expectations, less frequent opportunities to formatively demonstrate mastery of academic content and heightened anxiety around assessments (McGuire, 2010). In the secondary setting, instruction time in the classroom is more narrowly focused to specific topics and teachers spend a greater amount of time covering those topics. In postsecondary education, instruction is broader and typically covers whole units of material in a shorter amount of time. While this is a common shift in higher education, a change like this is often overwhelming for a student with a learning disability. With an adjustment, such as putting the course materials online, the effects of this change on students with a learning

disability can be lessened (McGuire, et al., 2006). This adjustment would allow a student more time with the course material to be able to process it at their own pace.

Another hurdle SLD may encounter is the move from a more differentiated learning environment in high school to a lecture style learning environment in higher education. While this is again an adjustment that most students make with ease, it can be quite difficult for SLD. This difficulty, however, could be remedied by professors presenting lecture information in a more visual format such as PowerPoint or Google Slides, providing visual aids to illustrate important points, and using videos to demonstrate abstract concepts.

There will always be challenges around transitioning from secondary to postsecondary education. For SLD, these challenges become magnified and bring about barriers that are distinct to this group of individuals. However, with minor adjustments to instructional processes and assessment procedures, SLD can experience greater ease in the transition from high to higher education.

Conclusion

Living as a person with a disability is difficult at best, but for a student with a learning disability there are complex layers that become superimposed by adding educational stresses to their daily life. Fortunately, there is legislation that was passed to provide safeguards and help to alleviate the inequities faced by all students with disabilities. For students in the K-12 system, the passage of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act brought about mandates that ordered public schools to seek out, assess, and provide services and supports for students with disabilities. While the protections were not nearly as stringent nor as readily forthcoming for students in higher

education, the passage of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 as well as the Americans with Disabilities Act provided opportunities for accommodations that would give equitable educational opportunities for students with disabilities.

Despite all these mandates of legislation and the supports and services that came about because of them, research still found that the support of a SLD's family plays an important role in their success. As SLD progress through the years in education, naturally the support of their family changes and they must learn to become more self-reliant and advocate for their own educational needs. Regardless of all the mandates and support at the institutional, family and personal level, there will always be barriers that SLD must overcome.

All of the research reviewed in preparation for this study provides the history of, supports for, and barriers facing students with disabilities, more specifically learning disabilities, at the K-12 and the postsecondary levels. What research is void of is studies focusing on the views of the K-12 educators who prepare SLD to transition to postsecondary education as well as the professionals within higher education institutions who support these students as they make the transition. This is important as research indicates a disconnect in the support SLD receive as they transition from secondary and postsecondary education. Studies are needed to determine why this disconnect exists and what can be done by each institution involved to alleviate the gap. This study seeks to identify and understand all of these perspectives and use them to bridge the gap for SLD between secondary and postsecondary education. SLD represent a group of students with invaluable resources and vast skills. It is the responsibility of all stakeholders to take a

vested interest in these students and assist them in tapping into their full potential as a postsecondary student.

CHAPTER III

Method

A strong transition system is one that functions interconnectedly as one unit to support students in their movement from secondary to higher education (Markie-Frost, 2017). Students with disabilities are apt to transition more successfully when there is collaboration between the student, their family, and the educational community when designing an effective transition plan (Dutta et al., 2009). The perceptions of secondary special education personnel as well as that of personnel within the Office of Disability Services (ODS) on effective transition planning are important. These beliefs can have a direct impact on the time spent by secondary educators in the creation of a successful plan to ensure the seamless transition of disabled students, as well as the amount of effort devoted by ODS personnel in the post-secondary environment to implement the plan once presented. The intent of this study was to determine what kind of connection exists between secondary and higher education professionals as relates to the transition readiness of disabled students. The following sections are addressed in this chapter: (a) research questions, (b) research design, (c) the role of the researcher, (d) participants, (e) data collection procedures, and (f) data analysis.

Research Question

The following research questions will be used to guide the study:

1. How do K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Offices of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the connection between secondary transition planning and higher education student success for students with learning disabilities?

2. What do K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Offices of Disability Services at colleges and universities feel would strengthen secondary transition planning to improve post-secondary student success for students with learning disabilities?

Research Design

Qualitative and quantitative research methods vary greatly in terms of data collection and analysis. While quantitative studies focus on testing theories by examining relationships among variables, qualitative studies seek to understand the meaning that individuals or groups of people give to social problems (Creswell, 2014). Since I am seeking perceptions of those involved in providing support in the transition of students with a learning disability, a qualitative study was the most appropriate choice.

In this qualitative study, a phenomenological design was employed. Such design is characterized by real-life experiences as described by participants (Creswell, 2014). Phenomenological studies are centered around a central phenomenon and usually involve the practice of personal interviews (Giorgi, 2009; Moustakas, 1994). Utilizing this design allowed the researcher to acquire first-hand knowledge and experiences from those working directly or indirectly with students with learning disabilities (SLD) that have not been previously documented in the literature.

The phenomenon examined by this study was the transition of SLD from high school to college. This transition has been identified as one of the most crucial shifts for disabled students (Landmark & Zhang, 2012; Shaw, Madaus, & Banerjee, 2009).

Teachers and administrators at both the secondary and higher education levels put effort into the writing and implementation of transition plans for SLD, yet each may not have

an understanding of the part the other plays in the process. My hope is that by discovering the perceptions of those involved in this vital process, improvements can be identified to increase successful transition for SLD.

The Role of the Researcher

Within a qualitative study, the researcher serves as the primary data collector and interpreter (Martella, Nelson, Morgan, & Marchand-Martella, 2013). Moustakas (1994) recounts the work of Husserl and describes the term *Epoche* or *bracketing* as letting go of the beliefs of the researcher, to the greatest extent possible, in order to see the phenomenon in a new light (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Moustakas, 1994). It is imperative to understand and reflect upon my own potential biases, values and experiences at the onset of the study in order to approach it with a clear and open mind.

My perceptions of SLD have been shaped from my personal experiences. I first served as a classroom teacher who taught low performing, middle school and high school disabled students. During this time, I was responsible for ensuring my students received the accommodations and modifications their ARD committee had put in place to guarantee they received an equitable educational experience. I later served as a public-school administrator who was tasked with overseeing the special education and 504 programming at the high school level. One of my main roles was to facilitate the ARD committee process and oversee the development of IEPs, including transition plans, for students at the secondary level. Most recently, I served as the principal of a school within a state correctional facility for incarcerated men who sought to earn their high school equivalency or GED. Most of my students had some type of disability, predominately blindness or deafness, as well as learning disabilities stemming from drug abuse. My job

was to provide professional learning opportunities for their teachers to help them instruct in a manner that was conducive for learning for disabled students.

Currently I serve as a leadership development and school improvement specialist at a regional service center working with low performing schools within the State of Texas. One area of focus is seeing that disabled students are afforded equal opportunities to a public education as that of their non-disabled peers. These experiences have led to me a high level of understanding of the needs of SLD as well as the role of the instructor, administrator, and the institution in meeting the needs of disabled students.

Due to my previous experiences with SLD at the secondary level, I understand that I have preconceived notions that I bring to this study. As someone who spent time preparing students for transition to the post-secondary setting, I developed a sureness that secondary professionals do a thorough job collaborating on the transition of SLD. I also recognize I cultivated an unfounded belief that professionals in higher education do not adequately support SLD. These beliefs were developed by working from only a single vantagepoint, that of the secondary education professional. However, I do not believe that there is any single person or entity that bears all the responsibility. I recognize that both institutions are working to support SLD to the best of their abilities.

The real issue at hand is communication. Secondary school teachers feel they are writing transition plans that are robust and will support a SLD well into their post-secondary journey. Higher education institutions are either not provided transition plans from the student, or if they do receive them, the plan does not contain the needed information to support the student. If there were an open dialogue between secondary

and higher education institutions centered around the expectations of transition plans for SLD, support for these students could increase at all levels.

Although every effort was made to ensure that this study was approached with neutrality, I understand that my knowledge and partiality may have shaped the way data were collected and the manner in which themes emerged. In order to combat this potential bias, a reflexive journal was utilized to record my thoughts and emotional reactions as I begin the interview process.

Context of the Study

This study was comprised of K-12 and higher education systems within a 60-mile radius around a large, public research institution in Southeast Texas. This radius was chosen for multiple reasons. First was my familiarity with and professional interest in the school districts within this geographic area. Second, within this area were multiple universities and community colleges as well as varied types of school districts that fed into those higher education institutions. School districts within this radius encompassed suburban, rural and urban typologies, as designated by the Texas Education Agency. Having multiple typologies allowed for the greatest representation of various perspectives among K-12 special education professionals. Higher education institutions within this area were comprised of two large four-year universities, one large two-year community college and one very large two-year community college (CCIHE, 2017). This diversity also contributed to multiple opportunities for varying perspectives among higher education administrators in the Office of Disability Services.

Participants

One of the most important tasks in qualitative research is identifying the persons to participate in the study (Sargeant, 2012). Qualitative research requires uniform procedures and indiscriminately selected contributors to ensure the least amount of influence by external variables. Qualitative research is deliberate in explaining the depth of an experience rather than being a representation of multiple experiences. Conversely, subject selection in qualitative research must be purposeful, in that, those selected can deliver information that can best apprise the research questions and bring about a deeper understanding of the phenomenon being studied (Creswell, 2009). Participants were selected after determining (a) the sampling strategy, (b) the sample size, (c) the attributes that will meet the criterion set based upon the research questions, and (d) the method for selecting participants.

Sampling Strategy. Purposeful sampling is frequently used in qualitative research as it provides information-rich participants with knowledge related to the phenomenon of interest (Palinkas et al., 2013). Purposive sampling, also called expert sampling, is a non-probabilistic method used to create a small sample assumed to be reflective of the population (Lavrakas, 2008). This is a preferred method for phenomenological studies as it ensures varied perspectives of persons with knowledge of the research topic, it is economical, and it avoids any unnecessary or irrelevant participants from being selected.

Another non-probabilistic sampling strategy used in both quantitative and qualitative research is convenience sampling (Given, 2008). To draw a convenience sample, the researcher collects data from those people or other relevant elements to which

they have the most convenient access to (Etikan, Musa & Alkassim, 2016). This is commonly used as it is uncomplicated, economical, and incredibly prompt. As a result of the professional connections I have made working in the field of education, convenience sampling was additionally employed in this study.

Possible participants were identified utilizing multiple methods. Potential contributors were first identified utilizing personal contacts I had developed working in surrounding K-12 school districts in the course of my educational career. If a more diverse pool were required, a plan was put in place to seek other contacts by requesting a list of K-12 special education directors in surrounding public-school districts from the local education service center. Due to response numbers being adequate, this plan did not have to be implemented. Higher education ODS administrators were identified using contacts of trusted colleagues as well as the ODS websites of the four higher education institutions to obtain contact information for the ODS director of the institutions this study encompassed. Following identification, emails were sent to those identified for participation in the study. The email explained the purpose of the study, the extent of involvement required, and request for their participation. Those who were interested in participating in the study were asked to respond back to the email to indicate their willingness.

All participants for this study were selected using purposeful sampling to ensure a well-rounded sample with opportunities for multiple perspectives. Maxwell (2013) describes purposeful sampling as the methodical selection of particular locations, people, or activities that lead to information that is relevant to the research goals. Utilizing the suggestion of Creswell (2014), potential contributors were identified that allowed for

representation of multiple perspectives. Potential K-12 candidates were selected as to include personnel from both small and large schools, rural, urban, and suburban schools, and schools that receive heavy financial support as well as those who are majority self-funded. Typologies were confirmed by the database of the Texas Education Agency. Potential higher education candidates were from two-year public community colleges and four-year public universities that serve as feeder institutions from the K-12 public school systems included in this study on the basis of geographic proximity.

From those persons who indicated an interest in participating in the study, their institution's geographic location, typology, and demographic information were researched and noted. Those institutions were then sorted using the criteria and participants were chosen using the sorted lists to ensure a well-represented purposive sample.

Individuals who volunteered for the study were then contacted and ensured of their confidential participation, sent a consent form to review, and a video conferencing interview was arranged. Qualitative researchers use interviews to uncover the means by which participants organize their experiences and make sense of their world (Hatch, 2002).

Sample Size. In qualitative research, adequate numbers of appropriately selected participants are critical (Morse, 1991). Researchers, however, are conflicted on the number of participants to be included in a phenomenological study. Creswell (2009) suggests a minimum of five participants while Alder and Alder (1987) suggest anywhere from 12 to 60 with the average participant number being 30. Charmaz (2006) advises researchers to understand what excellence looks like in their field of study and conduct as

many interviews as it takes to achieve it. An adequate or sufficient sample size is reached when interviews no longer identify new trends, thus data saturation has occurred (Sargeant, 2012).

For this study, K-12 special education personnel and higher education ODS administrators within a 60-mile radius of the researcher's geographic location constituted a pool of over 50 participants. These potential participant names, job titles, and email addresses came from personal network contacts, the websites of the four higher education institutions, and personal network contacts of trusted colleagues within higher education. In accordance with Creswell's (2013) guidance to choose participants who will give multiple perspectives, 28 potential participants were contacted via email to solicit interest. Of those, 10 responded with an interest in participating in the study. Eight interested participants were then selected via purposive and convenience sampling methods to ensure a diverse and well-rounded sample with multiple perspectives (Creswell, 2013). Five participants were K-12 special education professionals and three participants were administrators from Offices of Disability Services within higher education institutions. These numbers were chosen based upon research by Creswell (1998) which states five to twenty-five participants is an acceptable sample size as well as the research of Morse (1994) who suggests a minimum participant size of six. These numbers also allowed for inclusion of multiple K-12 school systems of varying sizes that feed into the four higher education institutions within a 60-mile radius of the researcher. The goal was to interview enough participants such that "new categories, themes, or explanations stop emerging from the data" (Marshall, 1996, p. 523). This goal was met with the interviews of the eight selected participants.

Criteria. There was a minimum criterion that participants needed to satisfy (Palinkas, et al., 2015). Contributors were personal contacts, network contacts, or contacts of trusted colleagues and organizations. K-12 special education professionals have worked directly with K-12 students as an ARD committee member, special education teacher or school administrator, or indirectly as a district level special education director or education service center personnel who supports the transition of students with disabilities within the 60-mile study radius that encompasses East Central and Southeast Texas. Higher education personnel all have a direct professional working relationship with disabled students as a staff member in the ODS within a two-year community college or four-year university in the 60-mile study radius of East Central or Southeast Texas. These criteria were necessary in order to gain the knowledge required to adequately address the phenomenon and be able to draw valid conclusions.

Data Collection Procedures

Data collection in this phenomenological study was conducted via individual interviews with selected contributors (Creswell, 2013; Moustakas, 1994). I, the researcher, served as the primary instrument through which data was collected and analyzed. Due to current world health concerns and protocols surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, one-on-one video conference interviews were utilized for this study. Semi-structured, audio recorded interviews were conducted via the Zoom platform. Semi-structured interviews were the chosen method because although I approached the interviews with pre-scripted guiding questions, this method allowed for latitude to "follow the lead of the informant and...probe into areas that arise during interview interactions" (Hatch, 2002, p. 94).

Interviews were scheduled at a time that was convenient for the researcher and the participant and lasted less than 60 minutes. This not only allowed time for the interview but also for time prior to the interview to establish a rapport and become acquainted, which is an important factor in qualitative research (Hatch, 2002). Because of the nature of the video conferencing platform, I as the researcher, as well as the participants were able to choose a private and convenient location for the interview which provided a level of comfort for the researcher and the participants (Hatch, 2002). Interviews were audio recorded via Zoom's recording feature to capture the participant's words as well as their emotions through voice inflections and gradations (Patton, 2002).

As a novice researcher, I utilized Creswell's (2014) interview protocol form (see Appendix). The protocol was used for asking questions and recording responses.

Creswell (2014) recommends the researcher actively take notes in the event there is a malfunction with recording equipment. The use of the protocol form provided space for this to occur. Also included in the protocol was a standardized procedure to ensure consistency between interviews and a final statement reminding me to acknowledge participants' time and thank them for their participation (Creswell, 2014).

I utilized an amended version of Creswell's (2014) observation protocol to help organize participant information (see Appendix). This form included the date and time of the interview, descriptive traits of the participant, demographic information, and reflective notes which Creswell (2014) described as "the researcher's personal thoughts, such as speculations, feelings, problems, ideas, hunches, impressions, and prejudices" (p. 194).

Prior to the conclusion of the interview, participants were informed of the member checking process and notified of follow-up communication. This follow-up communication was conducted via email to account for the busy schedules of all participants and occurred within one week of the initial interview. This communication reviewed initial themes, sought clarification on any items that were unclear from the interview and asked any follow-up questions that may have been necessary to fully answer the research questions.

Utilizing this interview process allowed me to capture the knowledge and experiences of the K-12 special education faculty and higher education ODS administrators. Through it, I am able to better understand, from their perspective, the role they play and their responsibility in the transition process and making connections to successful outcomes for disabled students.

Data Analysis

Data analysis is a means to visualize patterns, themes and relationships; cultivate explanations; and create understandings (Hatch, 2002). Hatch further explains that "data analysis is a systematic search for meaning. It is a way to process qualitative data so that what has been learned can be communicated to others" (p. 148). Qualitative data analysis is complex in that it not only involves the researcher understanding the world but also making sense of how they fit into that world and therefore discovering things about themselves as they uncover new truths about their research (Hays & Singh, 2012).

As suggested by Creswell (2014), data analysis for this study ran concurrently with data collection and the write-up of findings. Because qualitative data is complex, not all data was relevant and able to be used in the study. Guest, MacQueen and Namey

(2012) recommend the researcher focus in on key parts of the data and deprioritize other parts. This process was utilized in this study in order to aggregate data into a small number of themes (Creswell, 2014).

After each interview was completed, I organized and prepared the data for analysis. This process involved utilizing the Zoom platform to transcribe the audio recorded interview as well as typing up any field notes taken during the interview. When the transcription was complete, the document was uploaded to the researcher's personal password protected computer and stored in a password protected file. The audio files were listened to and compared against the transcription and editing took place to ensure 100% transcription accuracy. The whole transcription document was then read and open coding took place, in which notes were made in regard to any bits of information that seemed relevant to answering the research questions (Merriam, 2009). This process allowed me to reflect on the overall meaning of the information, internalize the data, begin to develop a coding system, and start coding the data.

Coding involves meaningfully analyzing the data (Miles & Huberman, 1994) by connecting the pieces and writing a word or words that represent a category (Rossman & Rallis, 2012). For this particular study, I employed a qualitative data analysis software, Dedoose, to aid in the coding process. Using this software, codes were assigned and used to generate categories or themes for analysis (Creswell, 2014). This process was then repeated for all interviews conducted.

At the culmination of the data collection and analysis, I made an interpretation of the qualitative results using the overarching question of 'what were the lessons learned from the study?' (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The results of the data analysis and the three

themes that emerged are presented in Chapter IV. The subsequent description of the phenomenon being studied is reviewed in the findings section of Chapter V.

Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness of a study refers to the amount of confidence regarding the data, interpretation, and methods used to ensure the quality and rigor of the study (Polit & Beck, 2014). In every qualitative study, protocols and procedures should be established which deem the study worthy of consideration by readers (Amankwaa, 2016). Lincoln and Guba (1985) established criteria for trustworthiness that are accepted by many qualitative researchers. These include *credibility*, *dependability*, *confirmability*, and *transferability*. Nine years later they added *authenticity* to the criteria (Lincoln & Guba, 1994). The following techniques were used to increase the trustworthiness of this qualitative study.

Credibility. Credibility of the study, or the certainty of the truth of the study and more specifically the findings of the study, is the most important criterion (Polit & Beck, 2014). This is synonymous with internal validity in quantitative research. To enhance the credibility of the study, I collected data from different participants through individual interviews. I also used member checking in that I provided copies of each participant's transcript to them to ensure their words and thoughts were accurately captured and to check for anything they felt may be void (Connelly, 2016). Additionally, participants were given a copy of the major findings and themes that emerged from this study and afforded an opportunity to provide comments on them (Creswell, 2014).

To increase the validity and enhance the accuracy of this study, I engaged with a peer debriefer. Creswell (2014) defines this a "locating a person who reviews and asks

questions about the qualitative study so that the account will resonate with people other than the researcher" (p. 202). This process involved meeting with the Executive Director of the Garrett Center for Transition at Sam Houston State University, Dr. Vickie Mitchell. The Garrett Center is a renowned center on the transition of students with learning disabilities. Dr. Mitchell and I met to review the themes that emerged from this study and compare them with her professional experiences as well as findings of studies conducted by the Garrett Center.

Dr. Mitchell and I met via Zoom. Prior to our meeting, Dr. Mitchell was provided with a copy of the findings of the study. During our conversation, I reviewed the findings of this study and inquired about any similarities between the outcomes and the work of the Garrett Center for Transition. Dr. Mitchell affirmed that the themes that emerged from this study were accurate and were depicted frequently in the work she engages in with both transition professionals and students with disabilities. When presented with the recommendations for practice and implications for future research, Dr. Mitchell concurred with all recommendations presented. Avenues for improvement were discussed at both the K-12 and higher education level as well as the implications for SLDs if the recommendations were implemented with fidelity.

Dependability. Dependability refers to the stability of the data over the course of the study (Polit & Beck, 2014). This is similar to reliability in quantitative research.

Dependability of this study was enhanced by the use of a reflexive journal. This journal consisted of my notes of all activities that happened during this study (Lincoln & Guba, 1985) including decisions about all aspects of the study such as whom to interview (Connelly, 2016), and notes during the data coding process (Saldaña, 2015).

Confirmability. Confirmability is the neutrality of the study and to what extent the findings of the study are consistent (Connelly, 2016). The purpose of confirmability is to prevent researcher bias during the course of the study. To increase the confirmability of the study, I conducted debriefing sessions with trusted colleagues who are experts in the field to clarify my biases and maintain awareness of such on my research. I also shared my reflexive journal at several point throughout the data collection and data analysis to increase the confirmability of my study (Merriam, 1998).

Transferability. Transferability is the extent to which the study findings are useful to readers in other settings or contexts (Polit & Beck, 2014). Transferability of this study was dependent on my ability to richly describe how K-12 special education faculty and higher education administrators feel they contribute to the success of student with disabilities in transition from high school to college. Transferability was also dependent upon my transparency about the analysis and trustworthiness (Amankwaa, 2016).

Summary

In summary, this chapter describes the research methods that were employed to conduct this study. A qualitative phenomenological study design was used to explore the experiences of K-12 special education faculty and higher education administrator's experiences as they pertain to assisting students with disabilities in successfully transitioning from high school to college. Data was collected through individual audio recorded interviews and member checked for accuracy. Multiple rounds of coding were conducted and following coding, analyzation of codes identified themes. Findings that emerged from the data analysis of this qualitative phenomenological study are discussed in Chapter IV.

CHAPTER IV

Findings

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to determine how K-12 special education professionals as well as higher education administrators in the Office of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the transitional success of traditionally aged college students with learning disabilities (SLD) from secondary to higher education. The interviews provided all persons an outlet to begin the dialogue of building a common language and shared vision around ways in which all parties can contribute to the successful planning and college transition of students with special learning needs.

The following research questions were used to guide this study: (1) How do K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Offices of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the connection between secondary transition planning and higher education student success for students with learning disabilities? (2) What do K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Offices of Disability Services at colleges and universities feel would strengthen secondary transition planning to improve post-secondary student success for students with learning disabilities?

Methods in Context

My intentions for this study were to interview eight to ten participants, four to five from K-12 education and four to five from higher education, selected via purposive and convenience sampling. Through my own personal contacts, contacts from some trusted colleagues, and school websites, I invited more than 30 individuals to participate

in the study. Some individuals responded immediately while other participants required multiple emails before a response was received. For one potential participant, a voicemail message was left requesting participation. Email communications with this participant had been filtered to her spam email folder and were not reaching her. After receiving the emails, she agreed to participate.

The time of year interviews were conducted brought about some challenges as well. IRB approval was received in mid-December which meant both K-12 and higher education institutions would be releasing to Christmas break within the week. K-12 participants proved to be easier to acquire, more than likely related to the professional connections I had with the participants from my career in K-12 education. I was able to obtain 5 participants from K-12 systems. Higher education participants were more of a challenge. After initial emails were sent, 3 follow-up emails were sent requesting participation. I was then able to acquire one participant. At one point in the process, I even obtained more emails of higher education administrators who would have been right outside the geographic radius of this study. Luckily, those individuals were not needed for the study. I was finally able to acquire 3 higher education administrators who agreed to participate in this study. These individuals rounded out my eight desired participants for my study.

Epoché

In order to alleviate the biases I brought to this study as a result of my experiences related to the research topic, a reflexive journal was kept during the data collection process. Creswell and Poth (2018) and Moustakas (1994) both encourage researchers to engage in this process to better understand the biases they bring to their research. This

journal helped to ensure my opinions and feelings based upon my own experiences did not skew the results of the data. That proved to be more of a challenge than originally expected as I have vast experiences working with SLDs. The journal did prove to be a valuable tool in which I could record my observations, feelings, and reactions to participants' responses.

The use of my journal allowed me to identify and account for my opinions regarding the methods in which SLD are prepared for transition to higher education. This was challenging because as a former high school administrator, I had my own methods in which my team prepared SLDs for transition. I noted ways in which I disagreed with the methods being implemented by the participants as well as my opinion on how I would have done it differently if I were still in that position. Writing this in my journal allowed me to see my biases and keep them in the forefront of my mind as I focused on the responses of the participants.

Because participants were discussing a world that I had previously lived, there were many times when statements were made, or experiences were shared that resonated with me and I could relate to and agree with. Writing about this made me realize if I interjected any of these sentiments in an interview, I could potentially influence a participant's response. Realizing this early on allowed me to choose my follow-up questions to participant's responses carefully as not to validate or disclaim their opinion or experience.

To increase the confirmability of the study, I conducted two debriefing sessions throughout the data collection and analysis process with trusted colleagues who are experts in the field to discuss my biases and maintain awareness of such on my research.

During these sessions, my colleagues listened and provided feedback regarding my self-identified biases. These sessions were beneficial as they gave me an opportunity to verbalize the opinions and emotions that I had written about. By doing such, there were instances that other underlying viewpoints surfaced that I was then able to document in my reflexive journal.

Participants

To understand K-12 special education professionals' and higher education administrators' perspectives of the successful transition of SLD from high school to college, I conducted semi-structured video conferenced interviews. Each participant was asked the same six questions with minor variances between the K-12 and higher education versions to account for the educational differences. When needed, additional questions were asked to further explore areas that required a deeper understanding. Interviews were audio recorded and transcribed using the video conferencing platform Zoom. Transcription verification began immediately after the first interview. Participant confidentiality was preserved by assigning all participants and their respective organizations pseudonyms.

A total of eight participant were interviewed. This number is consistent with Creswell's (1998) research which states five to twenty-five participants is an acceptable sample size as well as the research of Morse (1994), who suggests a minimum participant size of six. Of the eight participants, five represented the K-12 professional's perspective and three represented the higher education administrator's perspective. All eight participants were female. A snapshot of the demographic information about the participants in this study is represented in Table 6. Gender, institution typology,

institution enrollment, number of years in their current position and highest level of education are represented.

 Table 6

 Demographic Information of Participants

Participant	Institution typology	Number of years in current position	Highest level of education
Kelly	Suburban ISD	11	Master's degree
Stacy	Rural Distant ISD	11	Master's degree
Kristy	Non-metropolitan ISD	11	Master's degree
Cassie	Rural remote ISD	8	Doctoral Student
Leslie	K-12 Education Support	4	Master's degree
Tiffany	Large 4-year university	12	Master's degree
Sarah	Very large 2-year college	4	Master's degree
Ashley	Very large 2-year college	.5	Master's degree

Kelly is an Executive Director for Special Education and 504 services at a suburban school district with almost 9,000 students. A quarter (26%) of the students served in this district are economically disadvantaged and 8% receive special education services. Kelly has over 40 years of experience in special education ranging from a self-contained special education teacher, speech therapist, educational diagnostician, and most recently Executive Director. She has been directly involved with the transition of SLD from high school to college at multiple districts within the locale of this study.

Stacy is a third year Special Services Director that oversees special education and 504 services for her district of almost 2,000 students. This rural, distant district serves a

population of students who are 71% economically disadvantaged and 10% receiving special education services. Stacy has over eleven years' experience as a special services director as well as experience working as a Licensed Specialist in School Psychology (LSSP). In all her capacities, she has worked directly with SLD transitioning from high school to college.

Kristy has served as a campus principal for the last 11 years in a non-metropolitan, rural fringe district of more than 1,000 students. Within her district, 50% of students are economically disadvantaged and 8.4% are served in special education services. With over 30 years of public education experience, Kristy served as a classroom teacher and assistant principal where she had direct work with students as they planned for their transition from high school to college as a SLD.

Cassie has served for the last 8 years as a district level administrator in a rural remote school district with an enrollment of more than 600 students. Of those students, 49% are economically disadvantaged and 8.5% are served in special education services. Prior to her position at the district level, Cassie served as a high school diagnostician facilitating ARD meetings for SLD and facilitating transition services for students going on to college.

Leslie is a Special Education consultant at an educational service center serving schools in the geographic area of this study for the last four years. For 16 years prior to that, Leslie was a special education teacher, a special services coordinator at a charter school, and a counselor in a correctional institution serving adults. She is well versed in the transition of SLD from high school to college and works now to help support special education personnel as they facilitate transition services for these students.

Tiffany is an Assistant Director for Disability Resources at a large four-year university with an enrollment over 20,000 students. She has served in the disability resources office for 8 years but comes from a background in higher education administration, having worked in both residence life and student affairs. She currently works with and supports students with disabilities at her institution.

Sarah is the Director of Disability Services and Mental Health Counseling at a large two-year college with an enrollment over 10,000. She has held her current position for 3.5 years but been with her institution for 8.5 years serving in different higher education administration capacities. In addition to working with students with disabilities at her higher education institution, Sarah also holds a certificate as a Licensed Professional Counselor (LPC).

Ashley is the Director of Accessibility Services and Resources at a large two-year college system with an enrollment of over 150,000 students spread across seven campuses in the study's geographic location. Ashley has a vast background in disability services including work with both visual and auditory impaired persons and serving as a case manager working directly with students with disabilities at one of the campuses of her current institution.

Interview Responses

All interviews were conducted in December 2020 and January 2021. I met with each participant remotely via the video conferencing platform Zoom due to constraints stemming from the COVID-19 pandemic. Thirty potential participants were contacted via email. Ten responses were received, and eight participants met the criteria and were

selected for participation in the study. Findings are presented from the K-12 perspective followed by the higher education perspective.

Interview Question 1. I asked each participant what constituted successful transition from high school to college for students with learning disabilities.

K-12 Perspective. Kelly voiced that a student's ability to advocate for themselves and use their accommodations to effectively learn would constitute transitional success for a SLD. Kelly explained, "students need to tell us what they need to learn best because by the time they reach high school and into college, most of them can do that. And when they tell us, we need to listen." She mentioned that students sometimes fail in the area of self-advocacy because of the stigma of being a SLD. Kelly expressed "some students request their accommodations and others don't simply because they're embarrassed."

Stacy discussed transitional success as SLDs being knowledgeable of and able to obtain the supports that are available to them at the college level. She additionally went on to describe a student's ability to advocate for themselves at the college level as another aspect of successful transition. Stacy said, "success for students with learning disabilities means going to college and making sure that they understand about how colleges have the Office of Disabilities, and how to advocate with them for whatever it is they need."

Kristy coaches high school students on the qualities that lead to a successful transition to higher education. To her, a top quality of success is the ability of SLDs to effectively communicate in order to get their needs met both academically and socially. She maintained "socially, students need to be able to make new friendships. They have to be able to communicate with not only people their own age but professors as well."

SLDs' level of independence was another factor she cited that contributes to transitional success. Kristy conveyed "students need to be able to manage being independent like how to go to the doctor or where to get their car fixed. Not that they're paying for it, but they know how to get these services if they need them. I call that being independent."

Cassie spent many years preparing students for the transition from high school to college and says, "the student needs to understand how their disability impacts their learning, whether it's a processing issues, short or long-term retrieval or whatever and how they've learned to compensate for that." She explained that students are better set up for success if they are well versed in their disability and can articulate the accommodations they need to achieve their goal.

Leslie compared different perspectives of her time as a special education professional. From her experience, she mentioned SLDs have to "understand the difference in expectations. They need to understand that it's not the same in college as it is in K-12 education. It's not an entitlement." She also cited self-advocacy skills as a contributing factor to the success of SLDs when transitioning from high school to college. Leslie commented "students have to self-advocate. They have to understand the things they need and express that to the disability office. But they have to self-advocate."

Higher Education Perspective. Tiffany works daily with SLDs at the higher education level and reports self-awareness, advocacy and independence as the major predictors to transitional success of SLDs. She discussed,

"Students need to be self-aware of what their needs are and be willing and able to communicate that on their own. Those who are more independent know what they need and are able to communicate that efficiently without relying on their parent."

She expressed that while there are always extremes, in the recent past she has seen "more and more students who are much more self-aware and parents who are better preparing and coaching them for success."

Sarah has worked in many facets of higher education supporting SLDs and has seen students who are very well prepared to transition, those who are not, and lots of students in between. She describes successful transition for SLDs as being less dependent on their parents as well as being able to effectively communicate with those at the collegiate level. She asserted,

"Parents have typically done a lot for students in their K-12 years and when they get to college that stops due to FERPA. So, when I see students with learning disabilities communicating effectively and being involved in this process themselves, I consider that a success."

Communication cannot stop with the disability office, however. Sarah says students must also learn to communicate with their professors as well because "it's very different than communicating with a teacher in K through 12th grade."

Ashley conveyed her idea of a successful transition as one in which "students don't feel like they're having to climb over a bunch of additional hurdles and barriers that their peers in college are not also experiencing." She mentioned that she felt all students new to a college campus will face challenges, but in her role, she wants to ensure that SLDs "have a smooth transition."

Summary. Overall, participants agree that a SLD has been "successful" in their transition from secondary to post-secondary if they had knowledge of their disability and could effectively communicate that to be able to self-advocate for their own needs. Both

parties also concurred that SLDs need to have well-developed communication skills to be able to communicate not only with peers but also those people in positions of authority. Additionally, mentioned at both levels were life skills necessary to be a successful adult. Those were skills such as time management, organizational skills, and money management. Literature reviewed supports the participants' opinions that SLDs' knowledge and ability to self-advocate are necessary skills to find success in higher education (Coccarelli, 2010; Skinner, 2004; Wehmeyer, 1995).

Several K-12 participants pointed out that if a SLD could effectively utilize their approved accommodations, that constituted a successful transition. Others noted that having knowledge of and utilizing available resources for SLDs was a marked success. Others pointed out that having a working knowledge of how college processes would differ from what SLD's experienced in high school would set them up for a successful transition. One higher education participant touted success as being able to communicate with their professor and being less dependence on others and being more self-reliant would be a mark of successful transition.

Interview Question 2. I asked each participant how the transition differs for students with a learning disability versus a student with a physical disability or an emotional disability.

K-12 Perspective. Kelly discussed that for SLDs, their disability is often unseen whereas with a student with a physical disability, you can look at them and know they will face some challenges. She expressed concern that sometimes SLDs are mistakenly characterized as lazy or as not wanting to do something when in fact their disability presents an unseen struggle. Kelly said "I think the challenge is the mindset from the

educator's perspective. Just because you can't see a student's disability doesn't mean one doesn't exist."

Stacy took more of an academic approach when evaluating the differences in SLDs and those with a physical or emotional disability. She reports that she sees more SLDs venture towards "community colleges or junior colleges" than other disabled students. Stacy attributes this to the fact that in a junior college "students can do the same types of courses and they can end up getting a degree or they can work towards an industry certification. Sometimes if they're 'done with school' they like the option of the work force certification."

Kristy believes that transition is more difficult for SLDs than for students with a physical or emotional disability. She expressed "transition is more difficult because if they have a learning disability, they are more than likely going to find the material more difficult to get into long term memory than a student who is autistic or physically handicapped." She also discussed students needing to know how to access the disability services office and expressed that this can be more difficult for SLDs than for other students with disabilities because they "may not know what they need whereas a physically handicapped student knows their mobility needs."

Cassie expressed the evidence of the disability in someone who is physically disabled and sometimes those who are emotionally disabled versus a learning disability that "is a little more invisible" as a main difference. She also noted a main difference between physical disabilities and learning disabilities is the focus surrounding the student's transition. Cassie said,

"for a kid with a physical disability you're looking at making sure everything is

ADA complaint and that they have a first-floor dorm room, a possible peer to help
them navigate the classroom, those kinds of things. But when you're looking at a
learning-disabled kiddo, you're looking at how they learn, their professors, and
the overall fit of the college."

Leslie expressed the main differences goes back to the level of self-advocacy skills and self-awareness students with differing disabilities have. She described how students with a physical disability, for example blindness, are taught early on how to seek accommodations that will help compensate for their inability to see. She feels this is similar to students with emotional disabilities. Leslie expressed "in a lot of cases, students with emotional disabilities have quite a lot of support to help them be aware of what triggers they may have; that self-awareness." She further stated, "but I don't really think we do that for students with a learning disability."

Higher Education Perspective. Being on the higher education side of things,

Tiffany reports that students with physical and emotional disabilities are many times

more prepared for the transition from secondary to post-secondary education than SLDs.

She said "students with super significant disabilities like visual and hearing disabilities

are usually on top of things. Students who are mild, it kind of depends. How well were
they prepared? How well were they coached?" She explained that contrary to students

with physical disabilities, many times SLDs do not even know what they need or how
their learning will be impacted until after they are well into the semester. Tiffany
additionally noted "sometimes they just don't know what they don't know."

Sarah expressed that from her perspective, she does not see there are many differences because all students must go through the same process to request services and accommodations. She added,

"they all have to submit their documentation to our office for whatever their disability is whether it is a learning disability or a medical or psychological disability. This paperwork tells us what their disability is. It doesn't tell us how their disability affects them. We want to hear that from the student."

Ashley discussed that while accommodations will look different for SLDs versus students with a physical or emotional disability, the process for obtaining them is the same. She conveyed that most of her mobility students "come straight into our offices and are approved to get the same accommodations they did in high school." However, "many of our students with disabilities don't know the process to get their accommodations." She went on to explain that those who do, "aren't able to articulate what accommodations they need to be successful."

Summary. Participants varied on the idea of differences in the transition for a SLD and a student with a physical or an emotional disability. K-12 participants tended to take a more academic perspective when discussing potential differences such as where SLDs attend higher education and their ability to understand academic content. They discussed aspects such as the difficultly of the academic content, how SLDs are sometimes wrongly characterized as "lazy" due to their unseen disability which stems from the mindset of the educator. They additionally noted that students with a physical disability have a more innate ability to self-advocate than a SLD due to the nature of their disability and the necessity of accommodations to be provided.

Higher education participants spoke more from the accommodations perspective and indicated that while they do not see a lot of differences between students with physical disabilities and SLDs, students with physical or emotional disabilities will have accommodations that look differently at the higher education level than those accommodations for SLDs. Both groups did note that students with a physical disability do tend to be more prepared to transition from secondary to post-secondary education and are more able to express their needs than SLDs. They pointed out this is usually due to the fact that students with physical disabilities know what they need to be successful in the task at hand.

Interview Question 3. I asked each participant how SLDs are prepped at the secondary level or supported at the higher ed level to make the transition from high school to college.

K-12 Perspective. Kelly believed that while K-12 does not do this as much as they should, there needs to be more "pull back of the accommodations while still providing support." She followed this up with noting students need to be encouraged also. She remarked "students need people to say, 'we truly believe you can do this without some of these accommodations so we're going to try this and watch you succeed' and then support students as they do." She expressed that many times K-12 educators feel they are 'prepping' students for post-secondary education when in fact they over-accommodate them and, in a sense, enable their dependency on unnecessary accommodations.

Stacy, being from a small rural school district, expressed that the preparation for student's transition is not as much programmatic as much as it is person dependent.

Because of the small, intimate setting they are in, staff are able to get to know SLDs well.

She conveyed, "we know their needs, their family situations, and their support systems. We have it very individualized" but reports that if not done correctly, this can sometimes be a hindrance as students can become "enabled". Although she and her staff work to prepare students by teaching them advocacy skills, Stacy said, "I don't feel like we always do a real good job in helping our kids self-advocate."

Kristy passionately expressed that SLDs are "not prepared to transition to college. I can't state that enough." She went on to add that she feels this is not just the case for SLDs, but that all students are not adequately prepared; it is just magnified for SLDs. She discussed how all areas, such as academics, social skills, and life skills, are all interconnected and it could be one of those areas or multiple areas contributing to a student's lack of success. Kristy stated, "if kids cannot make friends at college, it kills their grades. If they don't know how to talk to professors, the same thing happens." For her, preparation was not just about being prepared academically, but being socially prepared for the transition as well.

Cassie had mixed beliefs about how SLDs are prepped for the transition to college. She expressed her conflict by asking "in theory or in real life practice?"

Theoretically speaking, she felt students are adequately prepared for the transition to college if they have learned how to advocate for themselves and make connections at the college level to ensure they have the needed supports in place. In practice, she feels that K-12 does not do a good job in teaching SLDs the necessary skills to navigate the transition to higher education and many times "it gets overwhelming and so, they just don't do it."

Leslie expressed that overall, SLDs are not well prepared to make the transition to college. She remarked, "I don't think we've prepared them enough to be self-reliant." This, she believes, is a societal problem in which parents have become "like a helicopter" and hovered over a SLD's K-12 education and eventually there will come a time when that will not be accepted at the higher ed level. She continued, "and so, knowing that is the end game, I don't think we have done enough to intentionally prepare our students with learning disabilities to be advocates for themselves and know what their needs are."

Higher Education Perspective. Tiffany expressed her views regarding supports SLDs receive at the post-secondary level once they make the transition from high school to college. She remarked, "support is kind of an interesting word because we don't look at ourselves as support service. We are a resource department for students." She explained that one of the "best resources available" and one that is highly utilized by SLDs is their testing center. Tiffany noted, "it has a lot of different tools and equipment and resources in there to support student's needs." One support she mentioned needed improvement was helping new students acquire life skills such as time management and managing their own needs while at college. She mentioned "they come here, and the biggest challenge isn't about being in class, it's about how they manage their environment away from the classroom."

Sarah discussed the Office of Disability Services (ODS) also as being a resource for students as well as an advocate for SLDs if they experience difficulties with professors. While she did preface that it is the student's responsibility to communicate directly with their professor regarding their approved accommodations, she also explained, "we can walk them through how to effectively meet with an instructor when

they have difficulty or maybe disagree with something the professor is doing, or not doing." She expressed that the ODS sees these times as learning opportunities for SLDs "not just for college, but when they're out of college and in the workforce."

Ashley held high regards for the support she felt SLDs were offered at higher education institutions. She stated, "at [the institution] we have many resources that students have access to, one of our most popular being our academic resource center." She explained the many supports student can obtain at the academic resource center including tutoring, a math lab, and writing assistance. Ashely noted, "many of our students with learning disabilities also utilize the center for taking their tests."

Summary. Responses were well delineated between K-12 and higher education participants. K-12 participants overwhelmingly and very adamantly expressed that SLDs are not prepared to successfully transition to college. They all agreed there is more K-12 institutions can be doing to prepare SLDs for college. Higher education participants all spoke of the ODS as being "a resource" for SLDs on the college campus. They discussed available supports at higher education and how SLDs need to avail themselves to those resources, but many times do not. Research by Hadley (2009) and Murray, Goldstein, Nourse, and Edgar (2000) support these ideas reported by both K-12 and higher education participants.

Both groups mentioned, whether explicitly or implied, that they are a resource for SLDs. However, it was interesting to discover that K-12 participants feel more invested in supporting SLDs than higher education participants do. This could be attributed to an old mindset that students should be taught everything they need to know to go to college before they get to higher education. This also could be connected to legalities, in that K-

12 systems are under strict IDEA laws when it comes to providing services to students with disabilities. Because of such, those participants feel more compelled to provide services to SLDs than higher education participants where the 504 laws that guide them are not as rigid.

Interview Question 4. I asked each participant what role or responsibility their respective organization has, as well as other organizations, parents of SLDs and the student themselves, bare in the transition of SLDs from high school to college.

K-12 Perspective. Kelly viewed the roles of all involved as more of a partnership. She remarked, "we first had to establish a relationship with the parents and then find common ground amongst them and the school in order to understand what everyone needed to be doing to support the student with a learning disability." She expressed that many times in her experience she had parents who wanted the school district to bare most of the responsibility in transitioning a SLD, but "that is not the role of public education. Our role is to partner with the parent and give students the tools they need to access education and be successful at it." She went on to express that higher ed entities "certainly need to be more involved than what we often see them doing" but added that students have to take the initiative to seek out those services because "they're not going to go out and find you."

Stacy viewed the K-12 responsibility from more of an academic standpoint. She believed the responsibility for a SLD's transition was more about helping them prepare to get to college by ensuring they are aware of and can meet the requirements of TSI testing to gain access to higher ed. As far as the student's responsibility, she feels their responsibility is to gain self-help and advocacy skills that will benefit them in college.

Stacy stated, "if they're going to do well in college, they have to know how to ask for help and how to navigate the system and we have to model that for them." From her perspective, higher education needs to be more open to "coaching students through the new avenues that college life brings about" by ensuring SLDs are able to login and access the campus' learning management system, find their assignments, or order the books they need for a course. She stated, "they've never had to do that before" and she reports this newness can be overwhelming for a SLD.

Kristy pointed to the K-12 responsibility as giving SLDs training in being more independent learners and advocates for their needs as well as assistance in acquiring life skills. She noted that this responsibility has to be shared by the parent because "students are not gaining the independence they need when the leave" but that it is "not really being taught in either place." While she feels like higher education is doing a great deal to help SLDs, "the numbers just don't work out. There's no way the college can hold a student's hand through every part of the process." She expressed that the assignment of an academic coach for SLDs could potentially alleviate some of the hesitance of students to seek out and acquire services. Kristy pointed out "students have to initiate the support and a lot of students aren't secure enough in themselves or confident enough to do that without help."

Cassie cited K-12 transition responsibility as being a teacher for not only the SLD but for their parents also. Cassie expressed,

"we have to do a better job at providing more support to students as they transition. I think sometimes we have to educate the parents too and maybe even

check up on them after they graduate to make sure they make it through the first semester."

She went on to say that while this would be ideal, the time constraints of a transition specialist more than likely will not allow for this. As far as higher education is concerned, she expressed the ODS at those institutions should have a bigger role in building relationships with SLDs and their parents. "Higher ed is not always the easiest to deal with and getting accommodations is sometimes difficult." She did voice, however, that SLDs need to be more of their own leaders and advocate for themselves at the higher ed level. Cassie stated, "if we've done our job, we've taught them what their disability is, we've taught them how it impacts their learning, we've taught them some self-advocacy skills then by the time they're a senior, they should be okay."

Leslie described the responsibility of K-12 as one that should "prepare students to move from one arena to the next." She goes on to describe this as helping SLDs answer questions such as 'how do I learn best? How do I navigate challenges when they arise?' She conveyed that K-12 educators have a responsibility to teach SLDs self-awareness of their disability and advocacy skills. She iterated that "we have to start early. We can't wait until a SLD is 14 years old to start having these conversations."

Higher Education Perspective. Tiffany, being involved in the higher education setting, feels their responsibility is to properly orient SLDs to the processes of the ODS and help them understand how resources at the college level are different from those at the high school level. She discussed how it would be beneficial for K-12 systems, as part of their responsibility, to start discussing the differences in secondary and post-secondary

supports and start weaning SLDs down from so many accommodations, especially ones that cannot be implemented at the post-secondary level.

Sarah, another higher education representative, reiterated the role of higher education as being one that "communicates the process to them. How to obtain their accommodations, and communicating with them that if they need help, they need to reach out to us." She also explained a lot of time in the ODS is spent helping professors understand the accommodations that new SLDs have been afforded. Sarah expressed, "we many times have to go over with professors what that accommodation looks like." She discussed how it would be beneficial if K-12 systems were responsible for "pulling back accommodations a little when students are juniors and seniors." She explained that over accommodation is a problem that ODS sees on a regular basis. Sarah conveyed "parents need to be involved in this process too because it's much different at the college level. Many times, when students with learning disabilities get here, the parents don't know how to help their children."

Ashley asserted how "it would be helpful if high schools proactively helped students to understand they have to request disability services and accommodations." She further elaborated that "many students with learning disabilities somehow don't understand that applying to college and registering with disability services are two separate processes." Moreover, she mentioned if students do not start this process early, "it often puts them climbing uphill for the rest of the semester because they don't have any accommodations in place."

Summary. While participants all agreed on the idea that their institution has a responsibility in the successful transition of SLDs, the role they play was varied. K-12

participants saw their roles as more of a partnership with SLDs and their families to teach them the next steps in transition to college. Most higher education participants contended their role was to communicate and orient SLDs to the processes of registering with the ODS as an incoming student. While there was no literature reviewed that specifically addressed roles and responsibilities, studies by Lock and Layton (2001) and Paul (2000) address the idea of "multiple communities" supporting SLDs for successful transition.

It was interesting to see, based upon participant's responses, the delineation of perceived responsibility. It was evident that K-12 participants feel fully accountable to educate SLDs of their responsibilities in the higher education realm prior to the student's departure from secondary education. Higher education participants conveyed their responsibility as more of an "offered support" approach. While both groups contended they have a responsibility for supporting SLDs in successful transition the level of responsibility is perceivably unbalanced and the majority is falling to the K-12 educators.

Interview Question 5. I asked each participant what they perceived to be the greatest challenge of successful transition for SLDs from high school to college and what could be done at each level to diminish these challenges.

K-12 Perspective. Kelly conveyed that the student's lack of understanding of their disability, knowledge of how it truly impacts their learning and what supports they need to be successful are the greatest challenges SLDs face as they transition to higher ed. She stated, "the kids that I've seen that are the most successful are the ones who learn to be responsible for their own education." Moreover, she discussed how this is not an easy process for students and the K-12 system has to be more intentional around it and begin early on. Kelly conveyed "we can't start this process at 11th grade. It has to start as early

as 7th and 8th grade and gradually increase the level of responsibility of our students with learning disabilities."

Stacy started out by saying "our students face the same challenges that general education students face but just at a magnified level." She finds that SLDs do not have the same degree of confidence as their non-disabled peers and therefore have more difficulty adapting to new situations. She expressed, "you have to have some level of confidence to be able to approach your professors to ask for help or even to ask a classmate." Stacy feels this could be mitigated somewhat if SLD students were assigned a peer mentor to discreetly help them navigate their freshman experience. But these things cannot just begin in college. They have to start in high school so they can be carried over into higher education. She relayed, "there are things as a K-12 teacher we need to be teaching them like how to use a calendar, how to organize, how to utilize technology as a life tool other than texting." She repeatedly expressed that SLDs need to be coached to help develop their confidence as they move from high school into their college years.

Kristy provided a distinction between multiple areas she feels are a challenge for SLDs. She noted, "half of it's going to be academics and the other half is emotional." She described students' lack of study and organizational skills as a barrier to their transitional success and their "inability to begin to make new relationships with new people" as an emotional barrier to successful transition. Kristy remarked, "of those who are struggling academically, most times it can be traced back to not making proper connections with people, they aren't balancing the social with the academic well."

Cassie immediately expressed "learning to live on their own and be independent."

While she believed academics does play a part in the challenges SLDs face, "I think just

figuring out how to live independently while navigating college classes, that seems to be the hardest part." She went on to convey a professional example that reinforced her belief around students' independence. She felt the academic challenges could be addressed by K-12 educators by "being careful with their accommodations and modifications. I think sometimes we get check happy and over accommodate our students." On the higher education side, she conveyed that "maybe some transitional support for the first semester in the form of a zero hour course or a seminar" would be beneficial for SLDs to help orient them with college.

Leslie discussed navigating the newness of college and figuring out the disability services process as one of the greatest challenges for SLDs. She revealed, "it's overwhelming. It's a sudden, drastic change for these kiddos." She went on to express that students, many for the first time, are tasked with making their own decisions and balancing school and their social life and "they don't know how to set boundaries for themselves." She highlighted that K-12 educators as well as higher education staff "have to do a better job of communicating to students about the changes that will come as they make the transition from high school to college." She discussed that due to the legal differences in services required to be offered at the secondary and post-secondary level, students and parents alike often are taken aback at the vastly different levels of support SLDs receive between high school and college.

Higher Education Perspective. Tiffany, as someone who approves accommodations for students at the post-secondary level, expressed that one of the greatest challenges is students and parents not understanding why a student does not get an accommodation they "got in high school." She says more times than not she has to

explain to them "the accommodations do not match the disability. A diagnosed reading disability doesn't constitute the use of a calculator." She called on K-12 educators to take a look at students who are graduating and really evaluate every accommodation against the disability before a SLD's final ARD or 504 meeting. She expressed, "if students and parents understand, before that last meeting, that accommodations are going to look different at college than they did in high school, that's one less hurdle they have to overcome in the transition process."

Sarah started out by saying "students don't know what to expect." Furthermore, "they get here and when you start talking to them, it's almost this blank look because they don't really know." She discussed additional challenges students face, such as newfound independence, making new friends, and additional responsibilities "just makes it really hard for them." She expressed that more communication between the secondary and post-secondary levels about the differences between high school and higher education would help to alleviate some of the challenges SLDs face "that way we all can better prepare students for what to expect."

Ashley remarked "it's hard to pick just one because I see it that often." She disclosed if she had to pick just one it would be "student's mindset of wanting to do things on their own." Ashley indicated that she sees this mindset "on at least a weekly basis" and many students still feel their "disability and accommodations are a bad thing." The other barrier she discussed was "student's understanding that the accommodations they got in high school might not be appropriate in college" such as modified assignments and altered time frames for submitting assignments.

Summary. As was evident from the participant's responses, SLDs face multiple challenges as they transition from secondary to post-secondary education. K-12 participants iterated these challenges as "lack of understanding of their disability," "lack of confidence," and "lack of skills," both academic and social. Due to all of these challenges mentioned, K-12 participants felt SLDs have difficulty adapting to their new environment. Higher education participants all reported SLDs' understanding of the differences between high school and college as the main challenge they face when transitioning. Studies by Coccarelli (2010) and Harris and Robertson (2001) support these ideas that SLDs do not understand the differences and therefore will face significant challenges in transitioning. Related to that challenge is SLD's mindset that accommodations are no longer necessary at the college level. Also noted as a challenge was parental oversight, in that parents do not understand how their role has changed as their SLD progresses from secondary to post-secondary education.

Interview Question 6. I asked each participant to describe, in an ideal world, what would be the best way to prepare SLDs to make the transition from high school to post-secondary education.

K-12 Perspective. Kelly suggested, "we should make high school a little bit more like college in some ways." She went on to say,

"if we don't put kids in these situations early and let them struggle, yet still provide them the encouragement and support, they're never going to learn. It's just like practicing for a sport. If you don't practice, you're never going to be good at it."

She expressed the same sentiments for SLDs transitioning to college.

Stacy expressed providing SLDs a more "college-like experience" in their later years of high school as a way to best prepare them for their transition. She asserted,

"we have to put them in some of the same situations they will face at college and model how to navigate that situation. That's academically, socially, and even in just their daily living. Show them how to handle these things that will come up."

Kristy discussed her opinion of adding a course to the high school curriculum that taught SLDs basic skills they would need as they transitioned to post-secondary education. She noted, "I think it would help considerably to have a training that took place in high school that taught students how to do these things." She continued on to define those basic skills as "daily functions" and "problem solving" more specifically "how do I call long distance? How do I find a phone number?" To be beneficial, she believes "it takes a person that has training and that understands how things work at the college level."

Cassie excitedly stated, "the student's senior year, they should take a class on how to be successful in life." She went on to describe how this course should contain studies of books on success, basic life skills like managing money, and basic college academic skills such as "logging onto Blackboard or Canvas and checking their academic progress." She expressed that "with the right instructor" students could leave the class "feeling somewhat confident because they've been taught what to expect heading to college."

Leslie voiced that a high school course would be "ideal" to help better prepare SLDs. She voiced,

"I think we need to build into the typical school day a course that allows for students to experience college life and life skills in a controlled environment. That way, if they struggle or fail, they have support to show them how to get through it, to navigate how. Maybe we if do that, next time they will have the muscle memory of how to get through something tough."

Higher Education Perspective. Tiffany conveyed her thoughts regarding SLD's transition preparation by saying "we need to give them a chance to practice and understand that things are different at college than they are at high school." She discussed that students need to be taught to "be more self-aware of their needs, and their accommodations, and why they need them." She also expressed that in an ideal world, every SLD would have "a current evaluation upon transitioning to college and have read it and have a basic understanding of what it's saying."

Sarah had "several opinions on this one." She believed "there should be some courses at high school level on soft skills." For her, these would not only benefit the student at the college level but beyond into the workforce. Sarah contended "skills like communication, time management, and even basic finance." Another improvement she mentioned was "more communication between the college level and high schools." She expressed if communication was better there and high school counselors and transition staff received more up to date and accurate information from colleges like admission requirements and processes for students to obtain accommodations, they in turn could better prepare SLDs for their transition prior to leaving high school.

Ashley maintained that giving SLDs "a class, or a seminar, or some type of training on what the college process looks like." She continued by noting "this would

help students to understand what to expect, what they are going to need and what they're going to do." She contended that if both secondary and post-secondary educators communicated more efficiently, SLDs would greatly benefit. "Sometimes it's not a disability issue. It's just they haven't had exposure to these types of situations, so they don't yet know the processes."

Summary. Participants unanimously expressed that in a "perfect world" a course designed to give SLDs the needed skills to be successful in their transition from high school to college would be implemented. Participants voiced that this course should be patterned to resemble college class in order to give SLDs an idea of what to expect in higher education. In it, students would be presented skills necessary to be successful during their transition and when they get to college. Skills such as how to study, how to communicate with professors, where to seek assistance, and the process to register with their ODS were all discussed by participants. Also mentioned were life skills that any student would need to know such as time management, organizational skills and a basic understanding of finances. A 2010 study by Troiano, Liefeld, and Trachtenberg supports the idea that robust student support contributes to greater transitional success.

Emerging Themes

Using the interview transcriptions, I began the data analysis process. Data analysis is a means to visualize patterns, themes and relationships; cultivate explanations; and create understandings (Hatch, 2002). Open coding took place, in which notes were made in regard to any bits of information that seemed relevant to answering the research questions (Merriam, 2009). Additionally, a qualitative data analysis software, Dedoose, was used to aid in coding. From those codes, clusters of meaning were developed which

were then used to generate three categories or themes (Creswell, 2014): under prepared, college expectations versus high school experiences, and self-advocacy. A description and significant statement can be found in Table 7.

Table 7

Emerging Themes

Theme	Description	Significant Statement
Under Prepared	SLD are vastly underprepared to transition to college	"students of all facets are not prepared to transition to college."
College Expectations Versus High School Experiences	Knowledge that college expectations will be exceedingly different from experiences in high school.	"they need to understand that it's not the same in college as it is in K-12 education."
Self-Advocacy	Knowledge and skills that enable SLD to understand their strengths and weaknesses, know what they need to succeed, and communicate that to others.	"students must be able to self-advocate and be the leader."

Under Prepared. All students transitioning to college face challenges as they make the pivotal move from secondary to post-secondary education. Students with a learning disability (SLD) are at an even greater deficit as they begin this journey. The National Council on Disability (2004) reported:

...it should come as no surprise that an overwhelming number of [students] with disabilities are under educated, under qualified for today's job market or unemployed, and underprepared for the rigors of postsecondary education (p. 23).

I asked questions of participants to gain their insight into the preparedness of SLD to make the transition from high school to college. Kristy explicitly stated SLDs "are not prepared to transition to college." Leslie discussed when it comes to SLDs, "we haven't prepared them enough to be adults." All participants voiced SLD's deficits in non-cognitive skills such as critical thinking, study skills, test-taking and communication.

Some participants felt that the preparation for transition starts too late for SLDs and therefore is not effective. In order for SLDs to have a good understanding of their disability, they must begin early on in their K-12 setting taking an active role in their transition planning (Connor, 2012; Hughes & Carter, 2011). Kelly expressed "you don't start this process at 11th grade" which was echoed by Leslie who voiced "you have to start the process early. You can't wait until they're 14. You have to start earlier."

Ideas surfaced throughout the interviews on ways SLDs could be better prepared to successfully transition from high school to college. K-12 participants spoke about starting earlier with teaching students about their learning disability and how it impacts their learning. Repeatedly mentioned was having SLDs take more of an active role in their ARD meetings to teach them the self-advocacy skills required in the higher education setting. Higher education participants shared that increased communication between colleges and high schools would give K-12 educators a better understanding of the expectations at the college level so they could more adequately and accurately prepare students for the changes to come. It was unanimously indicated that the greatest preparation would come in the form of a course or class at the high school level that resembled a college class, and taught students the academic, social, and life skills necessary to be successful SLDs at the higher education level.

College Expectations versus High School Experiences. When a student with learning disabilities transitions from K-12 to higher education, the educational barriers that existed at the secondary level do not go away, they simply change. Higher education brings about a whole new set of challenges for students (Tinto, 1993) that are often not conveyed to students ahead of time. SLDs in K-12 education are safeguarded under IDEA which obligates Child Find, mandates assessments for diagnosis and requires schools to provide services for students with disabilities (IDEA, 2004). However, upon transition to higher education, IDEA ceases and students are responsible for seeking out accommodations from their college's Office of Disability Services.

College expectations versus high school experiences was another theme that emerged from this study. Sarah stated, "students need to be told in ARD or 504 meetings that it's going to be different at the college level." Moreover, Leslie stressed SLDs "have to understand the difference in expectations. They need to understand that it's not the same in college as it was in K-12." Tiffany contended "when students with learning disabilities move from high school to college they as well as their parents need to understand the vast differences." Sarah reiterated those sentiments by stating "the communication about college expectations and the differences in the level of disability services need to be more effectively communicated with students and high school counselors."

K-12 and higher education participants both agree that there is a marked difference in secondary and post-secondary education for SLDs. Both groups also agree that SLDs do not understand the differences in the two and many times that is because those in authority at the high school levels do not adequately understand the differences.

While K-12 participants understand and can convey the academic differences SLDs will face, higher education participants reported that many times they do not understand the procedural differences that will come about when IDEA ends for a SLD. Both groups contended that better communication between secondary and post-secondary institutions regarding the differences will facilitate more success for SLDs.

Self-Advocacy. In the secondary setting, SLDs automatically received individualized instructional accommodations provided by their classroom teachers (DaDeppo, 2009). In higher education settings, students must not only self-identify with the Office of Disability Services, but they must also then self-advocate with each of their professors to seek out the instructional accommodations they need for each content area (Shaw, 2009). Self-advocating requires a behavioral shift on the part of the SLD from an inactive and reliant role to that of an active and more independent one (Hadley, 2009). Self-advocacy skills allow a SLD to effectively convey to their institution their needed accommodations (Wehmeyer, 1995). Tiffany passionately expressed "the biggest thing is students being self-aware of what their needs are and are able to self-advocate for them on their own." Stacy echoed that importance but remarked "I don't feel like in general our school districts do a good job in teaching our students to self-advocate." Leslie asserted that "student must be able to self-advocate" but remarked that "I don't think we do enough to intentionally prepare our students how to be advocates for themselves." All participants reiterated the importance of self-advocacy by SLDs, but many spoke of the less than adequate job that educators, both secondary and post-secondary, are doing to teach students this skill.

K-12 participants and higher education participants both agree that self-advocacy is not a strong quality of SLDs. K-12 participants expressed this is directly correlated to the makeup of the current IDEA system that mandates identification, diagnosis and accommodations. Under this system, K-12 participants reported SLDs are not required to advocate for their needs, but rather it is decided and provided for them. K-12 participants also noted that SLDs need to be taught self-advocacy skills while during their primary and secondary education years, and that this practice needs to be started sooner rather than later. All K-12 participants agreed this is not done well currently in K-12 systems.

Higher education participants echoed the sentiments of the K-12 participants regarding their opinions of self-advocacy of SLDs. They agreed that this is a necessary skill for SLDs at the higher education level as they are no longer under the safeguard of the legal mandates of IDEA. They reported that while there are some students who can express their needs and advocate to have them met, most SLDs have been reliant on a K-12 school system or a parent to do this and now do not know how to self-advocate.

Summary

To understand the principle behind K-12 special education professionals' and higher education administrators' perspective of the successful transition of SLDs from high school to college, I conducted semi-structured video conferenced interviews. After receiving the transcriptions from the Zoom platform and editing them for accuracy, I started the open coding process. From those codes, clusters of meaning were developed which were then used to generate three categories or themes (Creswell, 2014); under prepared, college expectations versus high school experiences, and self-advocacy. Overall, K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in

ODS agree that SLDs are not successfully transitioning from secondary to post-secondary education.

Three themes emerged as a result of the responses of the participants: under prepared, college expectations versus high school experiences, and self-advocacy. Participants from K-12 and higher education agreed that students are underprepared academically for the rigors of the work they will face. They also agreed that SLDs, like other high school students, are underprepared to live independently and manage the stresses of increased academics along with their social freedoms. All participants also agreed that SLDs are not prepared in that they do not understand their disability and how it impacts their learning. Participants from both realms discussed preparing students for transition earlier in their educational career would help to facilitate more success during this pivotal time. K-12 participants were more specific with remedies, stating that SLDs should begin earlier on taking a more active role in their ARD or 504 meetings in order to fully grasp the scope of their disability, how it impacts their learning, and what accommodations are appropriate to meet their needs.

Participants also agreed on the vast differences between high school and college.

K-12 participants discussed academic and social differences. However, higher education participants tended to be more passionate about this theme as they were the ones who see the result of SLDs lack of understanding of the differences. Their main concern voiced was students being over accommodated at the secondary level and expecting the same level of accommodations in higher education. Second to that was their concern that SLDs do not realize they have to now take the lead and register with ODS to receive their accommodations and that it is not an automatic service provided in higher education. To

alleviate this concern, higher education participants recommended increased communication from higher education to high school staff surrounding the differences so those can be effectively and efficiently communicated to SLDs prior to their departure from secondary education.

All participants concurred that self-advocacy is a necessary skill for SLDs to possess but that it is a skill that is lacking and sometimes absent. Participants also acknowledged that while this is a skill that can and should be further developed at the higher education level, self-advocacy has to be taught to SLDs during their K-12 years, the earlier the better.

Participants were concordant in the belief that all skills needed by SLDs to be successful transitioning from high school to college could be established and cultivated through a course or class at the high school level designed to mirror the college setting and the expectations of a college campus. While all participants resoundingly expressed this resolve, some high school and college participants expressed that the instructor of this course would have a huge impact on the success of the class and needed to be carefully considered for the role.

Chapter V will further discuss these themes in relation to the phenomenon.

Findings in relation to the research questions, literature and framework will be examined.

Implications and recommendations for future research will additionally be addressed.

CHAPTER V

Discussion, Implications, and Recommendations

Overview

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to determine how K-12 special education professionals as well as higher education administrators in the Office of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the transitional success of traditionally aged college students with learning disabilities (SLD) from secondary to higher education. As mentioned in Chapters III and IV, this study examined how K-12 special education professionals and Higher Education administrators described their experiences working with SLD and preparing or supporting them as they transition to post-secondary education. Eight participants were selected from K-12 school districts and Higher Education institutions within a 60-mile radius of my geographic location.

I chose this study because of my own experiences as a special education teacher, high school administrator and aunt to precious kids with special abilities. In all these roles, I have seen first-hand the struggle that SLD face as they prepare for the next big transition in their lives. By gaining the perspectives of K-12 special education professionals, my goal was to understand the preparation work that takes place to aid SLDs in transitioning to post-secondary education. By understanding the perspectives of higher education administrators in the ODS, I hoped to gain insight into how successful SLDs were in implementing the skills they acquired at the secondary level. By combining the two perspectives, I hoped to discern ways in which both levels could adapt their current practices to be more aligned to ensure transitional success for SLDs. Thus,

Schlossberg's Transition Theory (Evans, et al., 2010) provided a framework within SLD's transition from secondary to post-secondary education could be studied.

This study resulted in three themes which include, (a) underprepared, (b) college expectations versus high school experiences, and (c) self-advocacy. Findings of this study were explicitly discussed in Chapter IV. A discussion of the findings in relation to the research questions, connections to the literature, the theoretical framework, as well as recommendations for practice and implications for future research are contained in Chapter V.

Discussion of the Findings in Relation to the Research Questions

This study was developed to capture and understand participants' perceptions of their lived experiences as they work with SLDs. The following research questions were used to guide this study: (1) How do K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Offices of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the connection between secondary transition planning and higher education student success for students with learning disabilities? (2) What do K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Offices of Disability Services at colleges and universities feel would strengthen secondary transition planning to improve post-secondary student success for students with learning disabilities?

Research Question 1. With regards to K-12 special education professionals' and higher education administrators' perception of the connection between transition planning and SLD success, participants overall agreed that a SLD's transitional success hinges on the fidelity of the planning process. All participants conveyed that SLDs are grossly under prepared to make the transition from high school to college. They

expressed that SLDs do not have an adequate knowledge of their disability, an understanding of how that impacts their learning, and what accommodation are necessary to ensure their success and attributed this to breakdowns in systems at both the secondary and post-secondary levels. Participants discussed the planning process does not begin early enough for SLDs thus leaving students with little confidence in their ability to be an independent SLD. Additionally, parents have not been educated on their role as a student's support as they transition to college; something that parents should be mentored on through a partnership with the K-12 institution. The majority of participants reported that SLDs are over accommodated and enabled as a result of the design of the K-12 special education system and therefore do not gain the skills necessary to successfully transition to higher education. Furthermore, participants expressed that SLDs do not have an understanding that the higher education expectations, such as self-advocating for their own needs and being self-reliant and independent, will vastly differ from their experiences as a high school student. They additionally revealed that SLDs have grown accustomed to the mandated services of the K-12 special education system and therefore have not acquired the necessary skills to effectively advocate for themselves and their needs in the post-secondary environment.

Research Question 2. In discussing with participants their remedies for strengthening the secondary transition planning process to ensure post-secondary success for SLDs, every participant discussed a class, course, or seminar designed to be integrated into the student's high school day that would resemble the makeup of a college class. This course would teach students the skills they need to successfully transition from high school to college as a SLD. Skills mentioned included communication with

both peers and those in authority; time management skills such as how to balance school with living independently; life skills like paying bills, managing money, or scheduling a doctor's appointment; and study skills. These skills are important for any student transitioning from high school to college to be proficient in. However, there are specialized abilities such as understanding their disability, the impact it has on learning, and how to self-advocate and be a proponent of their needs that SLDs must have to ensure their success. Most participants voiced that this class would benefit from a specialized instructor who can empathize with SLDs yet gently push them out of their comfort zone to learn new skills necessary for successful transition to higher education. It was additionally mentioned that this instructor should have accurate knowledge of the higher education processes to be able to adequately convey to students the methods for navigating and registering with the ODS and college life in general.

Connection to the Literature

In this study, literature was presented relating to educational impacts for SLDs, supports for SLDs, and barriers for SLDs. The numbers of SLDs enrolling in higher education is continuing to rise each year and the challenges they face in higher education are evident in the academic realm (Butler, 2011). One challenge participants discussed is the lack of skills SLDs have going into college. Kristy specifically stated, "of the 50% of students with learning disabilities that are having academic problems, we can trace it back to them not being able to make proper connections with people." This is supported in literature as studies by Barga (1996), Butler (2011), and Harrison (2004) revealed that academic deficits are expected for SLDs, but these deficits could create struggles in other areas such as organizational skills and social skills.

K-12 and higher education are not, however, devoid of supports for SLDs. Those in the K-12 system are safeguarded by IDEA which requires accommodations or modifications be provided to meet SLDs' academic, social and emotional needs (Harris & Robertson, 2001; IDEA, 2004; McLaughlin, 2012; Newman & Madaus, 2015). In higher education, IDEA is no longer in effect for SLDs. Students must now advocate for themselves and register with the Office of Disability Services (ODS) at their respective college to receive accommodations under Section 504 (Office for Civil Rights, 2007). Participants, especially those from higher education, discussed the vast resources and supports available to SLDs. Tiffany mentioned her institution's "testing center is one of the greatest resources." She also noted "note-taking support" is another highly used resource and "assistive technology" such as speech to text software as supports available to SLDs. Sarah noted her institution's "learning center that provides free tutoring, the writing center that assists with any sort writing essays, and the math lab" as supports that are available to all students, not just students with disabilities. Transitioning to higher education brings about various challenges for all students, therefore, higher education institutions provide many supports to nurture success for all. However, this transition is even more arduous for SLDs as they face the additional task of self-identifying with their ODS, understanding and conveying their needed learning aids, and self-advocating for their accommodations to assure their success.

In literature, a robust support community is cited as one of the key factors for SLD's success (Lock & Layton, 2001; Paul, 2000). This shift from mandated supports to self-seeking supports is one that is difficult for SLDs. As mentioned by Leslie, "it's a sudden and drastic change for kiddos." One of the most important factors for successfully

making this transition is the support of SLD families (Gardner, Chapman, Donaldson, & Jacobson, 1998; NCES, 2010). Families fill in support gaps that SLDs fail to receive elsewhere (Getzel & Thomas, 2008; Stodden & Conway, 2002). However, SLD families can sometimes be too supportive by consistently problem-solving for or speaking on behalf of their SLD which could have a negative impact and discourage SLDs from pursuing college (Dorwick, Anderson, Heyer & Acosta, 2005). Kristy conveyed that SLDs are "not gaining the independence they need before they leave" which could impact their decision to attend post-secondary education. Kelly expressed that "parents need to learn to back off" and allow students to think and speak for themselves. Leslie equated parental over involvement to being like "a helicopter."

There are many barriers SLDs will face in K-12 education, as they transition from secondary to post-secondary education, and while at the higher education level (Copfer-Terreberry, 2017; National Council on Disability, 2004). Kelly expressed, "parents many times feel like the district should have the majority of the responsibility and we can't do that. That's not the role of public education." Lack of parent knowledge and ability to advocate for their SLDs is also cited in literature as a barrier in a student's K-12 years (Allen & Hudd, 1987; Engel, 1991; Silverston, Springer & Russo, 1992). Stacy remarked, "a rural parent from a poor school district who's never been to college is not going to know how to help their students do any of this."

As SLDs move to higher education, the greatest challenge is their increased responsibility for managing their own needs as a SLD (DaDeppo, 2009; Shaw, 2009). Cassie stated, "the greatest challenge a student with a learning disability will face is how to live on their own and be independent." It is necessary for SLDs to have a greater level

of independence as they must be responsible for conveying and self-advocating for their own needs as a student with a learning disability. Also cited as a barrier is absence of understanding and empathy from higher education faculty (Greenbaum et al., 1995; Janiga & Costenbader, 2002; Wilson et al., 2000) and inability of faculty to effectively implement accommodations (Barnard-Brack et al., 2010; Sheppard-Jones, 2002).

The participants' experiences are commensurate with what is cited in literature. Participants discussed the numerous barriers SLD face as they transition from secondary to post-secondary education and the implications not overcoming those barriers have on a student's educational experience. All participants agreed that there are numerous supports available to SLDs at both the K-12 and higher education levels, but all agree that there are improvements that can be made in both arenas. Leslie professed "it's not like people [in K-12 education] aren't working hard. They are." She pointed out K-12 educators need to pinpoint the specific skills required for SLDs to successfully transition and focus on teaching those to students. Kristy expressed "I really feel like colleges have done what they can. Students just don't try to get their services." She suggested more collaboration between secondary and post-secondary institutions to help SLDs understand the importance of availing themselves to the services of the ODS would help alleviate student's hesitance.

Connection to the Framework

Schlossberg's Transition Theory aids adults in understanding transitions and guiding them to the assistance they need to manage the "ordinary and extraordinary process of living" (Evans, et al., 2010, p. 213). Often classified as an adult development theory, Schlossberg's Transition Theory is applicable to students transitioning to the

collegiate level, which often marks the transition into adulthood for those coming from high school (Evans et al., 2010).

Schlossberg categorized transitions into three types: anticipated, unanticipated, and non-event transitions. The physical transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to college is readily recognized as an anticipated transition. Participants, however, brought up in their responses a potential underlying unanticipated transition in that SLDs are not prepared for, and many times do not adjust well to, the challenges they will face at the post-secondary level.

Another portion of Schlossberg's Transition Theory are the 4 S's; situation, self, support and strategies. This part of the framework can also help in identifying and rectifying additional challenges SLDs will face as they accept the idea of transitioning from secondary to post-secondary education. When thinking about 'situation', participants surfaced that SLDs are not aware of the changes and challenges they will face as they move from a sheltered K-12 environment to a more independent higher education environment. If remedied, SLDs can feel more in control of their transition and be able to implement this transition effectively into their daily life.

'Self' implies the ability for SLDs to be reliant upon their own skills when transitioning from the secondary to post-secondary environment. Participants discussed SLDs decreased self-awareness and inability to effectively self-advocate as barriers to successful transition. More specific training that begins earlier at the K-12 level will facilitate SLD's ability to grasp the 'self' aspect of Schlossberg's Transition Theory.

'Support' for SLDs is necessary and should be a priority for ensured success.

Participants concurred that supports are prevalent and available for SLDs at K-12, but

often unused, at the higher education level. More could be done, through a collaborative effort of secondary and post-secondary institutions, to ensure that SLDs are aware of and avail themselves to supports throughout their transition from high school to college. More support could also be provided to families to better understand their role in the transition of their SLD. Family support SLD's received in K-12 and what is provided in higher education has to be different as not to hinder a SLD's ability to be self-reliant and interfere with their capacity to self-advocate.

'Strategies' refers to the ways in which SLDs cope with the transition they are facing. Participants explored ideas such as turning to friends and family, or sometimes for SLDs who are more confident, reaching out to the ODS to acquire methods that will aid in their success in transitioning from the secondary to post-secondary level.

Recommendations for a high school class to provide SLDs with more strategies for transition success were consistently mentioned throughout this study.

Schlossberg's Transition Theory states that if SLDs can better understand the transition they are experiencing, it will have positive effects on how they perceive their current life situation and ultimately how they incorporate it into their daily processes as a student with a learning disability. The transition from secondary to post-secondary education has many new situations that SLDs will find themselves in from having to self-advocate for their accommodations, to learning to communicate with peer and adults, and acquiring skills to live independently. Based the on the experiences shared by participants, and in line with Schlossberg's Transition Theory, if SLDs have a better understanding of collegiate expectations and the transition they will experience from secondary to post-secondary education, they will be more apt to embrace the transition

and find more success both socially and academically. What was lacking was support to help SLDs manage the transition and thus SLDs do not envelop the transition making it a more difficult shift than it already is.

Recommendations for Practice

Students with learning disabilities (SLDs) face many challenges when transitioning from secondary to post-secondary education. SLDs identified in primary and secondary education are safeguarded under IDEA laws that strictly mandate accommodations be provided. While these laws are intended to protect SLDs, they hinder the student's ability to be self-reliant. SLDs become accustomed to receiving supports based upon what educators feel they should have versus having to understand their own disability and identify their own needs. SLDs then move to the secondary level and do not have the basic understanding of their disability and how it impacts their learning and therefore are unable to articulate their needed supports to the ODS. Therein lies another challenge. On the occasion that SLDs do have the understanding of their disability, there is then the obstacle of compelling them to identify with the ODS to receive necessary accommodations for their continued success.

Self-Advocacy Scaffolding. Due to the makeup of the K-12 special education system, SLDs have not been required to incorporate self-advocacy into their education career. Self-advocacy is a necessary part of being a successful SLD in higher education. In the K-12 environment, special education professionals should begin no later than the student's junior high years involving SLDs in their Admission, Review and Dismissal (ARD) or 504 meetings to teach students the skills necessary to be self-aware and to self-advocate. Participants voiced students have to have an understanding of their disability

and therefore should take an active role in the development of their Individual Education Plan (IEP) or 504 goals. This role should begin during the junior high years in a SLD's education so that, through a process of gradual release, by the time they become juniors and seniors in high school, they are able to effectively articulate what accommodations are working, which ones are not working, and what they would like put into practice to ensure their success. Higher education administrators should continue to foster self-advocacy skills by invoking an early warning program that would notify them of SLDs who were on a path to becoming academically unsuccessful. This would then flag the necessity to revisit the SLD's use of accommodations and promote their self-advocacy skills in order to find future success prior to the end of the academic grading period.

Students transitioning from secondary to post-secondary education do not understand the differences between the expectations they will face at the higher education level and their current experiences at the high school level. It is important that SLDs are taught the expectations of being a SLD on a college campus; expectations such as self-awareness of their disability and how it impacts their learning, self-identification as a SLD with the ODS, and self-advocacy.

Educational Supports. To further prepare SLDs for success at the higher education level, K-12 educators should carefully review the student's accommodations the fall of the year of a student's anticipated graduation from high school. This would serve two-fold; one, it would be chance for SLDs, in a safe setting, to practice being an advocate for themselves. Secondly, it would give an opportunity for a SLD's accommodations to be reconsidered by their ARD or 504 committee based upon use, necessity and the ability to be carried forward into higher education. As participants at

the K-12 and higher education levels revealed, SLDs are many times overaccommodated in the K-12 system. It is recommended their accommodations be thoroughly reviewed and narrowed down to the ones most appropriate for a student's disability. By doing so, the goal is for SLDs to have a better understanding of the accommodations that are necessary for their success as well as put accommodations in place that will be familiar, translate easily as they transition from high school to college, and bolster their chances of success.

All participants mentioned a class be designed and implemented at the high school level that resembles a college course. In it, students would be taught academic skills, organizational skills and social skills needed to be a successful SLD in higher education. Here, students would gain the self-advocacy skills necessary to navigate college life as a SLD and ensure their success in the next level of their educational journey. It is recommended that the course not only be offered to SLDs but be open to any student who has applied for acceptance to a college or university. By doing so, SLDs would not be singled out and made to feel as if their disability has once again put them into a different category from their non-disabled peers. Given the curriculum requirements that high school are required to adhere to, this semester long course would be best suited to take place during a study hall time or a zero hour in which new academic curriculum would not be introduced or taught. The idea is that during the spring semester of a SLD's senior year, they would implement the skills they had learned during their success seminar into their current high school courses and have an opportunity to practice them in a safe and comfortable environment before having to translate them to the more rigorous environment of higher education.

K-12 professionals, through the ARD or 504 committee process, should also aid parents of SLDs in understanding their role in the transition process. For most of their student's educational career, the parent may have been the main advocate and decision maker for their SLD. ARD and 504 committees have to help parents comprehend and put into practice "gradual release" of control so SLDs are comfortable and confident in speaking for and making decisions for themselves prior to transitioning to higher education. To facilitate this, high schools should consider hosting a parent night for senior parents. Special emphasis should be placed on personally inviting parents of students enrolled in the success seminar. This workshop would provide parents a realistic view of the communication that can and cannot happen regarding their college student. It should also outline how parents can begin to turn over more responsibility to their students while still ensuring they are on track to be successful. There should also be a portion of the workshop that discusses students with disabilities and how parents can and cannot be involved in the ODS registration process. These processes should also be reiterated at all ARD and 504 meetings during a SLD's senior year, so parents hear it from multiple avenues.

Higher education ODS administrators should publicize the services and resources offered via the ODS and the process for gaining access to those through presentations in the success seminar, participation in college fairs at local high schools as well as at new student orientation and during welcome week activities on the college campus. At each of these events, material compiled by the ODS with contact information and information regarding the ODS process at their particular institution should be presented and discussed with SLDs and their parents. This literature should also be made available to

high school counselors so when SLDs informed them of their college of choice, information is readily available to provide SLDs on the ODS process at their anticipated college. Additionally, a generalized checklist could be complied to provide to all SLDs, regardless of the college they will be attending, that outlines the steps for and encourages them to self-identify and self-advocate at the higher education level.

Increased K-12 and Higher Education Communication. To effectively support SLDs in their transition from high school to college, secondary and post-secondary institutions must engage in collaborative dialogue. On the K-12 side, this could entail inviting ODS administrators to speak at a beginning of the year ARD and 504 facilitation training and outlining the process as well as information that should be conveyed to SLDs during their final ARD or 504 meetings. It also could be school districts requesting packets outlining the ODS process for the college the SLD has been accepted to, and thoroughly walking through the information regarding ODS services and resources with the student and their family at the final ARD or 504 meeting.

From the higher education perspective, increased communication could involve ODS hosting professional development sessions for high school counselors and administrators that focuses on sharing pertinent information secondary institutions should know to help prepare SLDs for transitional success. This could be information such as the process for students to register with ODS, allowable accommodations at the higher education level, and documents SLDs need from their secondary institution when transitioning to higher education. To ensure information stays current and best practices are continuing to be employed for SLDs, this process should be repeated annually.

K-12 and higher education institutions are diligent in their efforts to provide SLDs a successful transition experience. Nonetheless, there are improvements that can be made in the way both sides endorse and promote self-advocacy, support SLDs and their parents, and interchangeably share information to foster greater achievement in SLDs.

Implications for Future Research

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to determine how K-12 special education professionals as well as higher education administrators in the Office of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the transitional success of traditionally aged college students with learning disabilities (SLD) from secondary to higher education. This study was conducted in school districts and higher education institutions within a 60-mile radius of the researcher's geographic location. Eight participants contributed to this study, five from K-12 education and three from higher education. The delimitations and findings from this study contributed to future research opportunities regarding successful transition to college for students with learning disabilities.

Future research could comprise a phenomenological study with students from the same institutions to gain their perspectives of their preparedness and success as they transitioned from secondary to post-secondary education. Since this study was limited to K-12 special education professionals and Higher Education ODS administrators, a study investigating the experiences of SLDs transitioning from high school to college and their level of preparedness and success could be conducted. Results of these studies could be compared to gain more insight into what SLDs need to be more prepared to successfully transition from secondary to post-secondary education.

Future research could also entail a phenomenological study with SLDs from the same institutions comparing those who attend college and register with ODS and those who attend college and do not register. This study could further investigate and compare the challenges that each group faced and whether resources offered to all students on campus were utilized. The results of this study could be utilized to gain more insight into the thought process of SLDs to register or not with ODS and the challenges they experienced versus their anticipated challenges. By learning this, institutions can be more proactive in their approach to getting SLDs to register with ODS prior to the start of their first academic class.

A delimitation of my study was that participants had to have directly worked with SLDs in a K-12 setting as an administrator, teacher, special education professional or ARD committee member or at the Higher Education level as an administrator in the Office of Disability Services. Future research could be extended to include higher education faculty. Since these are the professionals instituting the approved accommodations in the classroom for SLDs, their perspective could provide greater understanding on the preparedness and successful transition of SLDs from secondary to post-secondary education.

Since this study was limited to school districts and higher education institutions within East Central Texas and Southeast Texas, future research could focus on other regions to examine their experiences and compare them to the experiences of the participants within this study. This would be useful to determine if the issues brought up as a result of this study are a regional problem, or if the perspectives described in this study are synonymous across the state of Texas or United States.

This study took place in the years 2020 & 2021. During this time, the world was experiencing a global pandemic due to COVID-19. The effects of this virus were widespread and affected people both personally and professionally. Future research could encompass the effects of the pandemic on the successful transition of SLDs from high school to college. Since many aspects of education had to be altered including moving from a face to face to a virtual setting and doing many tasks asynchronously, this would be useful to know if these changes brough about more success and therefore could be incorporated into future practice in both the K-12 and higher education settings.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to determine how K12 special education professionals as well as higher education administrators in the
Office of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the transitional success
of traditionally aged college SLD from secondary to higher education. The interviews
gave participants an avenue to begin the dialogue of building a common language and
shared vision around ways in which all parties can contribute to the successful planning
and college transition of students with learning disabilities. From this study three themes
emerged: (a) underprepared, (b) college expectations versus high school experiences, and
(c) self-advocacy.

The move from secondary to post-secondary education is a pivotal transition for SLDs and one that they are many times grossly underprepared for. Participants discussed many ways in which SLDs are underprepared to transition to college such as lacking academic skills, organizational skills, social skills and life skills necessary to live as an independent student with a learning disability. Also noted was the inability of SLDs to

understand their disability, how it impacts their learning and what supports they require to be successful in the academic setting. This study revealed the correlation between the makeup of the K-12 special education system and overabundance of parental support to the unpreparedness of students' ability to successfully transition to post-secondary education.

The research also revealed that SLDs lack knowledge of the expectations of higher education as a SLD. Participants noted SLDs have a false preconception that college expectations will be similar to their experiences in high school. Participants described how SLDs lack understanding that they are no longer afforded accommodations but must self-identify as a SLD and apply to receive accommodations based upon their disability. Because many SLDs do not recognize this vast difference, lots go without accommodations and end up unsuccessful at semester's end. K-12 and higher education institutions alike must do a more effective job at conveying the differences in the educational levels for SLDs.

Lastly, the research unfolded a deficit in the ability of SLDs to self-advocate. While in K-12 education, self-advocacy is not a skill that is required for SLDs as services and accommodations are mandated. However, upon transition to higher education, self-advocacy becomes one of most necessary skills to ensure accommodations are provided for, and to facilitate success for SLDs.

Overall, K-12 special education professionals and higher education ODS administrators are working hard to make the transition less stressful and more successful for students with learning disabilities. This research was designed to be a starting point for the conversation between those two groups to create a common vocabulary and a

shared vision around what success for SLDs constitutes. The findings from this research study helped produce recommendations for practice to continue to move towards more successful transition for SLDs from secondary to post-secondary education. Moreover, this study provides future research ideas that can be added to current research that addresses transitional success from secondary to post-secondary education for students with learning disabilities.

REFERENCES

- Abreu-Ellis, C., Ellis, J., & Hayes, R. (2009). College preparedness and time of learning disability identification. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 32(3), 28-38.
- Adams, K. S., & Proctor, B. E. (2010). Adaptation to college for students with and without disabilities: Group differences and predictors. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 22(3), 166-184. Retrieved from http://0search.proquest.com.bianca.penlib.du.edu/docview/822508726?ac ountid=14608
- Adler, P. A., & Adler, P. (1987). *Membership roles in field research*. Newberry Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Adreon, D., & Durocher, J. S. (2007). Evaluating the college transition needs of individuals with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders. *Intervention in School & Clinic*, 42(5), 271-279.
- Agoratus, L. (2019). It's iep season! A quick refresher for families preparing for the new school year. *Exceptional Parent*, 49(5), 46-47.
- Allen, D. A., & Hudd, S. S. (1987). Are we professionalizing parents? Weighing the benefits and pitfalls. *Mental Retardation*, 25(3), 133.
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research, *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 23(3), 121-127
- American Institutes for, R. (2018). *Fulfilling the promise of idea*. Retrieved from https://ezproxy.shsu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?d irect=true&db=eric&AN=ED592086&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Ankeny, E. M., Wilkins, J., & Spain, J. (2009). Mothers' experiences of transitioning planning for their children with disabilities. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 41(6), 28-36. Ascherman, L. I., & Shaftel, J. (2017). Facilitating transition from high school and special education to adult life: Focus on youth with learning disorders, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, and speech/language impairments. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 26(2), 311-327. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2016.12.009
- Banks, J. (2014). Barriers and supports to postsecondary transition: Case studies of african american students with disabilities. *Remedial & Special Education*, 35(1), 28-39. doi:10.1177/0741932513512209
- Barga, N. K. (1996). Students with learning disabilities in education: Managing a disability. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 29(4), 413-421.
- Barnard-Brak, L., Lechtenberger. D., & Williams, Y. L. (2010). Accommodation strategies of college students with disabilities. *The Qualitative Report*, 15(2), 411-429.
- Blackorby, J., & Wagner, M. (1996). Longitudinal postschool outcomes of youth with disabilities: Findings from the national longitudinal transition study, 399.
- Boyd-Bradwell, N. (2014). A study of the factors that influence persistence of students with disabilities at four-year colleges and/or universities (Doctoral dissertation).

 Available at ProQuest Dissertation and Thesis Global database. (UMI No. 1549976392)

- Boylan, H. R. (2002). What works: Research based best practices in developmental education. Boone, NC: Continuous Quality Improvement Network with the National Center for Developmental Education, Appalachian State University.
- Brickerhoff, L. C. (1996). Making the transition to higher education: Opportunities for student empowerment. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 29(2), 118-136.
- Burdge, M. C. (2012). Transition from secondary to postsecondary education for students with mild disabilities (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertation and Thesis Global database. (UMI No. 1038834743)
- Butler, A. L. (2011) Secondary transition experiences: Analyzing perceptions, academic self-efficacy, academic adjustment and GPA for college students with learning disabilities pursuing postsecondary education (Doctoral dissertation, University of Maryland, College Park). Retrieved from https://drum.lib.umd.edu/bitstream/handle/1903/11637/Butler_umd_0117E_1201 1.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Cabrera, A. F. & La Nasa, S. M. (2000) Understanding the college choice process. In A.
 F. Cabrera and S. M. La Nasa (Eds.) *Understanding the college choice of disadvantaged students* (pp. 5-22). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Cavendish, W., & Connor, D. (2018). Toward authentic ieps and transition plans:

 Student, parent, and teacher perspectives. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 41(1),

 32-43. doi:10.1177/0731948716684680
- Charmaz, K. (2006). *Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis.* (2nd ed.). London: Sage Publications.

- Coccarelli, J. L. (2010) Applying Schlossberg's transition theory to students with learning disabilities in the transition from high school to college. Retrieved from http://digitallibrary.usc.edu/cdm/ref/collection/p15799coll127/id/376707
- Cone, K. (1997, June 1). Short history of the 504-sit in. [Web log post]. Retrieved from https://dredf.org/504-sit-in-20th-anniversary/short-history-of-the-504-sit-in/
- Conley, D. T. (2007). What makes a student college ready? *Educational Leadership*, 66(2). Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/oct08/vol66/num02/What-Makes-a-Student-College-Ready%C2%A2.aspx
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25(6), 435-437.
- Connor, D. J. (2013). Sink or swim: Managing the academic transition to college for students with learning disabilities. *Journal of College Student Retention:*Research, Theory & Practice, 15(2), 269-292.
- Copfer-Terreberry, S. (2017). Understanding student and faculty perceptions of the accommodation and support procedures for students with LD in Ontario Universities: A mixed method approach (Doctoral dissertation). University of Western Ontario, Ontario, Canada.
- Cowin, J. (2018). Is that appropriate?: Clarifying the idea's free appropriate public education standard post-Endrew F. *Northwestern University Law Review*, 113(3), 587-628.

- Creating a successful learning environment for postsecondary students with learning disabilities: Policy and practice. (2003). *Journal of College Reading & Learning*, 33(2), 131-145.
- Creswell, J. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. (2013). Qualitative research inquiry and design: Choosing among five approaches. Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches. (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- DaDeppo, L. M. W. (2009). Integration factors related to the academic success and intent to persist of college students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities**Research & Practice, 24(3), 122–131. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5826.2009.00286.x
- Denhart, H. (2008). Deconstructing barriers: Perceptions of students labeled with learning disabilities in higher education. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 41(6), 483-497.
- Dorwick, P. W., Anderson, J., Heyer, K., & Acosta, A. (20505). Postsecondary education across the USA: Experiences of adults with disabilities. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 22, 41-47.
- Dowds, B. N., & Phelan, C. S. (2006). Perceptions of success: Individuals with learning disabilities identify factors that contributed to their academic accomplishments.

- Proceedings of the 14th World Congress on Learning Disabilities: A Multidisciplinary Approach to Learning Disabilities, (pp. 149-157).
- Dragoo, K. E., & Library of Congress. (2018). *The individuals with disabilities*education act (idea), part b: Key statutory and regulatory provisions. CRS report

 r41833, version 17. Updated. Retrieved

 from https://ezproxy.shsu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?

 direct=true&db=eric&AN=ED593618&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Dunn, P. A. (1995). *Learning re-abled: The learning disability controversy and composition studies*. Portsmouth, NH: Boynton/Cook Publishers.
- Dutta, A., Schiro-Geist, C., & Kundu, M. M. (2009). Coordination of postsecondary transition services for students with disabilities. *Journal of Rehabilitation*, 75(1), 10-17.
- Eckes, S. E., & Ochoa, T. A. (2005). Students with disabilities: Transitioning from high school to higher education. *American Secondary Education*, *33*(3), 6-20.

 Retrieved from https://www.ashland.edu/coe/about-college/american-secondaryeducation-journal
- Engle, D. (1991). Law, culture, and children with disabilities: Educational rights and the construction of difference. *Duke Law Journal*, *166*, 166–205.
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1-4. doi: 10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11

- Field, S., Sarver, M. D., & Shaw, S. F. (2003). Self-determination: A key to success in postsecondary education for students with learning disabilities. *Journal of Remedial and Special Education*, 24(6), 339-349.
- Fullerton, S., & Duquette, C. (2016). Experiences of students with learning disabilities in Ontario University: A case study. *International Journal of Special Education*, 31(1), 55-66.
- Gardner, J., Chapman, M., Donaldson, G., & Jacobson, S. (1998). *Toward supported*employment: A process guide for planned change. Baltimore, MD: Paul H.

 Brookes Publishing Company.
- Garrison-Wade, D. F., & Lehmann, J. P. (2009). A conceptual framework for understanding students with disabilities transition to community college.
 Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 33(5), 415-443. doi: 10.1080/10668920802640079
- Georgallis, C. H. (2015). Transition programming for student with learning disabilities from high school to college (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University) Retrieved https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2309&context=dissertations
- Getzel, E. E., & Thomas, C. A. (2008). Experiences of college students with disabilities and the importance of self-determination in higher education settings. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 31(2), 77-84.
- Gil, L. A. (2007). Bridging the transition gap from high school to college: Preparing students with disabilities for a successful postsecondary experience. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 40(2), 12-15.

- Giorgi, A. (2009). The descriptive phenomenological method in psychology: a modified Husserlian approach. Duquesne University Press.
- Given, L. M. (2008). Convenience sample. *The SAGE Encyclopedia of Qualitative Research Methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Goepel, J. (2009). Constructing the individual education plan: Confusion or collaboration? *Support for Learning*, 24(3), 126-132. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9604.2009.01412.x
- Goodrich, K. (2013). Do people with disabilities feel excluded? Comparison of learning and physical disabilities. *Jurnalul Practicilor Comunitare Pozitive*, 13(3), 74-87.
- Gordon, M., & Keiser, S. (Eds.). (1998). Accommodations in higher education under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA): A no-nonsense guide for clinicians, educators, administrators, and lawyers. GSI Publications; Guilford Press.
- Greenbaum, B., Graham, S., & Scales, W. (1995). Adults with learning disabilities:

 Educational and social experiences during college. *Exceptional Children*, 61, 460-471.
- Guest, G., MacQueen, K. M., & Namey, E. E. (2012). Introduction to applied thematic analysis. *Applied thematic analysis*, *3*, 20.
- Hadley, W. M. (2007). The necessity of academic accommodations for first-year college students with learning disabilities. *Journal of College Admission, Spring* (195), 9-13.
- Hadley, W. M. (2009). The transition and adjustment of first-year students with specific learning disabilities: A longitudinal study. *Journal of College Orientation and Transition*, 17(1), 31-44.

- Harris, R., & Robertson, J. (2010). Successful strategies for college-bound students with learning disabilities. *Preventing School Failure*, (45)3, 125-131. doi:10.1080/10459880109603327
- Harrison, S. (2003). Creating a successful learning environment for postsecondary students with learning disabilities: Policy and practice. *Journal of College Reading and Learning*, 33(2), 131-145.
- Hart, D., Zimbrich, K., & Parker, D. R. (2005). Dual enrollment as a postsecondary education option for student with intellectual disabilities. In E. E. Getzles & P. Weshman (Eds.), *Going to college* (p. 253-267). Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing.
- Hatch, J. A. (2002). *Doing qualitative research in education settings*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Hays, D. G., & Singh, A. A. (2012). *Qualitative inquiry in clinical and educational settings*. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Hoffman, N., Vargas, J., & Santos, J. (2008). Blending high school and college:

 Rethinking the transition. *New Directions in Higher Education*, 144, 15-25.
- Holzberg, D. G., Test, D. W., & Rusher, D. E. (2019). Self-advocacy instruction to teach high school seniors with mild disabilities to access accommodations in college.
 Remedial and Special Education, 40(3), 166–176.
 Doi:10.1177/0741932517752059
- Horn, L., & Berktold, J. (1999). Students with disabilities in postsecondary education: A profile of preparation, participation, and outcomes. *Education Statistics Quarterly*, 1(3), 59-64.

- Individuals with Disability Education Act (2004). Sec. 300.320 (b) Retrieved from https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/d/300.320/b
- Janiga, S. J., & Costenbader, V. (2002). The transition from high school to postsecondary education for students with learning disabilities: A survey of college service coordinators. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *35*(5), 463-470.
- Jessamy, T. A. (2012). Learning disabilities in the higher education setting. *Learning Disabilities*.
- Kauffman, J. M. (Ed.). (2005). *Characteristics of emotional and behavioral disorders of children and youth*. Upper Saddle Back, NJ: Pearson Ed.
- Kerka, S., & Eric Clearinghouse on Adult, (1998). Adults with learning disabilities. Eric digest no. 189.
- Keup, J. R. & Barefoot, B. O. (2005). Learning how to be a successful student:

 Exploring the impact of first-year seminars on student outcomes. *Journal of the First-Year Experience*, 17(1), 11-47.
- Kovach, K. & Wilgosh, L. R. (19,99). Learning and study strategies and performance anxiety in postsecondary students with learning disabilities: A preliminary study. Developmental Disabilities Bulletin, 27(1), 47-57.
- Landmark, L. J., & Zhang, D. (2013). Compliance and practices in transition planning:

 A review of individualized education program documents. *Remedial & Special Education*, 34(2), 113-125. doi:10.1177/0741932511431831
- Lauffer, K. A. (2000). Accommodating students with specific writing disabilities. *Journalism & Mass Communication Educator*, 54(4), 29-46.
- Lavrakas, P. J. (2008). Encyclopedia of survey research methods. Sage Publications.

- Legal Aid at Work. (2020) *Disabilities in higher education*. Retrieved from https://legalaidatwork.org/factsheet/disabilities-in-higher-education/
- Leiter, V., Krauss, M. W., Anderson, B., & Wells, N. (2004). The consequences of caring: Effects of mothering a child with special needs. *Journal of Family Issues*, 25(3), 379-403.
- Lightner, K. L., Kipps-Vaughan, D., Schulte, T., & Trice, A. D. (2012). Reasons university students with a learning disability wait to seek disability services.

 *Journal of Postsecondary Education & Disability, 25(2), 145-159
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Lipka, O., Sarid, M., Zorach, I. A., Bufman, A., Hagag, A. A., & Peretz, H. (2020).

 Adjustment to higher education: A comparison of students with and without disabilities. *Frontiers in Psychology*. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00923
- Lock, R. H., & Layton, C. A. (2001). Succeeding in postsecondary education through self-advocacy. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *34*, 66-71.
- Madaus, J. W. (2005). Navigating the college transition maze: A guide for students with learning disabilities. *Teaching Exceptional Children* 37(3), 32-37.
- Madaus, J. W. (2011). The history of disability services in higher education. *New Directions for Higher Education*, 154, 5–16. doi:10.1002/he
- Madaus, J. W., Banerjee, M., & Hamblet, E. C. (2010). Learning disability documentation decision making at the postsecondary level. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 33(2), 68–79. https://doi.org/10.1177/08857288103680z7

- Markie-Frost, K. (2017). Walking the Talk to Successful Transition. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 64(5), 561-565.
- Marshall, M. N. (1996). Sampling for qualitative research. *Family practice*, *13*(6), 522-526.
- Martella, R. C., Nelson, J. R., Morgan, R. L., & Marchand-Martella, N. E. (2013).

 *Understanding and interpreting educational research. New York, NY: The Guilford Press
- Martin, J. E., Portley, J. & Graham, J. W. (2010) Teaching students with disabilities self-determination skills to equalize access and increase opportunities for postsecondary educational success. In S. F. Shaw, J. W. Madaus & L.C. Dukes (Eds.), *Preparing students with disabilities for college success: A practical guide to transition planning.* Baltimore, MD: Brookes.
- Mayerson, A. (1992). *The History of the ADA: A Movement Perspective*. Retrieved from https://dredf.org/about-us/publications/the-history-of-the-ada/
- Mazzotti, V. L., Test, D. W., & Mustian, A. L. (2014). Secondary transition evidence-based practices and predictors: Implications for policymakers. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 25(1), 5-18. doi:10.1177/1044207312460888
- McGuire, J. M. (2010). Consideration for the transition to college. In S. F. Shaw, J. W. Madaus, & L. L. Dukes, *Preparing students with disabilities for college success*A practical guide for transition planning (pp. 7-35). Baltimore, MD: Brookes.
- McFarland, J., Hussar, B., Wang, X., Zhang, J., Wang, K., Rathbun, A., American
 Institutes for Rehabilitation. (2018). *The condition of education 2018. Nces 2018-144*. Retrieved

- from https://ezproxy.shsu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?
 direct=true&db=eric&AN=ED583502&site=eds-live&scope=site
- McLaughlin, M. J. (2012) Access for all: Six principles for principals to consider in implementing CCSS for students with disabilities. *Principal*. Retrieved from http://naesp.org/sites/default/files/McLaughlin_2012.pdf
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative case study research. *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*, 39-54.
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Milsom, A., & Dietz, L. (2009). Defining college readiness for students with learning disabilities: A Delphi study. *Professional School Counseling*, 12(4), 315-232.
- Milsom, A., & Hartley, M. T. (2005) Assisting students with learning disabilities transitioning to college: What school counselors should know. *Professional School Counseling*, 8(5), 436-441.
- Moore, M., & McNaught, J. (2014). Virginia's self-determination project: Assisting students with disabilities to become college and career ready. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 40, 247-254. doi: 10.3233/JVR-140690
- Morse, J. M. (1991). Approaches to qualitative-quantitative methodological triangulation.

 Nursing Research, 40, 120-123.
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Mull, C., Sitlington, P., & Alper, S. (2001). Postsecondary education for students with learning disabilities: A synthesis of the literature. *Exceptional Children*, 68(1), 97-118.
- Murray, C., Goldstein, D. E., Nourse, S., & Edgar, E. (2000). The postsecondary school attendance and completion rate of high school graduate with learning disabilities.

 Learning Disabilities Research & Practice, 15(3), 119-127.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2000). 1999–2000 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2009). Beginning Postsecondary Student Longitudinal Study (BPS). Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/surveys/bps/
- National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S.

 Department of Education. (2007). NCES 2007-064: The condition of education 2007. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2007/2007064.pdf
- National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S.

 Department of Education. (2019). NCES 2019-144: The condition of education 2019. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2019/2019144.pdf
- National Joint Committee on Learning Disabilities (1999). Learning disabilities: Issues in higher education. *Learning Disabilities Quarterly* 22(4), 263-266.
- Newman, L., & Madaus, J. (2015). Reported accommodations and supports provided to secondary and postsecondary students with disabilities: National perspective.

 *Career Development and Transition for Exceptional Individuals, 30, 173-181.

 doi: 10.1177/2165143413518235

- Norris, M., & Vasquez, L. (1998) Creating structured collaboration in implementing assistive technologies in a community college setting: Library access: A case study. Washington, DC: Office of Educational Research and Improvement. (ERIC Document Reproduction No. ED 423 637).
- Novakovic, A. & Ross, D. E. (2015). College student for a day: A transition program for high school students with disabilities. *Journal of Postsecondary Education & Disability*, 28(2), 229-234.
- Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services & New Editions Consulting,

 (2018). 40th annual report to congress on the implementation of the "Individuals with disabilities education act," 2018. Retrieved

 from zproxy.shsu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=tr

 ue&db=eric&AN=ED594658&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research 42*, 533–544. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Pascarella, E. T. (2005). Cognitive impacts of the first year of college. In R. S. Feldman (Ed.) *Improving the first year of college: Research and practice* (pp. 111-140). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

- Paul, S. (2000) Student with disabilities in higher education: A review of the literature.

 *College Student Journal, 34(2), 200-211.
- Petcu, S. D., Yell, M. L., Cholewicki, J. M., & Plotner, A. J. (2014). Issues of policy and law in transition services: Implications for special education leaders. *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, 27(2), 66-75.
- Peters, J. (2011). *Transition skills of first-year college students with learning disabilities*(Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Global database. (UMI No. 915692476)
- Plunge, M. M., & Kratochwill, T. R. (1995). Parental knowledge, involvement, and satisfaction with their child's special education services. *Special Services in the Schools*, 10(1), 113-138.
- Polit, D F., & Beck, C. T. (2014). Essentials of nursing research: Appraising evidence for nursing practice (8th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins
- Prince, A. M, Plotner, A. J., & Yell, M. L. (2014). Postsecondary transition and the courts: An update. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 25(1), 41-47. doi:10.1177/1044207314530469
- Quigney, T. A. (2017). Transition to post-secondary life for students with disabilities: Promoting student success. *Journal of School Counseling*, *15*(2), 1-24.
- Raskind, M. H., Goldberg, R. J., Higgins, E. L., & Herman, K. L. (2002). Teaching life successes to student with LD: Lessons learned from a 20-year study. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *37*(4), 201-208.
- Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Pub. L. No. 93-112, 87 Stat. 394 (1973).

- Rallis, S. F., & Rossman, G. B. (2012). *The research journey: Introduction to inquiry*. New York City, NY: Guilford Press.
- Rowe, J. (2004). High school exit exams meet IDEA An examination of the history, legal ramifications, and implications for local school administrators and teachers. Brigham Young University Education and Law Journal, 1, 75-137.
- Runyan, M. K. (1991). The effect of extra time on reading comprehension scores for university students with and without learning disabilities. *Journal of learning disabilities*, 24(2), 104-108.
- Saldaña, J. (2015). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Sargeant J. (2012). Qualitative research part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. *Journal of graduate medical education*, *4*(1), 1–3. doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-11-00307.1
- Scott, S. (1991). A change in legal status: An overlooked dimension in the transition to higher education. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 24(8), 459-465.
- Shaw, S. F. (2009). Transition to postsecondary education. *Focus on Exceptional Children*, 42(2), 1–16.
- Shaw, S. F., Madaus, J. W., & Banerjee, M. (2009). Enhance access to postsecondary education for students with disabilities. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 44(3), 185–190. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451208326047
- Sheppard-Jones, K. (2002). Investigating post-secondary staff knowledge of students with disabilities using a web-based survey. *Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling*, 33, 19-25.

- Showers, A. H., & Kinsman, J. W. (2017). Factors that contribute to college success for students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 40(2), 81-90.
- Silverstein, J., Springer, J., & Russo, N. (1992). Involving parents in the special education process. *Home-school collaboration: Enhancing children's academic and social competence*, 383-407.
- Skinner, M. E., (2004). College student with learning disability speak out: What it takes to be successful in postsecondary education. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 17(2), 91-104.
- Smith, M. C. (1998). *The college access, retention, and employment (CARE) program model.* Washington, DC: Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services. (ERIC Document Reproduction No. ED 418 751).
- Stodden, R. A., & Conway, M. A. (2002). Supporting youth with disabilities to access and succeed in postsecondary education: Essentials for educators in secondary schools. *Examining Current Challenges in Secondary Education and Transition*, 1(5).
- Taylor, M., Baskett, M., & Wren, C. (2010). Managing the transition to university for disabled students. *Education + Training* (2), 165. doi:10.1108/00400911011027743
- The relationship between teachers' inclusion-related knowledge, skills, and attitudes and student outcomes: A review of recent literature. (2019). *Exceptionality Education International*, 29(3), 18-41.
- Tierney, W. G., Corwin, Z. B., & Colyar, J. E. (2005). *Preparing for college: Nine elements of effective outreach*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

- Tinto, V. (1993). Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition.

 Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Tinto, V. (1998). College as communities: Taking research on student persistence seriously. *The Review of Higher Education*, 21(1), 167-177.
- Townsend, B. K. (1995). Community college transfer students: A case study of survival. *The Review of Higher Education, 18*(2), 175-193.
- Troiano, P. F., Liefeld, J. A., & Trachtenberg, J. V. (2010). Academic support and college success for postsecondary students with learning disabilities. *Journal of College Reading and Learning*, 40(2), 35-44.
- Turnbull, H. R., & Turnbull, A. P., with Stowe, M., & Wilcox, B. (2000). Free appropriate public education: Law and the education of children with disabilities (6th ed.) Denver, CO: Love Publications.
- United States Government Accountability Office (2009). Higher Education and disability: Education needs a coordinated approach to improve its assistance to schools in supporting students. (GAO-10-33). Retrieved from http://www.Gao.gov/new.items.d1033.pdfs
- University of Kansas. (2020). *Timeline of the individuals with disabilities education act* (*IDEA*). Retrieved from https://educationonline.ku.edu/community/idea-timeline
- U.S. Department of Education. (2007). *History: Twenty-five years of progress in educating children with disabilities through IDEA*. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/policy/speced/leg/idea/history.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2020). *Protecting students with disabilities*. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/504faq.html

- U.S. Department of Justice. (2009). *Americans with disabilities act*. Retrieved from http://www.ada.gov/pubs/ada/html
- U.S. Office of Special Education Programs. (2000). *History: Twenty-five years of*progress in educating children with disabilities through IDEA. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/speced/leg/idea/history.pdf
- Vogel, S. A., & Adelman, P. B. (1992). The success of college students with learning disabilities: Factors related to educational attainment. *Journal of learning disabilities*, 25(7), 430-441.
- Wagner, M., Newman, L., Cameto, R., Garza, N., & Levine, P. (2005). *After high school:*A first look at the postschool experiences of youth with disabilities. A report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study–2 (NLTS2). Available from the National Longitudinal Transition Study–2 Web site, http://www.nlts2.org/reports/2005 04/nlts2 report 2005 04 complete.pdf
- Wehmeyer. M. L. (1995). The arc's self-determination scale: Procedural guidelines.
- West, M., Kregel, J., Getzel, F., Zhu, M., Ipsen, S., & Martin, E. (1993). Beyond Section 504: Satisfaction and empowerment of students with disabilities in higher education. *Exceptional Children*, *59*(5), 456- 467.
- Wilcher, S. *The Rehabilitation Act of 1973: 45 years of activism and progress.* Insight into Diversity (September 17, 2018). Retrieved from https://www.insightintodiversity.com/the-rehabilitation-act-of-1973-45-years-of-activism-and-progress/
- Willis, M. (2017). Raising the bar: The quality of special education required under the idea. *South Carolina Lawyer* (Issue 3), 45.

- Wilson, K., Getzel, E., & Brown, T. (2000). Enhancing the post-secondary campus climate for students with disabilities. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 14, 37-50.
- Wittenburg, D. C., Fishman, M. E., Golden, T. P., & Allen, V. (2000). School-to-work transitions by youths with disabilities: Background and policy research issues. Ithaca, NY: Rehabilitation Research and Training Center on Economic Research on the Impact of Employment Policy for Persons with Disabilities, Cornell University.
- Wolanin, T., & Steel, P. (2004). *Higher education opportunities for students with disabilities*. Washington, DC: Institute for Higher Education Policy.
- Wolforth, J., & Harrison, A. (2008, June). Determining appropriate accommodations for students with LD and ADD: What every disability service provider should know. Paper presented at the Canadian Association of College and University Student Services, annual conference, St. John's, Newfoundland, Canada. Abstract retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0829573512437025
- Wray, M. (2012). Comparing disabled students' entry to higher education with their non-disabled peers barriers and enablers to success. *Widening Participation & Lifelong Learning*, 14(3), 87-101.
- Your complete guide to transition planning and services. (2018). Research & Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities, 43(4), 291-294.

 doi:10.1177/1540796918810670

- Zirkel, P. A. (2018a). An analysis of the judicial rulings for transition services under the idea. *Career Development and Transition for Exceptional Individuals*, 41(3), 136-145.
- Zirkel, P. A. (2018b). Response to intervention and child find: A legally problematic intersection? *Exceptional Children*, 84(4), 368-383.

doi:10.1177/0014402918776620

APPENDIX A

Sam Houston State University Consent for Participation in Research

KEY INFORMATION FOR K-12 professional's and higher education administrator's perspective of the successful transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to post-secondary education.

You are being asked to participate in a research study in partial fulfilment of the degree of Doctor of Education. This consent form will provide you with information on the research study, your level of involvement required, associated risks and benefits of the research. Your participation is voluntary. Please read this form carefully and ask any questions you have in order to fully understand the research and make an informed decision. You will receive a copy of this document for your records.

Purpose

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study will be to determine how K-12 special education professionals as well as higher education administrators in the Office of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the transitional success of traditionally aged college students with learning disabilities from secondary to higher education. The study will explore ways in which all parties can contribute to the successful planning and college transition of students with special needs.

Procedures

Participants will be asked to complete the following steps in order for the researcher to obtain the necessary data to comply with the approved research design:

- 1. Interview: Participate in a one-on-one interview conducted via the video-conferencing platform Zoom. The interview will be semi-structured and responsive in nature. All interviews will be audio recorded with the potential to last up to 60-minutes. The audio of the interview will be automatically transcribed utilizing the Zoom transcription feature and reviewed for accuracy by the interviewer.
- 2. Follow-up emails: If necessary, the researcher will contact the participant by email to clarify any themes or ask any questions that may arise. The information gleaned from these emails will be included in the interview transcription.
- 3. Verification of data: Participants will be provided with a transcript of their interview to review for accuracy.

Audio Recording & Transcription

- 1. The one-on-one interviews will be audio recorded using the online video-conferencing software, Zoom.
- 2. All interviews will be transcribed utilizing the Zoom transcription feature and reviewed for accuracy by the interviewer.

- 3. Participants will be provided the transcription of their interview to review for accuracy.
- 4. Audio recordings will be deleted upon completion of member checking.

 Transcripts will be saved in a password protected computer in password protected files owned by the researcher with no identifiable information of the participant included.

Benefits

The potential benefits of participating in this study may include understanding the perspectives of K-12 special education professional's and higher education administrator's perspectives on the successful transition of students with disabilities from high school to higher education in which the information may help to close to transition gap. Your participation may support K-12 professionals as they develop more effective transition plans to aid disabled students in transitioning to higher education. Participation may also support the open dialogue between K-12 and higher education institutions in the necessary components of a successful transition plan for students with disabilities.

Risks

There are no anticipated risks of participating in this research study.

Privacy and Confidentiality

Minimal identifying information will be collected as a part of this research study.

Any identifying information will be kept in a password protected file on a password protected computer owned and solely used the by researcher. Participants will not be identified in any publication or presentation of research results; only aggregate data will be used.

Your research information, in certain circumstances, may be disclosed to the Institutional Review Board (IRB), which oversees research at Sam Houston State University. Confidentiality may not be maintained if you indicate intent to do harm to yourself or others.

Voluntary Participation

Taking part in this research project is solely your decision. You may choose not to participate or you may choose to discontinue your participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. You will be informed of any new, relevant information that may affect your health, welfare, or willingness to continue participating in this study.

Contact Information

The person in charge of this study is Jennifer Graves, Doctoral Candidate of Sam Houston State University's Department of Educational Leadership who is working under the supervision of Dr. Peggy Holzweiss. If you have questions, suggestions, or concerns regarding this study or you want to withdraw from the study, the contact information is: stdjls19@shsu.edu or 936-661-9457; or pholzweiss@shsu.edu or 936-294-1144. If you

have any questions, suggestions or concerns about your rights as a volunteer in this research, contact the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs – Sharla Miles at 936-294-4875 or e-mail ORSP at sharla_miles@shsu.edu.

Sam Houston State University Consent for Participation in Research

DETAILED CONSENT

K-12 Professional's and Higher Education Administrator's Perspective of the Successful Transition of Students with Learning Disabilities from High School to Post-Secondary Education.

Why am I being asked?

You are being asked to be a participant in a research study about K-12 professional's and higher education administrator's perspective of the successful transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to post-secondary education conducted by Jennifer Graves, Doctoral Candidate in the College of Educational Leadership at Sam Houston State University. I am conducting this research under the direction of Dr. Peggy Holzweiss. You have been asked to participate in the research because you work with or have worked with students with disabilities in the K-12 or higher education setting and may be eligible to participate. We ask that you read this form and ask any questions you may have before agreeing to be in the research.

Your participation in this research is voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled, and the subject may discontinue participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled.

Why is this research being done?

The purpose of this research will be to determine how K-12 special education professionals as well as higher education administrators in the Office of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the transitional success of traditionally aged college students with learning disabilities from secondary to higher education. The study will explore ways in which all parties can contribute to the successful planning and college transition of students with special needs.

What procedures are involved?

If you agree to be in this research, we would ask you to do the following things:

- 1. Participate in an audio recorded interview using Zoom lasting no more than sixty minutes:
- 2. If necessary, via email communication, clarify any information obtained during the interview; and
- 3. Verify the data you will be provided a transcript of your interview to review for transcription accuracy requiring no more than 30 minutes of your time.

What are the potential risks and discomforts?

There are no anticipated risks of participating in this research study.

Are there benefits to taking part in the research?

The potential benefits of participating in this study may include understanding the perspectives of K-12 special education professional's and higher education administrator's perspectives on the successful transition of students with disabilities from high school to higher education in which the information may help to close to transition gap. Your participation may support K-12 professionals as they develop more effective transition plans to aid disabled students in transitioning to higher education. Participation may also support the open dialogue between K-12 and higher education institutions in the necessary components of a successful transition plan for students with disabilities.

What about privacy and confidentiality?

The only people who will know that you are a research participant are members of the research team. No information about you, or provided by you during the research will be disclosed to others without your written permission, except:

- if necessary to protect your rights or welfare (for example, if you are injured and need emergency care or when the SHSU Protection of Human Subjects monitors the research or consent process); or
- if required by law.

When the results of the research are published or discussed in conferences, no information will be included that would reveal your identity. If recordings of you will be used for educational purposes, your identity will be protected or disguised. Any information that is obtained in connection with this study and that can be identified with you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission or as required by law.

If you consent to participate in this research, you will be asked to participate in a one-on-one interview with the researcher. The one-on-one interview will be audio recorded using the online video-conferencing software, Zoom.

Any data obtained from you will only be used for the purpose of determining perspectives of K-12 professionals and higher education administrators regarding the successful transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to higher education. Under no circumstances will you or any other participants who participated in this research be identified. In addition, your data will remain confidential.

All interviews will be transcribed utilizing the Zoom transcription feature and reviewed for accuracy by the interviewer. Participants will be provided the transcription of their interview to review for accuracy. Audio recordings will be deleted upon completion of member checking. Transcripts will be saved on a password protected computer in

password protected files owned by the researcher with no identifiable information of the participant included.

What if I am injured as a result of my participation?

In the event of injury related to this research study, you should contact your physician or the University Health Center. However, you or your third party payer, if any, will be responsible for payment of this treatment. There is no compensation and/or payment for medical treatment from Sam Houston State University for any injury you have from participating in this research, except as may by required of the University by law. If you feel you have been injured, you may contact the researcher, Jennifer Graves at 936-661-9457.

What are the costs for participating in this research?

There is no cost to participate in this research study.

Will I be reimbursed for any of my expenses or paid for my participation in this research?

Participants will not be paid or compensated in any way for participating in this study, nor will any reimbursement be paid for participating in this study.

Can I withdraw or be removed from the study?

You can choose whether to be in this study or not. If you volunteer to be in this study, you may withdraw at any time without consequences of any kind. You may also refuse to answer any questions you don't want to answer and still remain in the study. The investigator may withdraw you from this research if circumstances arise which warrant doing so.

What are my rights as a research subject?

If you feel you have not been treated according to the descriptions in this form, or you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you may call the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs – Sharla Miles at 936-294-4875 or e-mail ORSP at sharla miles@shsu.edu.

You may choose not to participate or to stop your participation in this research at any time. Your decision whether or not to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled, and the subject may discontinue participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled.

Agreement to Participate

I have read, or someone has read to me, the above information. I have been given an opportunity to ask questions and my questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I agree to participate in this research.

Consent: I have read and understand the above information, and I willingly consent to participate in this study. I understand that if I should have any questions about my rights as a research subject, I can contact Jennifer Graves at 936-661-9457 or by email at stdjls19@shsu.edu. I have received a copy of this consent form.

Your name (printed):		
Signature:	Date:	

Sam Houston State University

Consent for Participation in Research

DETAILED CONSENT

K-12 Professional's and Higher Education Administrator's Perspective of the Successful Transition of Students with Learning Disabilities from High School to Post-Secondary Education.

Informed Consent

My name is Jennifer Graves and I am a Doctoral Candidate of the Educational Leadership Department at Sam Houston State University. I would like to take this opportunity to invite you to participate in a research study of K-12 professional's and higher education administrator's perspective of the successful transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to post-secondary education. I hope that data from this research will determine ways in which all parties can contribute to the successful planning and college transition of students with special learning needs. You have been asked to participate in the research because you work with or have worked with students with disabilities in the K-12 or higher education setting.

The research is relatively straightforward, and we do not expect the research to pose any risk to any of the volunteer participants. If you consent to participate in this research, you will be asked to participate in a one-on-one video interview with the researcher utilizing the video conferencing platform, Zoom. Any data obtained from you will only be used for the purpose of determining perspectives of K-12 professionals and higher education administrators regarding the successful transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to higher education. Under no circumstances will you or any other participants who participated in this research be identified. In addition, your data will remain confidential.

This research will require about one hour thirty minutes of your time. Participants will not be paid or otherwise compensated for their participation in this project. As part of this project, an audio recording will be made of you during your participation in this research project for transcription purposes only. In any use of the audio recording, your name will not be identified. You will be provided a transcription of the recording to review for accuracy. All recordings will be deleted at the completion of the member checking process. The transcription files will be kept on a password protected computer in password protected files owned by the researcher and will not contain any identifying information. You may request to stop the recording at any time or to erase any portion of your recording.

Your participation in this research is voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled, and the subject may discontinue participation at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which the subject is otherwise entitled. If you have any questions, please feel free to ask me using the contact information below. If you are interested, the results of this study will be available at the conclusion of the project.

If you have any questions about this research, please feel free to contact me, Jennifer Graves or Dr. Peggy Holzweiss. If you have questions or concerns about your rights as research participants, please contact Sharla Miles, Office of Research and Sponsored Programs, using her contact information below.

Jennifer Graves	Dr. Peggy Holzweiss	Sharla Miles					
SHSU Department of	SHSU Department of	Office of Research and					
Educational Leadership	Educational Leadership	Sponsored Programs					
Sam Houston State Univ.	Sam Houston State Univ.	Sam Houston State Univ.					
Huntsville, TX 77341	Huntsville, TX 77341	Huntsville, TX 77341					
Phone: (936) 661-9457	Phone: (936) 294-1144	Phone: (936) 294-4875					
E-mail: stdjls19@shsu.edu	E-mail: pholzweiss@shsu.edu	Email: irb@shsu.edu					
 I understand the above and consent to participate. I do not wish to participate in the current study. AUDIO RECORDING RELEASE CONSENT 							
As part of this project, an audio recording will be made of you during your participation in this research project for transcription purposes only. This is completely voluntary. In any use of the audio recording, your name will not be identified. After the interview, you will be provided a transcription of the recording to review for accuracy. All recordings will be deleted after your review of the transcript. The transcription file will be kept on a password protected computer, in password protected files owned by the researcher and will not contain any identifying information. You may request to stop the recording at any time or to erase any portion of your recording. I consent to participate in the audio/video recording activities. I do not wish to participate in the audio/video recording activities.							
Participant Signature		Date					

APPENDIX B

Participant Recruitment Email

Study Title: K-12 professional's and higher education administrator's perspective of the successful transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to post-secondary education.

Principal Researcher: Jennifer Leigh Graves, Doctoral Candidate

December XX, 202	20	
Dear		
As key personnel v	who work with students with disabilities in either a K-12 setting	ng or
within an institution	on of higher education, you qualify to serve as a participant in	the
research study I an	n conducting as part of my dissertation that will begin January	v 2021.

I am researching the perspectives of K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators within the Office of Disability Services to determine the perceived connection between high school transition planning and success in higher education, as well as ways to improve the success rate of transition for students with learning disabilities.

This study will include three to five public school districts and three to five public colleges and universities within a 60-mile radius of my research institution. I will be interviewing K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators within Offices of Disability Services.

As a participant, you will be asked to:

- 1. Participate in an audio recorded interview using the video conferencing platform Zoom, lasting no more than sixty minutes;
- 2. If necessary, via email communication, clarify any information obtained during the interview; and
- 3. Verify the data you will be provided a transcript of your interview to review for transcription accuracy requiring no more than thirty minutes

I would be honored for you to participate in this study which allows your voice to be heard. I am available to answer any questions, concerns, or comments you may have. Thank you in advance for your time and assistance. I look forward to hearing from you.

Kindest regards,

Jennifer Graves Doctoral Candidate Sam Houston State University (936) 661-9457

APPENDIX C

Interview Protocol

Study Title: K-12 professional's and higher education administrator's perspective of the successful transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to post-secondary education.

Principal Researcher: Jennifer Leigh Graves, Doctoral Candidate

Research Questions: (1) How do K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Offices of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the connection between secondary transition planning and higher education student success for students with learning disabilities? (2) What do K-12 special education professionals and higher education administrators in the Offices of Disability Services at colleges and universities feel would strengthen secondary transition planning to improve post-secondary student success for students with learning disabilities?

Purpose: The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study will be to determine how K-12 special education professionals as well as higher education administrators in the Office of Disability Services at colleges and universities perceive the transitional success of traditionally aged college students with learning disabilities from secondary to higher education.

Participant Inform	<u>mation</u>			
Name:				
Organization:				
Time:				
Date:				
Demographics		1		
Pseudonym:				
Organization Pse	eudonym:			
Institution Typo	logy:			
Number of years	in position:		_	
Highest level of education:				

Descriptive Traits of the Participant:

Reflexive Notes for Research Journal:

K-12 Special Education Professional Interview Questions

- 1. What is your current role and how long have you been in this position?
- 2. Tell me how you came to serve in this position.
- 3. What constitutes 'successful transition' from high school to college for students with learning disabilities?
- 4. Within your system, who is involved with the transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to college?
 - a. What is their role in this transition?
- 5. How does transition differ for students with learning disabilities versus student with a physical or emotional disability?
- 6. How are students with a learning disability prepped at the secondary level to make the transition from high school to college?
 - a. What interventions do you feel are the most successful?
 - b. What interventions do you feel are the least successful?
- 7. What roles/responsibilities do K-12 systems bare in the transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to college?
 - a. Higher education institutions?
 - b. Students with learning disabilities?
 - c. Families of students with learning disabilities?
- 8. What do you perceive to be the greatest challenge to successful transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to college?
 - a. What changes could be implemented at the secondary level to diminish these challenges?
 - b. What changes could be implemented at the higher education level to diminish these challenges?
- 9. How well are students with learning disabilities supports at the higher education level?
- 10. What do you perceive to be the greatest barrier(s) for students with learning disabilities in obtaining support at the higher education level?
- 11. In an ideal world, what would be the best way to prepare students with learning disabilities to make the transition from high school to post-secondary education?

Thank you for your time. I will be in contact with you via email when the transcript of the interview is ready for review. I appreciate your openness and willingness to participate and I look forward to sharing the results of this study with you.

Higher Education Administrators and Personnel from ODS Interview Questions

- 1. What is your current role and how long have you been in this position?
- 2. Tell me how you came to serve in this position.
- 3. What constitutes 'successful transition' to post-secondary education for students with learning disabilities?
- 4. Within your system, who is involved with the supporting the transition of students with learning disabilities to post-secondary education?
 - a. What is their role in this transition?
- 5. How does transition to post-secondary education differ for students with learning disabilities versus student with a physical or emotional disability?
- 6. How are students with learning disabilities supported at the higher education level as they make the transition from secondary to post-secondary education?
 - a. What supports do you perceive to be the most successful?
 - b. What supports do you perceive to be the least successful?
- 7. What roles/responsibilities do higher education institutions bare in the transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to college?
 - a. K-12 systems?
 - b. Students with learning disabilities?
 - c. Families of students with learning disabilities?
- 8. What do you perceive to be the greatest challenges of successful transition to post-secondary education for students with learning disabilities?
 - a. What changes could be implemented at the secondary level to diminish these challenges?
 - b. What changes could be implemented at the higher education level to diminish these challenges?
- 9. Have you encountered any students with learning disabilities who fail to register with the Office of Disability Services?
 - a. If so, how does success differ for those LD students who register versus those who do not?
- 10. What do you perceive to be the greatest barrier(s) at the secondary level in preparing students with learning disabilities for the transition to higher education?
- 11. In an ideal world, what would be the best way to prepare students with learning disabilities to make the transition from high school to post-secondary education?

Thank you for your time. I will be in contact with you via email when the transcript of the interview is ready for review. I appreciate your openness and willingness to participate and I look forward to sharing the results of this study with you.

VITA

Jennifer Leigh Graves

EDUCATION

Doctor of Education in Developmental Education Administration, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, TX, May 2021. Dissertation title: "K-12 professional's and higher education administrator's perspective of the successful transition of students with learning disabilities from high school to post-secondary education."

Master of Education (December 2007) in Curriculum and Instruction, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas.

Bachelor of Science (December 2004) in Biology, West Texas A&M University, Canyon, Texas.

ACADEMIC EMPLOYMENT

Leadership Development & School Improvement Lead, Department of Leadership, Learning & Accountability, Region 6 Education Service Center, April 2018 – present. Responsibilities include assisting superintendents and principals in building internal capacity to develop instructional leaders.

Principal, Windham School District, January 2015 – April 2018. Responsibilities included ensuring rigorous instruction to incarcerated males seeking GED completion and vocational certifications.

Assistant Principal for Curriculum & Instruction, Huntsville ISD, June 2011 – January 2015. Responsibilities included helping teachers disaggregate data and make decisions for instruction based upon the data.

Classroom Teacher – Huntsville ISD, August 2005 – June 2011. Responsibilities included providing rigorous instruction to students in the area of middle school science.

ACADEMIC AWARDS

Region 6 Educator of the Year, Region 6 Education Service Center, Huntsville, Texas, June 2011.

Secondary Teacher of the Year, Huntsville ISD, Huntsville, Texas, May 2011.

Educator of the Month, Huntsville ISD, Huntsville, Texas, November 2010